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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-34180

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 77-0513190
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 100
South San Francisco, California 94080
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(650) 266-6000
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which reqistered
Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value per Share The NASDAQ Global Select Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%edéturities Act of 1933, as
amended. YesX] No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. Yed No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. YesX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lhsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥alb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsio Rule 405 of RegulationSduring the preceding 12 months (or for such shrqrerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yes[Xl No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowtgdig definitive proxy or information statementsamporated by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KIX]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.:

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantstell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). YesO No
As of June 30, 2014, the last business day ofa@bistrant’s most recently completed second fisoakigr, the aggregate market value of



voting and non-voting common equity held by raffiliates of the registrant was approximately $,243,878 (based on a closing sale |
of $29.40 per share as reported for the NASDAQ &ll@elect Market on June 30, 2014). For purposési®talculation, shares of common
stock beneficially owned by the registrant’s offe@nd directors as of June 30, 2014 and shamsnoion stock held by persons who held
more than 10% of the outstanding common stock@fdgistrant as of June 30, 2014 (based solely Gpbredule 13G filings made with the
SEC) have been excluded from this calculation b&eauch persons may be deemed to be affiliates.dBtérmination of executive officer or
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusivieedrination for other purposes.

The number of shares of the registrant’'s commockst$0.001 par value per share, outstanding agbifuary 10, 2015 was 28,368,032.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The information called for by Part Il of this AnauReport on Form 10-K will be included in an ammeaht to this Form 10-K or
incorporated by reference from the registrant’sritdfe Proxy Statement relating to its 2015 Annliaeting of Stockholders.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statementsral Industry Data

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemehtst are based on our management’s beliefs andnasisuns and on information
currently available to our management. The forwlaaking statements are contained principally ingbetions entitled “Business,” “Risk
factors,” and “Management’s discussion and analysfsancial condition and results of operationsdrward-looking statements include
information concerning our possible or assumedréutasults of operations, business strategiesading plans, competitive position, industry
environment, potential growth opportunities, anel ¢ffects of competition. Forward-looking statersantlude statements that are not
historical facts and can be identified by termshsag “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks &stimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“plans,” “potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “shod|” “will,” “would,” or similar expressions and theegatives of those terms.

LT ” w ” o« ” o«

Forward-looking statements involve known and unkneisks, uncertainties, and other factors that weayse our actual results,
performance, or achievements to be materially @iffefrom any future results, performance, or adgigents expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss these iiskgeater detail in the section entitled “Riskttas” and elsewhere in this Form K0-Given
these uncertainties, you should not place undignes on these forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements represent our managesnegitefs and assumptions only as of the dathisfRorm 10K. Except as require
by law, we assume no obligation to update thesgdt-looking statements, or to update the reasosbresults could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statesyesven if new information becomes available mftiture. You should read this Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradtuture results may be materially different frevhat we expect.

“Fluidigm,” the Fluidigm logo, “Access Array,” “Bimark,” “C1,” “Callisto,” “CyTOF,” “Delta Gene,” “D\S Sciences,” “Dynamic
Array,” “Digital Array,” “EP1,” “FC1,” “Flex Six,” “Fluidigm Cytobank,” “Juno,” “Maxpar,” “MSL,” “OperApp,” “Polaris,” “Script Builder,”
“Singular,” and “SNP Typeére trademarks or registered trademarks of Fluidignmporation. Other service marks, trademarks eadktname
referred to in this Form 10-K are the propertyhdit respective owners.

Unless the context requires otherwise, referentésis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Fluidigm,’etiCompany,” “we,” “us,” and
“our” refer to Fluidigm Corporation and its subsides.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We create, manufacture, and market innovative w@olgies and life science tools focused on the emfilin and analysis of single cells,
as well as the industrial application of genomixsed upon our core microfluidics and mass cytgmetthnologies. We sell instruments and
consumables, including integrated fluidic circuds)FCs, assays, and reagents, to academic iitisy clinical laboratories, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agriculturatdégbnology, or Ag-Bio, companies.

Single-cell analysis is a rapidly-growing field tivee believe has the potential to revolutionizeibdgscovery in biology and lead to new
and better ways to diagnose and treat disease.idfegred a field that is now known as single-cell@mics and, through our acquisition of
DVS Sciences, Inc., or DVS, in February 2014, weagxied into the field of single-cell proteomics.r®ungle-cell biology platform empowers
our customers to analyze a large number of indalidells using simplified workflows with increassgeed and accuracy at reduced costs. Ot
products also enable customers to apply the kn@eled biology in industrial or other applied segrthat typically utilize low quantity and/or
quality samples in high-throughput repeat testipgliaations.

Researchers have successfully employed our protubislp achieve breakthroughs in a variety ofieincluding single-cell gene and
protein expression, gene regulation, genetic vanatellular function, and applied genetics. Thiessakthroughs include using our systems to
help detect life-threatening mutations in cancélscdiscover cancer associated biomarkers, andhggenetic composition of individual stem
cells, and assess the quality of agricultural petslisuch as seeds or livestock.

As of December 31, 2014, we had sold 1,325 systeragstomers in more than 35 countries worldwideer@00 systems sold have b
designated for single-cell biology research. Weehgrown our total revenue from $52.3 million in 2a® $116.5 million in 2014 (including
$20.7 million in revenue from the sale of CyTORy&tems and related consumables following our aé@nsof DVS in February 2014). For
additional information regarding the DVS acquisitiplease see Note 4 to our audited consolidatehdial statements.

Our Target Markets
The current markets for our products include lfesce research and production genomics.

Life Science Research

Single-Cell Biology Life science research typically involves the gsl of samples containing many thousands of oéltsany
different types. When such samples are studiedjusaditional methodologies, the results obtaireftect a rough average of the activity of all
of the cells in the sample, which masks criticffledences in cell types and between individualsceflthe same type. Additionally, in fields
such as in-vitro fertilization and stem cell resbathe number of cells available for analysisigeirently limited and the small amount of
genetic material in a single cell prevents conaral methods from analyzing the activity of morartta few genes.

Single-cell biology is a rapidly emerging areaifd kcience research that requires specialized tudl techniques to harvest and proces
individual cells with high sensitivity and reprodloitity. Single-cell biology researchers need todact a high number of tests on a large
number of individual cells, which in combinatioanslates into thousands of experiments that muatberate, fast, simple, and low cost. Our
systems enable researchers to perform gene exgmemsprotein expression analysis on single cella gcale that is otherwise impractical with
conventional systems due to the cost, experimeatébility, and the large amount of biological gdenrequired to initiate typical studies.

GenomicsOne primary area of focus within life science reskas genetic analysis, the study of genes and filvections. The
hereditary material or nucleic acid of an organisroften referred to as its genome, the protgineding regions of which are commonly knc
as genes. Analysis of variations in genomes, gamesgene activity in and between organisms cavigeosaluable insight into their health ¢
functioning. Single-cell genomics is the studylté sequence and expression of genes and theiatatiimnctions at the individual cell level.

There are several forms of genetic analysis intaday, including genotyping, gene expression amglpsid DNA sequencing.

« Genotyping involves the analysis of DNA variasoacross individual genomes. There are multipie$oof variants, including
single nucleotide polymorphism, or SNPs, insertiefetions, and copy number variation. A

1




common application of genotyping focuses on anaty8NPs to determine whether a SNP or group of SX¢associated with a
particular genetic trait, such as propensity fdisgase.

« Gene expression analysis involves measuringetheds of particular ribonucleic acid sequenceskmas messenger RNAs, or
mRNAs, which have been transcribed from genes.rbéténg these levels is important because mRNASé&en translated by the
cell into proteins, and may affect the activitytioé cell or the larger organism.

« DNA sequencing is a process by which researcheralade to determine the particular order of nualigobases that comprise all ¢
portion of a particular gene or genome, and typidatproves with target enrichment, such as compgkxple preparation and
tagging processes. Researchers are increasingly nekt-generation DNA sequencers to rapidly arsd-effectively sequence
portions of genomes, which is important for theniifecation of genetic variations that correlatelwparticular phenotypes.

Gene expression and genotyping are studied thrawgimbination of various technology platforms tttzdracterize gene function and
genetic variation. These platforms often rely otyp®rase chain reaction, or PCR, amplification@éoerate exponential copies of a DNA
sample to provide sufficient signal to facilitatetelction. Real-time quantitative PCR, or real-tgiCR, is a more advanced form of PCR that
makes it possible to quantify the number of copie®NA present in a sample.

Proteomics Another focus within life science research istgim analysis, the study of proteins and theircttes and functions.
Proteins perform a vast array of functions witliuinlg organisms, including catalyzing metabolicatans, replicating DNA, responding to
stimuli, and transporting molecules from one lamatio another. Protein analysis is required toilgraind understand cellular function.

There are several forms of high-throughput proggialysis in use today, including mass spectromgfgljtional flow cytometry, and
mass cytometry.

* Mass spectrometry is an analytical chemistriptégue that measures the mass-to-charge ratio iacules using external electric
and magnetic fields. Mass spectrometry technique$iraited to bulk samples and provide an undeditanof global protein
dynamics on a tissue or organism level, but doéslome enable researchers to analyze data agle siell level.

e Traditional flow cytometry utilizes a suspensimfrcells in a stream of fluid and passes themuthoan electronic detection
apparatus to allow simultaneous multi-parametelyaisaof the physical and chemical characteristiftgp to thousands of cells per
second. Although traditional flow cytometry techogikes are high-throughput with single-cell analy=sipabilities, a key limitation
is the use of fluorescent dyes to label antiboftiesletection. These fluorescent labels have eomsspectra that typically overlap,
making it challenging to optimize reagents to amalgpnany protein markers at once. In general, timebeu of protein targets for
conventional flow cytometry is less than about Ithwignificant reagent optimization often involved

* Mass cytometry is similar to traditional flowtoynetry but is based primarily on antibodies usiegvy metal isotope labels rather
than fluorescent labels for detection of proteergbling the significant expansion of the numbgrarbmeters analyzed per
individual cell versus conventional flow cytometechnologies. With high-throughput, single-cell lgsss capabilities, and the
ability to analyze more protein markers per indisticell, researchers have more granular informatighich allows them to
identify and characterize even finer subpopulatioihsells.

Production Genomics

Production genomics includes applied markets thizeibiology in an industrial or applied settiagd typically involves higlthroughpu
repeat testing applications. Key production gensmigstomers include Ag-Bio companies, clinical lalbaries, and biorepositories.

Agricultural Biotechnology Ag-Bio applies scientific techniques, including geaetnalysis techniques such as SNP genotyping arAl
seguencing, to study and improve desired charatitzin plants, animals, and microorganisms. Geetalysis techniques have become
increasingly useful in Ag-Bio applications, incladiwildlife population studies, agricultural quglitontrol, and commercial genetic
engineering and identification. Ag-Bio customerguiee systems that can quickly and accurately aeadylarge number of samples, such as
tissue from livestock populations or seeds fromaapction lot, in a high-throughput and cost-e#iti manner.




Clinical Laboratories. Recent advances in genetic analysis technologyjnareasingly being used for clinical researchiagpons.
Techniques such as SNP genotyping, DNA sequengere expression analysis, and other genetic ctorlstudies have been developed to
identify disease susceptibility and to diagnosassify, and monitor disease progression. Reseafating to molecular diagnostic tests based
on measuring these genetic markers have the paltémtie much more accurate and robust than coiovethtdiagnostics. Validating these
research findings and translating them into clijcavailable tests often requires life scienceoaution systems that are able to measure
multiple biomarkers efficiently in a large numbémpatient samples.

Biorepositories Advancements in biology have led to an increatszbndence on biorepositories to store geneticriabfer future
testing and analysis. Flaws in the identity andiguaf biorepository specimens are costly and lesuerroneous data. To ensure sample
integrity, biorepositories require cost-effectiganple, and high-throughput techniques to iderBifyA samples and ensure traceability
throughout the banking and downstream analyticatgsses.

Products

We market innovative technologies and life-scietomds, including analytical and preparatory systéongienomic and proteomic
analysis, and consumables, including IFCs, assenbreagents. Our primary product offerings arersarized in the table below:

Product Product Description Applications

Preparatory Instruments

C1 Single-Cell Auto Prep System Sample preparation system that rapidly and Single-Cell Targeted Gene
reliably isolates, processes, and profiles indial Expression, Single-Cell microRNA
cells for genomic analysis. Analysis, Single-Cell mMRNA

Sequencing, Single-Cell Targeted
DNA Sequencing, Single-Cell
Whole Exome Sequencing, and
Single-Cell Whole Genome DNA

Sequencing
Access Array System Sample preparation system that enables Targeted Resequencing with
automated PCR-based target enrichment, Next-Generation DNA

barcoding, and tagging of targeted resequencingequencing
libraries and facilitates parallel amplification of
up to 480 amplicons across 48 unique samples.

Analytical Instruments

Biomark HD System Real-time PCR analytical instrument for high- SNP Genotyping, Digital PCR, and
throughput gene expression analysis, single-cellzene Expression, including Single-
targeted gene expression analysis, microRNA Cell Targeted Gene Expression
analysis, SNP genotyping, and digital PCR.

EP1 System End-point PCR analytical instrument that SNP Genotyping and Digital
performs high-throughput SNP genotyping and PCR
end-point digital PCR.

CyTOF 2 System Mass cytometry instrument that performs high- Single-Cell Protein Analysis
parameter single-cell protein analysis by
analyzing cells labeled with a panel of reagents
conjugated to stable metal isotopes.




Product

Product Description Applications

Integrated Fluidic Circuits (IFCs)
C1lIFCs

Access Array IFC

Dynamic Array IFCs

Digital Array IFCs

Flex Six IFC

Assays and Reagents
Delta Gene and SNP Type Assays

Access Array Target-Specific Primers

Maxpar Reagents

IFCs that capture and prepare individual cells fogingle-Cell Targeted Gene
genomic analysis, and uses integrated thermal &gbression, Single-Cell microRNA
pneumatic controls at nanoliter scale to performAnalysis, Single-Cell MRNA
all the steps of the single-cell genomic workflowSequencing, Single-Cell Targeted
without intervention; designed to maximize cell DNA Sequencing, Single-Cell
capture efficiency based on cell size (5-25 Whole Exome DNA Sequencing,
micron); available in three sizes per application.and Single-Cell Whole Genome
DNA Sequencing

IFC that facilitates parallel amplification, Targeted Resequencing with Next-
barcoding, and tagging of 48 unique samples ar@eneration DNA Sequencing
designed to enable recovery of reaction products

from the IFC for sequencing.

IFCs based on matrix architecture, allowing useReal-time gPCR, End-Point PCR,
to (i) individually assay up to 48 samples againsENP Genotyping and Gene

up to 48 assays, (ii) individually assay up to 96 Expression, including Single-Cell
samples against up to 96 assays, or (iii) Targeted Gene Expression
individually assay up to 192 samples against t

24 assays.

IFCs based on partitioning architecture, allowindigital PCR, Copy Number
users to divide samples into up to 770 chamber¥ariation and

in each of up to 48 panels for up to 36,960 Mutation Detection
reactions per IFC.

IFC that incorporates six 12 X 12 partitions that Gene Expression and SNP
can be organized in any configuration, in up tc Genotyping
separate experimental runs.

Custom designed assays for specific nucleic aci@ene Expression, Single-Cell
regions of interest, providing optimized assays, Targeted Gene Expression, and ¢
content, and services to users of Biomark and Genotyping

systems at lower cost as compared to other

commercially available chemistries.

Custom designed amplicon-library preparation Targeted Resequencing with
assays for use with Access Array IFCs on the Next-Generation DNA
Access Array or Juno systems. Sequencing

Pre-conjugated metal-labeled antibodies for ~ Single-Cell Protein Analysis
functional and phenotypic profiling of single

cells,application specific panel kits, and reagents

for custom antibody labeling and nucleic acid

staining.




We have recently announced the following new prtgjughich we expect will be commercially availabighe near future (as indicated

below):

Product

Product Description Applications

Juno System and IFCs

Callisto System and IFC

Polaris System and IFC

High-Throughput C1 mRNA
Sequencing IFC

System that automates the preparation of samp@NP Genotyping and Targeted
for genomic analysis. The first application Resequencing with Nex&eneratior
includes preparation of challenging and low- DNA Sequencing
concentration DNA samples for SNP genotyping

utilizing the Juno genotyping IFC and and

incorporates preamplification and genotyping of

up to 96 samples and 96 assays on a single IFC.

The system also automates PCR-based target

enrichment, barcoding, and tagging of targeted

resequencing libraries utilizing Access Array

IFCs. The Access Array IFCs, when used with

the Juno system, facilitate parallel amplification

of up to 5000 amplicons across up to 48 unique

samples, or up to 2500 amplicons across up to

192 unique samples.

The Juno system and Juno IFC are expected to be
commercially available in the first quarter of

2015. Access Array IFCs for use with the Juno
system are expected to be commercially available
by end of 2015.

Integrated high-throughput system and IFC thatStem Cell Reprogramming and
enable automated cell culture and combinatoriaDifferentiation
dosing on a single device.

Expected to be commercially available in mid-
2015.

System and IFC that incorporate cell selection, Functional Genomics Using Single-
isolation, imaging, dosing, culture, and proces Cell mMRNA Sequencing

of single cells for downstream molecular biology

and analysis techniques preparation into a single

workflow.

Expected to be commercially available in mid-
2015.

IFC that enables sequencing transcriptomes of @ingle-Cell mMRNA Sequencing
to 800 single cells.

Expected to be commercially available in mid-
2015.




Our Technology
Multi-Layer Soft Lithography

Our IFCs are manufactured using multi-layer stfidigraphy technology, or MSL technology, to creatlyes, chambers, channels, and
other fluidic components on our IFCs that allow olgar quantities of fluids to be precisely mangald within the IFC. We have developed
commercial manufacturing processes to fabricateegalchannels, vias, and chambers with dimensiotigiten to 100 micron range, at high
density and with high yields.

Integrated Fluidic Circuits

Our IFCs incorporate several different types ohtesfogy that together enable us to use MSL tectyyoto rapidly design and deploy
new microfluidic applications. The first level ofiolFC technology is a library of components thatfprm basic microfluidic functions, such
pumps, mixers, single-cell capture chambers, sépareolumns, control logic, and reaction chamb@&re second level of our IFC technology
comprises the architectures we have designed toierpr ability to conduct thousands of reacti@msa single IFC. The third level of our IFC
technology involves the interaction of our IFCshwiite actual laboratory environment. Our IFCs aiiét bn specially designed input frames
that are compatible with most commonly used lalmoyasystems.

I nstrumentation and Software

We have developed instrumentation technology td k@mples and reagents onto our IFCs and to caritbmonitor reactions within
our IFCs. Our line of IFC controllers consists oframercial pneumatic components and both custontaminercial electronics. They apply
precise control of multiple pressures to move flandl control valve states in a microfluidic IFC.

Our Biomark HD system includes our custom thernyalar, the FC1 cycler, and a sophisticated fluczase imaging system. Our EP1
instrument is a fluorescence reader designed fipamt imaging, suitable for genotyping and dipR&ER applications. Our C1 system
combines the hardware elements of our IFC contolad FC1 cycler with sophisticated scripting pratocol control software to enable
automation of single-cell capture and preparat@mrstibsequent analysis. Certain capabilities ofthesystem have been used to create our
Juno system, which serves as a universal contratidrcycler for our Dynamic Array IFCs. Our Cabislystem integrates environmental
regulation for long-term cell culture with the Cdntrol system. Our Polaris system combines thehilifies of all these instruments by
incorporating thermal cycling, IFC control, envimantal regulation, and imaging.

Our mass cytometry instrumentation technology idefia custom-designed inductively-coupled plasmadurce, ion-optical and
vacuum systems, and instrument control electroiith our CyTOF 2 system, individual cells are atoed, ionized, and extracted. A time-of-
flight mass analyzer separates atomic ions of diffemass-to-charge ratios, providing informationt@emporal distribution of ions.

We have also developed specialized software to geaaad analyze the unusually large amounts ofgtatduced by our systems. Our
bioinformatic toolset, the Singular software, faaties the analysis and visualization of singld-gehe expression data. More recently, we
extended the scope of the toolset to include DN&lyasis tools. We also developed the C1 Script RBuikbftware to enable customers to take
full advantage of the flexibility of C1 IFC architieire by allowing them to program their own consotfipts for the C1 system. We offer
Fluidigm Cytobank, our cloud-based platform of gtiahl tools, for use with the CyTOF 2 systems.

Assays and Reagents

Our Delta Gene and SNP Type assay products carfsissay design and custom content delivery systengene expression and
genotyping, respectively. These offerings provilg-cost alternatives to chemistries such as Taqad allow customers to use IFCs in more
flexible ways. PCR assay reagents need to be sperihe gene targets of interest but the prooéslesigning a set of assays may delay the
implementation experiments or require the use peazive pre-designed assays. We have developextasgrto provide customers with
validated assays for their targets of interest.

We also manufacture metal-conjugated antibodieagerwith our CyTOF 2 system to allow detectiompto approximately 37 protein
targets simultaneously in a single cell. Our metaljugated antibodies are manufactured using nebilhting polymers, which are produced
using proprietary polymerization processes andeqesnt post-polymerization modifications.

Sales and Marketing

We distribute our systems through our direct sdese and support organizations located in Northefioa, Europe, and Asia-Pacific,
and through distributors or sales agents in se&radpean, Latin American, Middle Eastern, and AZ&ific countries. Our sales and
marketing efforts are targeted at laboratory doescand principal investigators at leading




companies and academic institutions who need telidb science automation solutions or enabling séngle-cell biology technologies for
research or commercial purposes.

Our sales process often involves numerous int@retnd demonstrations with multiple people witinorganization. Some potential
customers conduct idepth evaluations of the system, including runr@rpgeriments on our system and competing systenaldition, in mos
countries, sales to academic or governmental utigtits require participation in a tender processliving preparation of extensive
documentation and a lengthy review process. Asaltref these factors and the budget cycles ofcastomers, our sales cycle, the time from
initial contact with a customer to our receipt gfchase order, can often be 12 months or longer.

As of December 31, 2014, we had 154 people employsdles, technical support, and marketing, inolad1 sales representatives and
applications specialists located in the field. Wieind to significantly expand our sales, suppart, marketing efforts in the future.

Customers

We have sold our instruments to leading acadenstétuions, clinical laboratories, and pharmacaltibiotechnology and Ag-Bio
companies. No single customer represented morelibnof our total revenue for 2014, 2013, or 2012.

Manufacturing

Our microfluidic systems and instrumentation fomroercial sale, as well as for internal researchdmatlopment purposes, are
manufactured at our facility in Singapore. Our powhics analytical instruments for commercial satewell as for internal research and
development purposes, are manufactured at ouityaicilCanada. We also manufacture IFCs for reseant development, assays, and
reagents at our facilities in South San Franci€adifornia.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for cartadbmponents and materials used in our productg ckmponents in our products that
are supplied by sole or limited source suppliectuitle a specialized polymer and other specializatkrials from which our IFC cores are
fabricated, specialized custom camera lenses, fiffgrguides, and other components required ferrdader of our Biomark system, special
pneumatic and electronic components for our Clesysthe electron multiplier detector included ingddhe nickel sampler cone and certain
metal isotopes used with, our CyTOF 2 system, &anthinn raw materials for our Delta Gene and SNPeTagsays and Access Array Target-
Specific primers. The loss of a single or sole sewupplier would require significant time and €fto locate and qualify an alternative source
of supply, if at all, and could adversely impact business. For additional information, pleasetheesection entitled “Risk factors” in Part I,
Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Research and Development

We have assembled experienced research and dewwiomams at our South San Francisco, Californerkiam, Ontario, Canada, and
Singapore locations with the scientific, enginegrisoftware, bioinformatic, and process talent tiatelieve is required to grow our business

The largest component of our current research amdldpment effort is in the areas of new produnts ew applications. For example,
we have developed a first generation prototype ingamass cytometer to provide spatial resolutioprotein expression in samples at the
single-cell level, quantitative measurement usirgjahisotope tags, and analysis of more than 3@&in® We also invest significantly in
research and development efforts to expand outesizedl biology and production genomics applicasiofior example, we have developed our
Singular bioinformatics tools for analyzing anduatizing single-cell gene expression data; our @&rOApp Program, which enables
researchers to develop and share new single-gaitafions on the C1 system; and our single-celbdetexome, single-cell whole genome, anc
announced high-throughput single-cell mRNA sequaneiorkflows for use with our C1 system.

The second component of our research and develdpeffert is to continuously develop new manufaatgrprocesses and test methods
to drive down manufacturing cost, increase manufawj throughput, widen fabrication process capighidnd support new microfluidic
devices and designs.

Our research and development expenses were $4Bghn$20.0 million, and $16.6 million in 2014, 28, and 2012, respectively. As of
December 31, 2014, 113 of our employees were edgagesearch and development activities.
Competition

The life science research and applied marketsighdyncompetitive and expected to grow more comjwetiwith the increasing
knowledge gained from ongoing research and devetopritVe believe that the principal competitive éastin our target markets include cost
of capital equipment and supplies; reputation anmrgijomers; innovation in product




offerings; flexibility and ease of use; accuracy aeproducibility of results; and compatibility Wiexisting laboratory processes, tools, and
methods.

We compete with both established and developmagedife science companies that design, manufaauaemarket instruments for
gene expression analysis, genotyping, other nuakdat detection, protein expression analysis, alditianal applications. In addition, a num
of other companies and academic groups are inrdweps of developing novel technologies for lifieesce markets. Many of our competitors
enjoy several competitive advantages over us, ditusignificantly greater name recognition; greditgancial and human resources; broader
product lines and product packages; larger salee$cand eCommerce channels; larger and more gédogatly dispersed customer support
organization; substantial intellectual propertytfiios; larger and more established customer basdgelationships; greater resources
dedicated to marketing efforts; better established larger scale manufacturing capability; and tgre@sources and longer experience in
research and development. For additional informatitease see the section entitled “Risk factardPart I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

To successfully compete with existing products fartdre technologies, we need to demonstrate tonfiatecustomers that the cost
savings and performance of our technologies andygts, as well as our customer support capabiligiessuperior to those of our competitors
To differentiate our company from other, largeregptises, we need to introduce new and innovatffegings regularly and maintain a well-
staffed commercial team “in the field” to succedigfaommunicate the advantages of our productsceicome potential obstacles to
acceptance of our products. In addition, ongoiriaborations and partnerships with key opinion kxachre desirable to demonstrate both
innovation and applicability of our products.

Single-Cell Genomics Collaborations

In May 2012, in collaboration with the Broad Inst#, we announced the launch of the Single-Cellg@gcs initiative, or SCGi, a
research center dedicated to accelerating the alaweint of research methods and discoveries in méiamsngle-cell genomics. The SCGi
facilitates collaborative development by singlel-gelnomics researchers of novel single-cell, miaidfc approaches for gene expression
profiling, RNA/DNA sequencing, and epigenetic arsédy and to develop and disseminate new applicatmmkflows, reagents, bioinformatics
tools, and data sets to the greater scientific conity. The SCGi is located at the Broad Institut€€ambridge, Massachusetts, and features a
complete suite of our single-cell tools, protocalsd technologies, most notably the C1 and Biorrksystems.

In December 2012, in collaboration with the Gendnstitute of Singapore, or GIS, an institute unither umbrella of the Agency for
Science, Technology and Research, we announcesbthielishment of the Single-Celmics Center, or SCOC, the first research centésia
exclusively dedicated to accelerating the undedstenof how individual cells work, and how diagr®and treatment might be enhanced
through insight derived from single cells. The SC@Gvides integrated analytics for single-cell gaimapplications to the region’s singiell
genomics researchers. The SCOC is located in deditaboratory space at GIS facilities in BiopoS#gapore, and features the full
capabilities of our C1 and Biomark HD systems fagke-cell targeted gene expression analytics atidation.

In December 2014, we announced a collaboration thghVellcome Trust Sanger Institute - EuropearirBiomatics Institute Single-
Cell Genomics Centre, or SCGC, located on the Welke Trust Genome Campus. The SCGC will work withansite senior staff to ensure
that the SCGC has early access to the latest eguipmorkflows, and methods for single-cell gen@raad proteomics research. In addition t
technology advancements, the collaboration is erpgeio make single-cell research more accessilileetgreater research community by
developing and disseminating new workflows, bioinfatics tools, and data sets. The SCGC feature€band Biomark HD systems and has
access to our CyTOF technology.

Intellectual Property

Patents

We have developed a portfolio of issued patentspatent applications directed to commercial proslacid technologies in developme
As of December 31, 2014, we owned or licensed d48rpatents and we had approximately 260 penditenpapplications worldwide. Our
patents have expiration dates ranging from 2018)R89.

License Agreements
We have entered into licenses for technologies fvanous companies and academic institutions.

Microfluidic TechnologiesOur core microfluidics technology originated at talifornia Institute of Technology, or Caltech tire
laboratory of Professor Stephen Quake, who is foeoder of Fluidigm. We license microfluidics teciogy from Caltech, Harvard
University, and Caliper Life Sciences, Inc., whalbsequently became a PerkinElmer company, refeoras Caliper.




*  We exclusively license from Caltech relevanepafilings relating to developed technologies #rébled the production of
specialized valves and pumps capable of controflirig flow at nanoliter volumes. The license agnemt will terminate as to each
country and licensed product upon expiration ofléis¢-to-expire patent covering licensed produetsach country. The U.S. issued
patents we have licensed from Caltech expire bet28&7 and 2030.

« We have entered into a co-exclusive licenseeaageat with Harvard University for the license desant patent filings relating to
microfluidic technology. The license agreement w&hminate with the last-to-expire of the licengadents. The U.S. issued patents
we have licensed from Harvard University expireAssstn 2019 and 2027.

* In May 2011, we entered into a license agreemht Caliper Life Sciences, Inc., which subseqlyebecame a PerkinElmer
company, referred to as Caliper, to license CdBpexisting patent portfolio in certain fields. Theense agreement will terminate
with the last-to-expire of the licensed patentslaier amended, the license agreement provideseftain royalty payments until
mid-2018 for our existing products at the time wfemdment and their future equivalents.

Instrumentation and Digital PCROn June 30, 2011, we settled litigation and enterexda series of patent cross-license and sulndiee
agreements with Life Technologies Corporation (@t of Thermo Fisher Scientific) and its Applietb8/stems, LLC subsidiary, referred to
as Life. The agreements involve a cross-license@ming our imaging readers and other patent fliagd certain of Life's patent families
relating to methods and instruments for conduatingleic acid amplification, such as with PCR; a-fabnse that provides us access to certail
of Life’s digital PCR patents; and a sublicensd firavides Life access to certain of our non-ceahhology patents licensed from Caltech. In
July 2011, pursuant to the terms of the agreememtqaid Life $2.0 million in connection with ouxexcise of an option to preclude Life from
initiating litigation under its patents existing@sJune 30, 2011 against our customers for twosyaad against our company, with respect to
our current products and equivalent future proddotsfour years, subject to certain exceptionse litense agreement will terminate with the
last-to-expire of the licensed patents, which igested to be in 2028.

Mass CytometryWe pay royalties on the CyTOF 2 mass cytometercanihin associated reagents under a license agnéevrite
PerkinElmer Health Sciences, Inc., or PerkinElraarder the PerkinElmer license agreement, we redeiveexclusive, royalty bearing,
worldwide license to certain patents that are nemed by PerkinElmer in the field of ICP-based magemetry, including the analysis of
elemental tagged materials in connection therewitid, a non-exclusive license for reagents outsiddi¢ld of ICP-based mass cytometry. The
PerkinElmer license agreement does not grant usighty and we do not have any right, to bring ecément actions with respect to the pat
licensed from PerkinElmer. In addition, PerkinElmeay generally terminate the license agreemeniroured material breaches under the
agreement. Any such termination could prevent o fmanufacturing and selling our products unlesgavenegotiate new license terms or
develop or acquire alternative intellectual propeights that cover or enable similar functionaliyhile we do not believe that our acquisition
of Fluidigm Canada (formerly DVS Sciences Inc.) jebhoriginally licensed the intellectual property which the CyTOF system is based,
triggered any consent rights on behalf of Perkinglfor us to continue to rely on the license, thestion is not free from doubt, and
PerkinElmer could contend that the failure to abité consent constituted a breach or default utigelicense agreement or require the
negotiation of a new license. In particular, in M2314, we received a written notice of PerkinElrmguosition that the license agreement
between Fluidigm Canada and PerkinElmer requires, r@sult of the acquisition, that PerkinEImerssar to negotiate a commercially
reasonable license to Fluidigm. We have contaceglifEImer in an attempt to initiate negotiatiorgarding the license agreement and we al
evaluating strategies and appropriate actionsimglad our interests in the licensed intellectuaigerty.

Any loss, termination, or adverse modificationtud ticensed intellectual property rights describbdve or other licensed intellectual
property rights could have a material adverse effacour business, operating results, and finamciatlition. For additional information, plez
see the section entitled “Risk factors” in Pattdm 1A of this Form 10-K.

Other

In addition to pursuing patents and licenses ont&elgnologies, we have taken steps to protectrueliéctual property and proprietary
technology by entering into confidentiality agreenseand intellectual property assignment agreemeittisour employees, consultants,
corporate partners, and, when needed, our advisors.

Government Regulation

Our products are currently labeled and sold foeaesh purposes only, and we sell them to acadensiitutions, life sciences and clinical
laboratories that conduct research, and pharmaeg¢atnd biotechnology companies for non-diagnastit non-clinical purposes. Our products
are not intended for use in clinical practice ia thagnosis of disease or other conditions, angdhe labeled for research use only.
Accordingly, they are subject only to limited, sipecregulation with respect to labeling by the UF®od and Drug Administration, or FDA. In
particular, while FDA regulations require




that research use only products be labeled, “Fee&eh Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procesltior RUO products, the regulations do
not subject such products to the FDA's broader anel post-market controls for medical devices.

In November 2013, the FDA issued a final guidanmeudnent stating that merely including a labeliragesnent that the product is for
research purposes only will not necessarily rettidedevice exempt from the FD#\tlearance, approval, or other regulatory requergmif the
totality of circumstances surrounding the distribatof the product indicate that the manufacturesws its product is being used by customer:
for diagnostic uses or the manufacturer intendb sugse. These circumstances may include, amomeg thiimgs, written or verbal marketing
claims regarding a product’s performance in clihagplications and a manufacturer’s provision eht@cal support for such activities. In the
future, certain of our products or related appiaa could become subject to regulation as mediegices by the FDA. If we wish to label and
market our products for use in performing clinidalgnostics, thus subjecting them to regulatioth@yFDA under premarket and postmarket
control as medical devices, unless an exemptiofiesppve would be required to obtain either pria®&) clearance or prior pre-market
approval from the FDA before commercializing thedarct. The FDA classifies medical devices into ofthree classes. Devices deemed to
pose lower risk to the patient are placed in eitt&ss | or Il, which, unless an exemption applieguires the manufacturer to submit a pre-
market notification requesting FDA clearance fomeeercial distribution pursuant to Section 510(kjhef FFDCA. This process, known as 511
(k) clearance, requires that the manufacturer detnate that the device is substantially equivaterat previously cleared and legally marketed
510(k) device or a “pre-amendment” class Il devimewhich pre-market approval applications, or P84Aave not been required by the FDA.
This process typically takes from four to twelventits, although it can take longer. Most class licks/are exempted from this 510(k)
premarket submission requirement. Devices deemeleblf DA to pose the greatest risk, such as lifgesning, life-supporting, or implantable
devices, or those deemed not substantially equivébea legally marketed predicate device, arequlan class Ill. Class Il devices typically
require PMA approval. To obtain PMA approval, aplagant must demonstrate the reasonable safetgfiectiveness of the device based, in
part, on data obtained in clinical studies. PMAieais generally last between one and two yearspadth they can take longer. Both the 510(k)
and the PMA processes can be expensive and leagthynay not result in clearance or approval. Ifaneerequired to submit our products for
pre-market review by the FDA, we may be requireddtay marketing while we obtain premarket cleaeamcapproval from the FDA. There
would be no assurance that we could ever obtain siearance or approval.

In some cases, our customers or collaborators m@yur RUO products in their own laboratory-devetbfests, or LDTSs, or in other
FDA-regulated products for clinical diagnostic uske FDA has historically exercised enforcementrdigon in not enforcing the medical
device regulations against LDTs and LDT manufacturidowever, on October 3, 2014, the FDA issueddvadt guidance documents that set
forth the FDA'’s proposed risk-based framework fegulating LDTS, which are designed, manufacturad,wsed within a single laboratory.
The guidance documents, if and when finalized, imgact the sales of our products and how customsrur products, and may require us
to change our business model in order to maintainptiance with these laws.

We would become subject to additional FDA requiretaédf our products are determined to be medicaicgs or if we elect to seek 510
(k) clearance or prior pre-market approval. We wiawted to continue to invest significant time attteoresources to ensure ongoing
compliance with FDA quality system regulations atider post-market regulatory requirements. Fortamuil information, please see the
section entitled “Risk factors” in Part I, ltem DAthis Form 10-K.

International sales of medical devices are suliefrireign government regulations, which vary sabsally from country to country.
Outside of the EU, regulatory approval needs tedagght on a country-by-country basis in order tokeiamedical devices. Although there is a
trend towards harmonization of quality system staidsl, regulations in each country may vary subistintvhich can affect timelines of
introduction.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to many federal, state, local, aneidn environmental regulations. To comply witlpkgable regulations, we have and
will continue to incur significant expense and edte valuable internal resources to manage conggliagiated issues. In addition, such
regulations could restrict our ability to expandequip our facilities, or could require us to acquiostly equipment or to incur other significant
expenses to comply with the regulations. For exanthe Restriction on the Use of Certain Hazardhwsstances in Electrical and Electronic
Equipment Directive, or RoHS, and the Waste Eleatrdind Electronic Equipment Directive, or WEEEaeed in the European Union,
regulate the use of certain hazardous substancardrrequire the collection, reuse, and recydaifhgaste from, products we manufacture.
Certain of our products sold in these countries tregome subject to RoHS and WEEE requirementse ifaiv to comply with any present and
future regulations, we could be subject to futumed, penalties, and restrictions, such as theesisgpn of manufacturing of our products or a
prohibition on the sale of products we manufactkg.additional information, please see the seaiutitled “Risk factorsin Part I, ltem 1A ¢
this Form 10-K.




Additionally, our research and development and rfaoturing processes involve the controlled useaziindous materials, including
flammables, toxics, corrosives, and biologics. @search and manufacturing operations produce dhazsibiological and chemical waste
products. We seek to comply with applicable lavwgarding the handling and disposal of such materidie volume of such materials used or
generated at our facilities is small. However, warwot eliminate the risk of accidental contaminatio discharge and any resultant injury from
these materials. We do not currently maintain sgpagnvironmental liability coverage and any suatt@mination or discharge could result in
significant cost to us in penalties, damages, asgension of our operations.

Geographic Information

During the last three years, a majority of our rm@was generated within the United States anddeusad a majority of our long-lived
assets are located within the United States angbPore. Product revenue received from customessdeuthe United States totaled $56.8
million, or 49% of our total product revenue, in120 compared to $33.9 million, or 48% of our tgiedduct revenue, in 2013, and $24.2
million, or 47% of our total product revenue, in120 Please see Note 13 to our audited consolidetadcial statements for additional
information for geographic areas.

Seasonality

In 2010, 2011, and 2012, our product revenue wgtsehiin the fourth quarter of the year than inftte quarter of the next year reflecti
numerous factors, including, among others, seas@maltions in customer operations and customegéuand capital spending cycles.
Although this was not the case in the fourth quaste013 compared to the first quarter of 2014,expect the historical trend to resume in
2015.

Raw Materials

Certain raw materials used in our Delta Gene anB $)pe assays and Access Array target-specificqrarare available from a limited
number of sources. Additionally, certain metalsduseour Maxpar reagents are available from a solgce. Currently, we do not have supply
agreements with these suppliers. While we geneadémpt to keep our inventory at minimal levels, purchase incremental inventory as
circumstances warrant to protect our supply chain.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 474 employeeshafhwl 13 work in research and development, 75 wodeneral and administratiy
132 work in manufacturing, and 154 work in saleshhical support, and marketing. None of our emgsyare represented by a labor union o
are the subject of a collective bargaining agreémen

Corporate and Available Information

We were incorporated in California in May 1999 agddmetrix Corporation, changed our name to Fluidi@omporation in April 2001,
and reincorporated in Delaware in July 2007. Ourgpal executive offices are located at 7000 SkweeCourt, Suite 100, South San
Francisco, California 94080. Our telephone numb€650) 266-6000. Our website address is www.ftpidcom. We make available on our
website, free of charge, our Annual Report on FbfsK, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current R&pon Form &, and any amendmer
to those reports, as soon as reasonably practiaéiblewe electronically file such material withr,farnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. Our SEC reports can be accéissmabh the investor relations page of our wellsitated at
http://investors.fluidigm.com/sec.cfm. Additionglly copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is liechat the SEC’s Public Reference Room
at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infdian on the operation of the Public Reference Roambe obtained by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investincommunity on our investor
relations page of our website. Corporate governarfoemation, including our board committee chasterode of ethics, and corporate
governance principles, is also available on oue&tor relations page of our website located at/fitipestors.fluidigm.com/corporate-
governance.cfm.

In addition to SEC filings, press releases, putdicference calls, and webcasts, we use our welsie.fluidigm.com), corporate
Twitter account (@Fluidigm), Facebook page (httpsulv.facebook.com/Fluidigm), and LinkedIn page
(https://www.linkedin.com/company/fluidigm-corpoiat) as channels of distribution of information abour company, our products, our
planned financial and other announcements, ounddtece at upcoming investor and industry confergraxed other matters. It is possible that
the information we post on our website and throtingise social media accounts could be deemed matgoianation. We may use these
channels to comply with our disclosure obligationsler Regulation FD. Therefore, investors shoulditoo our website and our social media
accounts in addition to following our press relsa&EC filings, public conference calls, and wetscas




The contents of our website and the informatiorpast through social media are not a part of, anchat incorporated by reference into,
this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other remortiocument we file with the SEC. Any referenaestr websites are intended to be
inactive textual references only.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the names, ages{&ebruary 10, 2015) and positions of our exeeutifficers:

Name Age Position

Gajus V. Worthington 45 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director

Vikram Jog 58 Chief Financial Officer

Robert C. Jones 60 Executive Vice President, Research and Development

William M. Smith 63 Executive Vice President, Legal Affairs, General@gel, and Secretary
Fredric Walder 57 Chief Operating Officer

Mai Chan (Grace) Yow 56 Executive Vice President, Worldwide Manufacturimgidanaging Director of

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Gajus V. Worthingtois a co-founder of Fluidigm and has served as oesifent, Chief Executive Officer and a directaicsi our
inception in June 1999. From May 1994 to April 1988. Worthington held various staff and managenpmtitions at Actel Corporation, a
public semiconductor corporation that was sold forbsemi Corporation in 2010. Mr. Worthington rees a B.S. in Physics and an M.S. in
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University.

Vikram Joghas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincerr@ty 2008. From April 2005 to February 2008, Mrg $erved as Chief
Financial Officer for XDx, Inc., a molecular diagstics company. From March 2003 to April 2005, Mig dvas a Vice President of Applera
Corporation, a life science company that is now pairhermo Fisher Scientific, and Vice PresideinfEimance for its related businesses, Ce
Genomics and Celera Diagnostics. From April 200M#wch 2003, Mr. Jog was Vice President of FinaioceCelera Diagnostics and
Corporate Controller of Applera Corporation. Mrgteceived a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Dédtiversity and an M.B.A. from
Temple University. Mr. Jog is a member of the Aroani Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Robert C. Jonebas served as our Executive Vice President, Rdseat Development since August 2005. From Augu8t18 July
2005, Mr. Jones held various managerial and researd development positions at Applied Biosystearlaporatory equipment and supplies
manufacturer that was a division of Applera Corgiorg including: Senior Vice President Research RBadelopment from April 2001 to
August 2005; Vice President and General Managermmdtics Division from 1998 to 2001; and Vice Pdesit PCR Business Unit from 1994
to 1998. Mr. Jones received a BSEE in Electricalil®ering and an MSEE in Computer Engineering ftbenUniversity of Washington.

William M. Smithhas served as our Executive Vice President, Leffalr8 since February 2012, and as General Cowarskbur
Secretary since May 2000. From May 2000 to Febr@a@?, Mr. Smith served as our Vice President, L&dfairs and served as a director
from May 2000 to April 2008. Mr. Smith served asamsociate and then as a partner at the law firfowafsend and Townsend and Crew, |
from 1985 through April 2008. Mr. Smith received.®. and an M.P.A. from the University of South@ailifornia and a B.A. in Biology from
the University of California, San Diego.

Fredric Walderhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincesbdxer 2012. From May 2010 to December 2012, Mr.défaderved
as our Chief Business Officer. From August 1992pail 2010, he served in various senior executigsifions at Thermo Fisher Scientific, a
laboratory equipment and supplies manufacturehidticg as Senior Vice President, Customer Excedldnram November 2006 to April 2010,
and Division President, Thermo Electron Corporafiem January 2000 to November 2006. Mr. Waldedbal B.S. in Chemistry from the
University of Massachusetts.

Mai Chan (Grace) Yowas served as Executive Vice President, WorldwidaWacturing of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd., ourgapore
subsidiary, since February 2012, and as Managingckir of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. since Ma2€i96. Ms. Yow served as Vice
President, Worldwide Manufacturing, from March 2@6&anuary 2012. From June 2005 to March 2006 Ydg: served as General Manager
of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. From August 200May 2005, Ms. Yow served as Vice President EnginggAsia) for Kulicke and Soffa,
public semiconductor equipment manufacturer. Froardid 1991 to July 2004, Ms. Yow served as Direddsgsembly Operations, Plant
Facilities and EHS, for National Semiconductor @ipgre, a semiconductor fabrication subsidiary afdwal Semiconductor Corporation.

Ms. Yow received a B.E. in Electronic Engineeringnfi Curtin University, a Certificate in Managem&ttidies from the Singapore Institute of
Management, and a Diploma in Electrical Engineefingh Singapore Polytechnic.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment th@blves numerous uncertainties and risks. Theuafig risks and uncertainties may
have a material and adverse effect on our busirfasmcial condition, or results of operations. Yshould consider these risks and
uncertainties carefully, together with all of thiher information included or incorporated by reface in this Form 10-K. If any of the risks or
uncertainties we face were to occur, the tradiniggiof our securities could decline, and you maglall or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Fluidigm’s Business and Strategy

Market opportunities may not develop as quickly awe expect, limiting our ability to successfully s€bur products, or our product
development and strategic plans may change and oentry into certain markets may be delayed, if it ocurs at all.

The application of our technologies to single-batlogy (across genomics and proteomics) and ptimlugenomics applications are
emerging market opportunities. We believe thesedppities will take several years to develop otunaand we cannot be certain that these
market opportunities will develop as we expect. &ample, we launched our Polaris system in Fepr2@t5 (with shipment expected in mid-
2015), which applies our technology to, among othigs, improve single-cell analytic workflow fsingle-cell genomics by incorporating
cell selection, isolation, dose, culture, and molacpreparation into a single workflow. The futgmwth of the single-cell biology market and
the success of our products depend on many faegyend our control, including recognition and a¢aape by the scientific community, and
the growth, prevalence, and costs of competing oustlof genetic and protein analysis. If the maftiesingle-cell biology and production
genomics do not develop as we expect, our busmagde adversely affected. Additionally, our susdeghese markets may depend to a |
extent on our ability to successfully sell producsing our technologies. If we are not able to essfully market and sell our products, or to
achieve the revenue or margins we expect, our tipgraesults may be harmed and we may not recawepduct development and market
expenditures. In addition, our product developnzamt strategic plans may change, which could dalaynpede our entry into these markets.

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, whichmay lead to volatility in our
stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operationg havied in the past and may continue to vary Sigartly from quarter-to-quarter. For
example, in 2011 and 2012, we experienced highes sathe fourth quarter than in the first quadgthe next fiscal year. Although this was
not the case in the fourth quarter of 2013 comptodle first quarter of 2014, we expect the histdritrend to resume in 2015. In addition,
revenue from sales of our instruments relativeatessof our consumables may fluctuate or deviageifscantly from expectations. The
variability in our quarterly results of operatioms;luding revenue from sales of our instrumentatieé to our consumables, may lead to
volatility in our stock price as research analgstd investors respond to these quarterly fluctnatidhese fluctuations are due to numerous
factors that are difficult to forecast, includirflyictuations in demand for our products; changesustomer budget cycles and capital spending
seasonal variations in customer operations; tenegmanong some customers to defer purchase dexigidhe end of the quarter; the large
value of our systems; changes in our pricing atesgaolicies or the pricing and sales policies wf competitors; our ability to design,
manufacture, market, sell, and deliver producisuocustomers in a timely and cost-effective mangeality control or yield problems in our
manufacturing operations; our ability to timely aibtadequate quantities of the materials or compisngsed in our products, which in certain
cases are purchased through sole and single ssuppéiers; new product introductions and enhancési®nus and our competitors;
unanticipated increases in costs or expenses;amplex, variable and, at times, lengthy sales ¢ygitebal economic conditions; and
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratesdifidnally, we have certain customers who haveohisally placed large orders in multiple
quarters during a calendar year. A significant otidn in orders from one or more of these custornetsdd adversely affect our revenue and
operating results, and if these customers defeancel purchases or otherwise alter their purchgsatterns, our quarter-to-quarter financial
results and actual results of operations coulddraficantly impacted. Other unknown or unpredidéafactors also could harm our results.

The foregoing factors, as well as other factorsidmaterially and adversely affect our quarterigd annual results of operations. In
addition, a significant amount of our operating exges are relatively fixed due to our manufactyniagearch and development, and sales an
general administrative efforts. Any failure to astjspending quickly enough to compensate for amgxeshortfall could magnify the adverse
impact of such revenue shortfall on our resultspdrations. We expect that our sales will contitautuctuate on a quarterly basis and that oul
financial results for some periods may be belove¢hprojected by securities analysts, which cowdiicantly decrease the price of our
common stock.
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We have incurred losses since inception, and we magntinue to incur substantial losses for the foresable future.

We have a limited operating history and have inetigignificant losses in each fiscal year sinceimegption, including net losses of
$52.8 million, $16.5 million, and $19.0 million dog the years 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectivedyofiDecember 31, 2014, we had an
accumulated deficit of $310.2 million. These lossage resulted principally from costs incurred im cesearch and development programs,
from our manufacturing costs and selling, genenadl administrative expenses. We believe that ontiraged investment in research and
development, sales, and marketing is essentialtéoag-term competitive position and future groydhd we expect these expenses will
increase in future periods. We also expect thaselling, general, and administrative expensesaaititinue to increase due to the additional
operational costs associated with the growth ofbausiness. Until we are able to generate additimainue to support our level of operating
expenses, we will continue to incur operating aedlosses and negative cash flow from operatioesaBse of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with our commercializagiffarts and future product development, we areblento predict when we will become
profitable, and we may never become profitable rEfi@e do achieve profitability, we may not be@bb sustain or increase our profitability.

The carrying value of long-lived and intangible assts may become impaired and result in an impairmentharge.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $268llion of net intangible assets, net of amotiaza, and goodwill. In addition, if
in the future we acquire additional complementargibesses or technologies, a substantial portidheofalue of such assets may be recordec
as intangible assets or goodwill. The carrying amt®of intangible assets and goodwill are affegtbénever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouingfasset may not be recoverable. Such eventsaageb might include a significant decline
in market share, a significant decline in revenaesignificant increase in losses or decreasedfitprrapid changes in technology, failure to
achieve the benefits of capacity increases anidatin, significant litigation arising out of agguisition or other matters. Adverse events or
changes in circumstances may affect the estimatdidcounted future operating cash flows expectdzkbtderived from intangible assets and
goodwill. If at any time we determine that an impaént has occurred, we will be required to refteetimpaired value as a charge, resulting ir
a reduction in earnings in the quarter such impas identified and a corresponding reductionunnet asset value. The potential
recognition of impairment in the carrying valuearfy, could have a material and adverse effectuofiimancial condition and results of
operations.

If our research and product development efforts daot result in commercially viable products within anticipated timelines, if at all, our
business and results of operations will be adverseaffected.

Our business is dependent on the improvement oéxisting products, our development of new prodtetserve existing markets, and
our development of new products to create new nisuded applications that were previously not pcattivith existing systems. We intend to
devote significant personnel and financial resasitoeresearch and development activities designadyance the capabilities of our
technology. We have developed design rules fomtptementation of our technology that are frequerdlvised to reflect new insights we h:
gained about the technology. In addition, we haseayered that biological or chemical reactions stimes behave differently when
implemented on our systems rather than in a stdridbaoratory environment. Furthermore, many suelatiens take place within the confines
of single cells, which have also demonstrated ueetqu behavior when grown and manipulated withierafiuidic environments. As a result,
research and development efforts may be requiré@dnsfer certain reactions and cell handling tepes to our systems. In the past, product
development projects have been significantly delayben we encountered unanticipated difficultiesriplementing a process on our systems
We may have similar delays in the future, and wg @ obtain any benefits from our research andtlbgment activities. Any delay or failt
by us to develop new products or enhance existinguyzts would have a substantial adverse effecuniusiness and results of operations.

If one or more of our manufacturing facilities becane unavailable or inoperable, we will be unable taoontinue manufacturing our
instruments, IFCs, and/or assays and, as a resuliur business will be harmed until we are able to saire a new facility.

We manufacture all of our genomics analytical areppratory instruments and integrated fluidic disswor IFCs, for commercial sale at
our facility in Singapore, our proteomics analyticestruments for commercial sale at our facilityGanada, and our assays for commercial
at our facilities in South San Francisco and SuafgpCalifornia. No other manufacturing facilitize currently available to us, particularly
facilities of the size and scope required by omg8pore and Canada operations. Our facilities e@@guipment we use to manufacture our
instruments, IFCs, and assays would be costlyglace and could require substantial lead time paireor replace. Our facilities may be
harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or manendéhsters, which may render it difficult or impitse for us to manufacture our products
for some period
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of time. If any of our facilities become unavailathb us, we cannot provide assurances that wéevitible to secure a new manufacturing
facility on acceptable terms, if at all. The indtlgito manufacture our products, combined with limited inventory of manufactured supplies,
may result in the loss of customers or harm ouutagon, and we may be unable to reestablish ogiskiips with those customers in the future.
Although we possess insurance for damage to oyeptyand the disruption of our business, thisriasae may not be sufficient to cover all of
our potential losses and may not continue to bédabla to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If manufacturing capabilities are impaired, we
may not be able to manufacture and ship our predaa timely manner, which would adversely impaat business.

We may experience development or manufacturing prdems or delays that could limit the growth of our evenue or increase our losse

We may encounter unforeseen situations in the naatwfing and assembly of our products that woudltén delays or shortfalls in our
production. For example, our production processesaasembly methods may have to change to accontenaxia significant future expansion
of our manufacturing capacity, which may increasermanufacturing costs, delay production of ourdpicis, reduce our product margin, and
adversely impact our business.

Additionally, all of our IFCs for commercial saleeamanufactured at our facility in Singapore. Pt of the elastomeric block that is
at the core of our IFCs is a complex process reguadvanced clean rooms, sophisticated equipraedtstrict adherence to procedures. Any
contamination of the clean room, equipment malfiomtor failure to strictly follow procedures cagmificantly reduce our yield in one or
more batches. We have in the past experiencedtieaigan yields due to such factors. A drop in gielin increase our cost to manufacture our
IFCs or, in more severe cases, require us toalttanufacture of our IFCs until the problem i®hesd. Identifying and resolving the cause of
a drop in yield can require substantial time armbueces.

Furthermore, developing an IFC for a new applicatitay require developing a specific production pescfor that type of IFC. While all
of our IFCs are produced using the same basic gsese significant variations may be required taenadequate yield of any particular typ
IFC. Developing such a process can be very timswoimg, and any unexpected difficulty in doing aa delay the introduction of a product.

If our manufacturing activities are adversely imeal¢ or if we are otherwise unable to keep up wémand for our products by
successfully manufacturing, assembling, testingd,simpping our products in a timely manner, ouerawe could be impaired, market
acceptance for our products could be adverselgtaffieand our customers might instead purchasearpetitors’ products.

We are dependent on single and sole source suppbdor some of the components and materials used @ur products, and the loss of
any of these suppliers could harm our business.

We rely on single and sole source suppliers farmag@components and materials used in our prodAciditionally, several of our
instruments are assembled at the facilities ofraghitmanufacturers in Singapore. We do not havg term contracts with our suppliers of th
components and materials or our assembly serviadars. The loss of a single or sole source sappli any of the following components
and/or materials would require significant time afirt to locate and qualify an alternative sous€supply, if at all:

e The IFCs used in our microfluidic systems atwifzated using a specialized polymer, and otheciapeed materials, that are
available from a limited number of sources. Inplast, we have encountered quality issues that fealeced our manufacturing yield
or required the use of additional manufacturingcpeses.

e Specialized pneumatic and electronic componentedoiC1 system are available from a limited nurmidfesources

e The electron multiplier detector included in B¢TOF system and certain metal isotopes usedth&lCyTOF system are purchased
from sole source suppliers.

e The nickel sampler cone used with the CyTOFeysis purchased from single source suppliers aadagable from a limited
number of sources.

e The raw materials for our Delta Gene and SNPeTagsays and Access Array target-specific primerawaailable from a limited
number of sources.
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Our reliance on single source suppliers and asseseVice providers also subjects us to other iis&scould harm our business,
including the following:

* we may be subject to increased component or asgerobis
* we may not be able to obtain adequate supply @icgsrin a timely manner or on commercially reasbam#erms

» our suppliers or service providers may makererim manufacturing or assembly of componentsdhatd negatively affect the
efficacy of our products or cause delays in shipnoéour products; and

» our suppliers or service providers may encoucapacity constraints or financial hardships unegldo our demand for components
or services, which could inhibit their ability tolfill our orders and meet our requirements.

We have in the past experienced quality controlsamply problems with some of our suppliers, sucmanufacturing errors, and may
again experience problems in the future. We maybeatble to quickly establish additional or reptaeat suppliers, particularly for our single
source components, or assembly service providerg.imerruption or delay in the supply of comporseot materials or assembly of our
instruments, or our inability to obtain componemsterials, or assembly services from alternatecesuat acceptable prices in a timely
manner, could impair our ability to meet the demahdur customers and cause them to cancel ordeswitch to competitive products.

If our products fail to achieve and sustain sufficgnt market acceptance, our revenue will be adversehffected.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability telbgvand market products that are recognized acepéed as reliable, enabling and cost
effective. Most of our potential customers alreadg expensive research systems in their laboratarié may be reluctant to replace those
systems. Market acceptance of our systems will tigp@ many factors, including our ability to corénpotential customers that our systems
are an attractive alternative to existing technielsgCompared to some competing technologies,smlnblogy is relatively new, and most
potential customers have limited knowledge of,>xgregience with, our products. Prior to adopting systems, some potential customers may
need to devote time and effort to testing and wdilid) our systems. Any failure of our systems t@hteese customer benchmarks could resul
in customers choosing to retain their existingeyst or to purchase systems other than ours.

In addition, it is important that our systems becpe&ved as accurate and reliable by the sciersdifit medical research community as a
whole. Historically, a significant part of our salend marketing efforts has been directed at cemgrindustry leaders of the advantages of
systems and encouraging such leaders to publigresent the results of their evaluation of oureystlf we are unable to continue to induce
leading researchers to use our systems, or if ®sgarchers are unable to achieve and publishesept significant experimental results using
our systems, acceptance and adoption of our systéie slowed and our ability to increase ourgeue would be adversely affected.

Our future success is dependent upon our ability texpand our customer base and introduce new applitans.

Our customer base is primarily composed of académstitutions, clinical laboratories that use cechinology to develop tests, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agriculturatdgbnology, or Ag-Bio, companies that perform asa$/for research and commercial
purposes. Our success will depend, in part, uporabillity to increase our market share among tloeistomers, attract additional customers
outside of these markets, and market new applitcatio existing and new customers as we develop apiglications. Attracting new customers
and introducing new applications require substatitiee and expense. For example, it may be diffitmidentify, engage, and market to
customers who are unfamiliar with the current aggilons of our systems. Any failure to expand odtsteng customer base or launch new
applications would adversely affect our abilityinorease our revenue.

The life science research and applied markets aradhly competitive and subject to rapid technologickchange, and we may not be able
to successfully compete.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidly changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, changes in customer needs,
emerging competition, new product introductionsy atrong price competition. We compete with botialeisshed and development stage life
science research companies that design, manufaanatenarket instruments and consumables for ggmession analysis, single-cell targetec
gene expression or protein expression analysiglesimucleotide polymorphism genotyping, or SNP ¢gpiag, polymerase chain reaction, or
PCR, digital PCR, other nucleic acid detectionwfloytometry, cell imaging, and additional applicats using well established laboratory
techniques, as well as newer technologies sucleas éncoded arrays, microfluidics, nanotechnolbigh-throughput DNA sequencing,
microdroplets,
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and photolithographic arrays. Most of our currampetitors have significantly greater name recaégmjtgreater financial and human
resources, broader product lines and product paskdarger sales forces, larger existing instdi@ges, larger intellectual property portfolios,
and greater experience and scale in research amtbgenent, manufacturing, and marketing than weFdo.example, companies such as
Affymetrix, Inc., Agena Bioscience, Inc., Agileneghnologies, Inc., Becton, Dickinson and Comparig;®ad Laboratories, Inc., Danaher
Corporation, lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies Corption (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.§5C Limited, Luminex Corporation,
Millipore Corporation, NanoString Technologies, IneerkinElmer, Inc. (through its acquisition oflipar Life Sciences, Inc.), RainDance
Technologies, Inc., Roche Diagnostics Corporat8amy Corporation, Thermo Fisher Scientific Incd &daferGen Bio-systems, Inc. have
products that compete in certain segments of thlkeha which we sell our products.

Competitors may be able to respond more quicklyedfattively than we can to new or changing opputies, technologies, standards,
or customer requirements. In light of these advgegaeven if our technology is more effective ttr@nproduct or service offerings of our
competitors, current or potential customers migiceat competitive products and services in liepwthasing our technology. We anticipate
that we will face increased competition in the fetas existing companies and competitors develapanémproved products and as new
companies enter the market with new technologresebsed competition is likely to result in pricimgssures, which could reduce our profit
margins and increase our sales and marketing egpelmsaddition, mergers, consolidations, or ottietegic transactions between two or v
of our competitors, or between our competitor ané of our key customers, could change the competidindscape and weaken our
competitive position, adversely affecting our besis

Our business depends on research and developmentsgiling levels of academic, clinical, and governmeaitresearch institutions, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companies reduction in which could limit our ability to sell our products and adversely
affect our business.

We expect that our revenue in the foreseeabledutilt be derived primarily from sales of our systeand IFCs to academic institutions,
clinical laboratories that use our technology teedep tests, and pharmaceutical, biotechnology ,Ag@io companies worldwide. Our succ
will depend upon their demand for and use of oodpcts. Accordingly, the spending policies of thegstomers could have a significant effec
on the demand for our technology. These policieg beabased on a wide variety of factors, includingcerns regarding any future federal
government budget sequestrations, the availalmifitgsources to make purchases, the spendingt@®among various types of equipment,
policies regarding spending during recessionarioder and changes in the political climate. In #ddj academic, governmental, and other
research institutions that fund research and devedmt activities may be subject to stringent bualyetonstraints that could result in spending
reductions, reduced allocations, or budget cuthagki&ch could jeopardize the ability of these castos to purchase our products. Our
operating results may fluctuate substantially dueetiuctions and delays in research and developexpenditures by these customers. For
example, reductions in capital and operating exjperas by these customers may result in lower tharected sales of our systems and IFCs.
These reductions and delays may result from fathatsare not within our control, such as:

e changes in economic conditio

* natural disaster

» changes in government programs that provide funttingsearch institutions and compar

» changes in the regulatory environment affecliiegscience and Addio companies engaged in research and commerciaities;

» differences in budget cycles across various getigamnd industrie

* marketdriven pressures on companies to consolidate apesaand reduce cos

* mergers and acquisitions in the life science Aagdio industries; an

» other factors affecting research and developmestidipg

Any decrease in our customers’ budgets or expemdifwr in the size, scope, or frequency of capitaperating expenditures, could
materially and adversely affect our operationgrmaricial condition.
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We may not be able to develop new products or enhaa the capabilities of our existing systems to keggace with rapidly changing
technology and customer requirements, which coulddve a material adverse effect on our business, rauge, financial condition, and
operating results.

Our success depends on our ability to develop rreduets and applications for our technology in xgsand new markets, while
improving the performance and cost-effectivenessuofsystems. New technologies, techniques, orymtsccould emerge that might offer
better combinations of price and performance tharcarrent or future product lines and systemsstixg markets for our products, including
single-cell biology and production genomics, aslaslpotential markets for our products such ab-ttigoughput DNA sequencing and
molecular diagnostics applications, are charaadrtzy rapid technological change and innovatiois. dritical to our success for us to
anticipate changes in technology and customer reiapgints and to successfully introduce new, enhamceticompetitive technology to meet
our customers’ and prospective customers’ needstonely and cost-effective basis. Developing andlementing new technologies will
require us to incur substantial development castisvee may not have adequate resources available able to successfully introduce new
applications of, or enhancements to, our systengscélvinot guarantee that we will be able to mairttsihnological advantages over emerging
technologies in the future. While we typically pliamprovements to our systems, we may not be atdedoessfully implement these
improvements. If we fail to keep pace with emerdiechnologies, demand for our systems will not gemd may decline, and our business,
revenue, financial condition, and operating resuitsld suffer materially. In addition, if we introde enhanced systems but fail to manage
product transitions effectively, customers may gelaforgo purchases of our systems and our opgyaéisults may be adversely affected by
product obsolescence and excess inventory. Ewea ffuccessfully implement some or all of these q@nmprovements, we cannot guarante
that our current and potential customers will fold enhanced systems to be an attractive altemttiexisting technologies, including our
current products.

Our products could become subject to regulation amedical devices by the U.S. Food and Drug Adminisation, or FDA, or other
regulatory agencies in the future.

Our products are currently labeled, promoted aihdl teoacademic institutions, life sciences laboriasy and pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companies for researatppses only, and not as diagnostic tests or med®ates. As products labeled, promoted
and intended for research use only, or RUO, theynat subject to regulation as medical deviceshbyRDA. Products labeled and intended for
research use only are not currently subject tolatign as medical devices by comparable agenciethefr countries. However, the FDA could
disagree with our conclusion that our productsfareesearch use only or deem our current marketimypromotional efforts as being
inconsistent with research use only products. Hitah, if we change the labeling or promotion of groducts in the future to include
indications for human diagnostic applications odial uses, including treatment of diseases or ca¢dobnditions, or we have knowledge that
our customers are using our products for cliniéagjdostic or therapeutic purposes, our productslated applications could be subject to
additional regulation as in vitro diagnostic degicsuch as under the FDA'’s pre- and post-marketiatigns for medical devices. For example,
if we wish to label, promote or advertise our pretdufor use in performing clinical diagnostics, weuld first need to obtain FDA pre-market
clearance or approval (depending on any produpgsific intended use and any such modified labetiagns), unless otherwise exempt from
clearance or approval requirements. Obtaining FI2Arance or approval can be expensive and unceataghgenerally takes several month
years to obtain, and may require detailed and cehgmsive scientific and clinical data. Notwithstagdthe expense, these efforts may ne
result in FDA clearance or approval. Even if we evier obtain regulatory approval or clearance, iy mat be for the uses we believe are
important or commercially attractive.

Further, the FDA may expand its regulatory overs@tour products or the products of our custometsch could impose restrictions
our ability to market and sell our products. Foamyple, our customers may elect to use our reseselonly labeled products in their own
laboratory developed tests, or LDTSs, for cliniceghostic use. The FDA has historically exercisefbeement discretion in not enforcing the
medical device regulations against laboratoriesrof) LDTs. However, on October 3, 2014, the FDguied two draft guidance documents
set forth the FDA's proposed risgkased framework for regulating LDTs, which are desd, manufactured, and used within a single laboyrz
The draft guidance documents provide the anticgpdetails through which the FDA would propose tabkksh an LDT oversight framework,
including premarket review for higher-risk LDTs céuas those that have the same intended use asasppraved or cleared companion
diagnostics currently on the market. The guidaramithents, if and when finalized, may significanthpact the sales of our products and how
customers use our products, and may require usatoge our business model in order to maintain ciam@d with these laws.

Additionally, on November 25, 2013, the FDA isst&dal Guidance “Distribution of In Vitro DiagnostRroducts Labeled for Research
Use Only.” The guidance emphasizes that the FDAreifiew the totality of the circumstances wheadimes to evaluating whether equipment
and testing components are properly labeled as RU&final guidance states that
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merely including a labeling statement that the pobds for research purposes only will not necelsseender the device exempt from the
FDA's clearance, approval, and other regulatoryimanents if the circumstances surrounding theibigion of the product indicate that the
manufacturer knows its product is, or intends feproduct to be, offered for clinical diagnostsesa. These circumstances may include writter
or verbal marketing claims or links to articlesaedjng a product’s performance in clinical applicas and a manufacturer’s provision of
technical support for clinical applications. If tRBA imposes significant changes to the regulatibbDTs, or modifies its approach to our
products labeled and intended for research use irdguld reduce our revenue or increase our @stisadversely affect our business,
prospects, results of operations or financial ciomali In addition, if the FDA determined that oupngucts labeled for research use only were
intended, based on a review of the totality ofuinstances, for use in clinical investigation omgiasis, those products could be considered
misbranded or adulterated under the Federal Fondy,and Cosmetic Act and subject to recall or odrgorcement action.

We may be required to proactively achieve compkanith certain FDA regulations and to conform owmmufacturing operations to the
FDA's good manufacturing practice regulations fadical devices, known as the Quality System Reigulabr QSR, as part of our contracts
with customers or as part of our collaborationdwiitird parties. In addition, we may voluntarilyekgo conform our manufacturing operations
to QSR requirements. For clinical diagnostic prddiicat are regulated as medical devices, the Ridérees the QSR through pre-approved
inspections and periodic unannounced inspectiomegi$tered manufacturing facilities. If we are jsgbto QSR requirements, the failure to
comply with those requirements or take satisfactmtyective action in response to an adverse QSpettion could result in enforcement
actions, including a public warning letter or anitled letter, a delay in approving or clearing,aorefusal to approve or clear, our products, a
shutdown of manufacturing operations, a produdltecivil or criminal penalties or other sanctiomghich could in turn cause our sales and
business to suffer.

Compliance or the failure to comply with current and future regulations, such as environmental reguladbns enacted in the European
Union, could cause us significant expense and adsety impact our business.

We are subject to many federal, state, local, angign regulations relating to various aspectsufusiness operations. Governmental
entities at all levels are continuously enacting megulations, and it is difficult to identify alpplicable regulations and anticipate how such
regulations will be implemented and enforced. Weticwie to evaluate the necessary steps for congaiaith applicable regulations. To
comply with applicable regulations, we have and @ohtinue to incur significant expense and allecatluable internal resources to manage
compliance-related issues. In addition, such remgula could restrict our ability to expand or eqaip facilities, or could require us to acquire
costly equipment or to incur other significant exges to comply with the regulations. For examie,Restriction on the Use of Certain
Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electrogigdnent Directive, or RoHS, and the Waste Eleatrémd Electronic Equipment Directive,
or WEEE, enacted in the European Union, regulaeutie of certain hazardous substances in, andedtei collection, reuse, and recycling of
waste from, products we manufacture. Certain ofppaducts sold in these countries may become sttgjéRoHS and WEEE requirements.
These and similar regulations that have been oinatee process of being enacted in other countniag require us to redesign our products,
use different types of materials in certain compdsi,eor source alternative components to ensurgkance with applicable standards, and
may reduce the availability of parts and componas&d in our products by negatively impacting appiers’ ability to source parts and
components in a timely and cost-effective mannery such redesigns, required use of alternative madgeor limited availability of parts and
components used in our products may detrimentalpyeict the performance of our products, add greesting lead times for product
introductions, reduce our product margins, or lithé markets for our products, and if we fail tongdy with any present and future regulatic
we could be subject to future fines, penalties, rstrictions, such as the suspension of manufagtaf our products or a prohibition on the
sale of products we manufacture. Any of the foragaiould adversely affect our business, finanaaldition, or results of operations.

If we are unable to recruit and retain key executies, scientists, and technical support personnel, weay be unable to achieve our goals.
We may have difficulty attracting, motivating, and retaining executives and other key employees in lig of our recent acquisition.

Our performance is substantially dependent on énpnance of our senior management, particuladju&V. Worthington, our
president and chief executive officer. Additionally expand our research and product developmémtgfwe need key scientists skilled in
areas such as molecular and cellular biology, adsaglopment, and manufacturing. We also need yighined technical support personnel
with the necessary scientific background and ghilitunderstand our systems at a technical leveffextively support potential new customers
and the expanding needs of current customers. Ciititnpdor these people is intense. Because ottmplex and technical nature of our
systems and the dynamic market in which we compete failure to attract and retain a sufficient to@mof qualified employees could
materially harm our ability to develop and commalize our technology.
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The loss of the services of any member of our senamagement or our scientific or technical supptatf might significantly delay or
prevent the development of our products or achieveraf other business objectives by diverting managnt’s attention to transition matters
and identification of suitable replacements, if aayd could have a material adverse effect on osiness. In addition, our research and prc
development efforts could be delayed or curtaifede are unable to attract, train, and retain higikilled employees, particularly, senior
scientists and engineers. We do not maintain fieeth employment contracts or significant key mémilisurance with any of our employees.

Additionally, as a result of the acquisition, keyiigm Sciences employees became entitled toveaportion of the acquisition
consideration, the payment of which could providfisient financial incentive for certain officeesid employees to no longer pursue
employment with the combined business. In particul@ have identified several key Fluidigm Scienes®loyees, including key scientific ¢
technical employees, who have been important talévelopment of Fluidigm Sciences’ products antitetogies, and we have implemented
employment compensation arrangements in connegfithrthe acquisition to ensure these individuatshtinued employment with us. We
cannot provide assurances that these arrangemiirgsifficiently incentivize these key employeesrémain with us. If these key employees
depart, we may incur significant costs in identifyj hiring, and retaining replacements for depgrémployees, which could substantially
reduce or delay our ability to realize the antitgigabenefits of the acquisition.

If we are unable to integrate future acquisitions sccessfully, our operating results and prospects atd be harmed.

In addition to our recent acquisition, we may maditional acquisitions to improve our product afigs or expand into new markets.
Our future acquisition strategy will depend on ahility to identify, negotiate, complete, and im&ig acquisitions and, if necessary, to obtain
satisfactory debt or equity financing to fund thaseguisitions. Mergers and acquisitions are inhtéreisky, and any transaction we complete
may not be successful. Our acquisition of DVS wasfiost acquisition of another company. Any mergeacquisition we may pursue would
involve numerous risks, including but not limitexdthe following:

« difficulties in integrating and managing the opirnas$, technologies, and products of the compan&aasquire

« diversion of our managemesitattention from normal daily operation of our Imesis

» our inability to maintain the key business relasioips and the reputations of the businesses wereay

* our inability to retain key personnel of the acgdicompany

* uncertainty of entry into markets in which wevbdimited or no prior experience and in which catifors have stronger market
positions;

» our dependence on unfamiliar affiliates and custsréthe companies we acqu

» insufficient revenue to offset our increased expsrassociated with acquisitio

» our responsibility for the liabilities of the busises we acquire, including those which we mayntitipate; an
e our inability to maintain internal standards, coigr procedures, and polici

We may be unable to secure the equity or debt Agndecessary to finance future acquisitions ongelrat are acceptable to us. If we
finance acquisitions by issuing equity or convéetitbebt securities, our existing stockholders likily experience dilution, and if we finance
future acquisitions with debt funding, we will incimterest expense and may have to comply witmfifed covenants and secure that debt
obligation with our assets.

Adverse conditions in the global economy and disrufn of financial markets may significantly harm ou revenue, profitability, and
results of operations.

The global credit and financial markets have irergégears experienced volatility and disruptionsjuding diminished liquidity and
credit availability, increased concerns about iidlaand deflation, and the downgrade of U.S. @it exposure risks on other sovereign debt
decreased consumer confidence, lower economic brawtatile energy costs, increased unemploymeasrand uncertainty about economic
stability. Volatility and disruption of financial ankets could limit our customers’ ability to obtaidequate financing or credit to purchase and
pay for our products in a timely manner or to maimbperations, which could result in a decreasalas volume that could harm our result
operations. General concerns about
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the fundamental soundness of domestic and intermateconomies may also cause our customers teedtair purchases. Changes in
governmental banking, monetary, and fiscal politéeaddress liquidity and increase credit availgbihay not be effective. Significant
government investment and allocation of resourgessist the economic recovery of sectors whichatdnclude our customers may reduce
the resources available for government grants elatied funding for life science, Ag-Bio, and cliaicesearch and development. Continuation
or further deterioration of these financial and maconomic conditions could significantly harm eates, profitability, and results of
operations.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenue ternationally and are subject to various risks relding to such international activities,
which could adversely affect our sales and operatinperformance. In addition, any disruption or delayin the shipping or off-loading of
our products, whether domestically or internationaly, may have an adverse effect on our financial calition and results of operations.

During the years 2014, 2013, and 2012, approxima@¥, 48%, and 47%, respectively, of our prodagenue was generated from
sales to customers located outside of the UnitateStWe believe that a significant percentageauofuture revenue will come from
international sources as we expand our interndtmperations and develop opportunities in othemtoes. Engaging in international business
inherently involves a number of difficulties andks, including:

e required compliance with existing and changioigifgn regulatory requirements and laws, suche®tHS and WEEE directives,
which regulate the use of certain hazardous subss$ain, and require the collection, reuse, andalagy of waste from, products we
manufacture;

e required compliance with anti-bribery laws, sachthe U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Biibery Act, data privacy
requirements, labor laws, and anti-competition latipns;

e export or import restriction

« laws and business practices favoring local coms:

« longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcamgyeements and collecting receivables througlaiceioreign legal systen
e unstable economic, political, and regulatory cdndg

* potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs ocnstcharges, bureaucratic requirements, and ot barrier:

- difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operations; ai

- difficulties protecting or procuring intellectualgperty rights

If one or more of these risks occurs, it could regjus to dedicate significant resources to remadd,if we are unsuccessful in finding a
solution, our financial results will suffer.

In addition, a majority of our product sales arerently denominated in U.S. dollars and fluctuasiam the value of the U.S. dollar
relative to foreign currencies could decrease dehfianour products and adversely impact our finahgerformance. For example, if the value
of the U.S. dollar increases relative to foreigmencies, our products could become more costtigeganternational consumer and therefore
competitive in international markets, or if thewalof the U.S. dollar decreases relative to thg&iore dollar or the Canadian dollar, it would
become more costly in U.S. dollars for us to maciufie our products in Singapore and/or in Canadditionally, our expenses are generally
denominated in the currencies of the countrieshickvour operations are located, which is primarilyhe United States, with a portion of
expenses incurred in Singapore and Canada whégaificant portion of our manufacturing operaticare located. Our results of operations
and cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctunstidue to changes in foreign currency exchangs.r@ihe volatility of exchange rates depend:
on many factors that we cannot forecast with rédigzcuracy. We have experienced and will contiouexperience fluctuations in our net
income or loss as a result of transaction gainlesses related to revaluing certain current asseétarrent liability balances that are
denominated in currencies other than the functionalency of the entities in which they are recdrdeor the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, we experienced foreign currency loss&4 df million and $0.5 million, respectively. Fluations in currency exchange rates could
have an adverse impact on our financial resulteérfuture.
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We rely on shipping providers to deliver product®tir customers globally. Labor, tariff, or Worldafle Organization-related disputes,
piracy, physical damage to shipping facilities quipment caused by severe weather or terroristiémts, congestion at shipping facilities,
inadequate equipment to load, dock, and offloadppoducts, energy-related tie-ups, or other faatordd disrupt or delay shipping or off-
loading of our products domestically and internadildy. Such disruptions or delays may have an aveffect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

We are subject to risks related to taxation in muliple jurisdictions.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and certain foreign jurisdictions. Significardgments based on interpretations
of existing tax laws or regulations are requiredétermining the provision for income taxes. Faraple, we have made certain interpretation
of existing tax laws or regulations based uponaherations of our business internationally and enehlimplemented intercompany agreement
based upon these interpretations and related énapsting analyses. If the U.S. Internal Revenaesie or other taxing authorities disagree
with the positions, our effective income tax rabeild be adversely affected and we could have awtdititax liability, including interest and
penalties. Our effective income tax rate could dls@dversely affected by changes in the mix afiags in tax jurisdictions with different
statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation térded tax assets and liabilities, changes in igdax laws or tax rates, changes in the level o
non-deductible expenses (including share-based ensation), changes in our future levels of reseanchdevelopment spending, mergers an
acquisitions, or the result of examinations by @asitax authorities. Payment of additional amoupta final adjudication of any disputes
could have a material impact on our results of afi@ns and financial position.

If we are unable to manage our anticipated growth ffectively, our business could be harmed.

The rapid growth of our business has placed afsignt strain on our managerial, operational, andrfcial resources and systems. To
execute our anticipated growth successfully, wetroostinue to attract and retain qualified persdamel manage and train them effectively.
We must also upgrade our internal business prosesmkcapabilities to create the scalability thgtaaving business demands.

We believe our facilities located in Singapore, &#a and California, are sufficient to meet oursterm manufacturing needs. The
current lease for our manufacturing facility in pore expires in June 2022. In the event thateeel o add to our existing manufacturing
space in Singapore or move our manufacturing fadii a new location in Singapore, such a move wilblve significant expense and efforts
in connection with the establishment of new cle@ams and the recommissioning of key manufacturingmment, and we cannot assure you
that such a move would not delay or otherwise ablgraffect our manufacturing activities. We canpiaivide assurances that we will be able
to secure a lease on a different manufacturinditiaoin acceptable terms and on a timely basiat #ll, to meet our future manufacturing ne

Further, our anticipated growth will place additbstrain on our suppliers and manufacturing faesi resulting in an increased need for
us to carefully monitor quality assurance. Anydedl by us to manage our growth effectively couldenan adverse effect on our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goals

Our products could have unknown defects or errorsywhich may give rise to claims against us, adverseaffect market adoption of our
systems, and adversely affect our business, finaatcondition, and results of operations.

Our systems utilize novel and complex technology such systems may develop or contain undetectedtdeor errors. We cannot
assure you that material performance problemsgctiefer errors will not arise, and as we increasedensity and integration of our systems,
these risks may increase. We generally provideamtigs that our systems will meet performance agpieas and will be free from defects.
We also provide warranties relating to other paftsur systems. The costs incurred in correctingdefects or errors may be substantial and
could adversely affect our operating margins.

In manufacturing our products, including our systetrCs, and assays, we depend upon third pacighd supply of various
components, many of which require a significantrdegf technical expertise to produce. In additiee purchase certain products from third-
party suppliers for resale. If our suppliers failroduce components to specification or providea®se products to us for resale and our
quality control tests and procedures fail to desexh errors or defects, or if we or our supplieys defective materials or workmanship in the
manufacturing process, the reliability and perfanoeof our products will be compromised.

If our products contain defects, we may experience:

» afailure to achieve market acceptance or expargdionr product sale
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» loss of customer orders and delay in order fulf@ht
» damage to our brand reputati
* increased cost of our warranty program due to prbdkpair or replaceme
» product recalls or replacemel
* inability to attract new custome
» diversion of resources from our manufacturing asskarch and development departments into our setlejgartment; ai

* legal claims against us, including product lidypiclaims, which could be costly and time consngto defend and result in
substantial damages.

In addition, certain of our products are market@duse with products sold by third parties. Forregke, our Access Array system is
marketed as compatible with all major next-generaDNA sequencing instruments. If such third-pamtyducts are not produced to
specification, are produced in accordance with fiedlispecifications, or are defective, they mayl®tompatible with our products. In such
case, the reliability and performance of our prasimeay be compromised.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd negatively affect our business, financialdiban, and results of operations.

To use our products, our Biomark and CyTOF systems particular, customers typically need to purchasespecialized reagents. Any
interruption in the availability of these reagentsfor use in our products could limit our ability to market our products.

Our products, our Biomark and CyTOF systems inigaletr, must be used in conjunction with one or en@agents designed to produce
or facilitate the particular biological or chemicahction desired by the user. Many of these rdagee highly specialized and available to the
user only from a single supplier or a limited numbgsuppliers. Although we sell reagents for ustwertain of our products, our customers
may purchase these reagents directly from thirtiymarppliers, and we have no control over the suppthose materials. In addition, our
products are designed to work with these reagextisey are currently formulated. We have no cordvelr the formulation of reagents sold by
third-party suppliers, and the performance of aadpcts might be adversely affected if the formuolabf these reagents is changed. If one or
more of these reagents were to become unavailaber® reformulated, our ability to market and seli products could be materially and
adversely affected.

In addition, the use of a reagent for a particptacess may be covered by one or more patentingelatthe reagent itself, the use of the
reagent for the particular process, the performafiteat process, or the equipment required toogpertthe process. Typically, reagent
suppliers, who are either the patent holders ar thehorized licensees, sell the reagents alortly avlicense or covenant not to sue with res
to such patents. The license accompanying theo$aeeagent often purports to restrict the purpdsewhich the reagent may be used. If a
patent holder or authorized licensee were to aag@inhst us or our customers that the license werant relating to a reagent precluded its ust
with our systems, our ability to sell and market products could be materially and adversely affdcFor example, our Biomark system
involves real-time quantitative PCR, or qPCR. Legdiuppliers of reagents for real-time gPCR reastioclude Life Technologies
Corporation (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientiicd Roche Diagnostics Corporation, who are ouctzempetitors, and their licensees.
These real-time qPCR reagents are typically sotdyant to limited licenses or covenants not tovsitie respect to patents held by these
companies. We do not have any contractual supphleagents for these real-time qPCR reagents, armhmmot assure you that these reagents
will continue to be available to our customersdee with our systems, or that these patent holdiéraot seek to enforce their patents against
us, our customers, or suppliers.

If we are unable to expand our direct sales and maéeting force or distribution capabilities to adequaely address our customers’ needs,
our business may be adversely affected.

We may not be able to market, sell, and distrilmuieproducts effectively enough to support our pethgrowth. We sell our products
primarily through our own sales force and througdtributors in certain territories. Our future saleill depend in large part on our ability to
develop and substantially expand our direct saesefand to increase the scope of our marketiraytsffOur products are technically complex
and used for highly specialized applications. Assult, we believe it is
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necessary to develop a direct sales force thatdlesl people with specific scientific backgroundd expertise, and a marketing group with
technical sophistication. Competition for such emypks is intense. We may not be able to attractetath personnel or be able to build an
efficient and effective sales and marketing forekich could negatively impact sales of our prodaatd reduce our revenue and profitability.

In addition, we may continue to enlist one or meaies representatives and distributors to assiktsales, distribution, and customer
support globally or in certain regions of the wotfdve do seek to enter into such arrangementanase not be successful in attracting
desirable sales representatives and distributorgeanay not be able to enter into such arrangesmamfavorable terms. If our sales and
marketing efforts, or those of any third-party salepresentatives and distributors, are not suftdeesir technologies and products may not
gain market acceptance, which would materially adhersely impact our business operations.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracyand timing of our financial reporting
may be impaired, which could adversely affect our bisiness and our stock price.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we maintain effective internal control ofieancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, we musfoper system and process evaluation and testingiofnternal control over financial reporti
to allow management to report on the effectivermésair internal control over financial reporting, @quired by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Our testing may reveal deficiencies ur mternal control over financial reporting tha¢ @leemed to be material weaknesses.

Our compliance with Section 404 requires that veaiirsubstantial accounting expense and expendisigmi management time on
compliance-related issues. We currently do not lavimternal audit group, and we continue to evtaloar need for additional accounting and
financial staff with appropriate public company expnce and technical accounting knowledge. Moredf/ere do not comply with the
requirements of Section 404, or if we or our indegent registered public accounting firm identiffidiencies in our internal control over
financial reporting that are deemed to be mater@dknesses, the market price of our stock coultinteand we could be subject to sanctions
or investigations by the NASDAQ Global Select Mdrke NASDAQ, the SEC or other regulatory authestiwhich would require additional
financial and management resources.

Risks associated with a company-wide implementatioof an enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systemmay adversely affect our
business and results of operations or the effectimess of internal control over financial reporting.

We have been implementing a company-wide ERP systdrandle the business and financial processédsnwour operations and
corporate functions. ERP implementations are cormahal time-consuming projects that involve subsaheikpenditures on system software
and implementation activities that can continuesiveral years. ERP implementations also requarestormation of business and financial
processes in order to reap the benefits of the §Rfem. Our business and results of operationstmagdversely affected if we experience
operating problems and/or cost overruns during2Re implementation process, or if the ERP systettlam associated process changes d
give rise to the benefits that we expect. If wendoeffectively implement the ERP system as plaroratithe system does not operate as
intended, our business, results of operationsjraedhal controls over financial reporting may liversely affected.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may eed to raise additional funds in the future, whichmay cause dilution to
stockholders or may be upon terms that are not favable to us.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitaleill be sufficient to meet our anticipated casuirements for at least the next 18
months. However, we may need to raise substamtéitianal capital for various purposes, including:

« expanding the commercialization of our prodt

» funding our operation

» furthering our research and development;

e acquiring other businesses or assets and licetsiigologies

Our future funding requirements will depend on méamstors, including:

« market acceptance of our produ
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« the cost of our research and development actiy
« the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applimagi

« the cost of defending, in litigation or otherjisny claims that we infringe third-party patemtsiolate other intellectual property
rights;

« the cost and timing of regulatory clearances oraymsds, if any

» the cost and timing of establishing additional satearketing, and distribution capabiliti
< the cost and timing of establishing additional técal support capabilitie

« the effect of competing technological and markefettgoments; ar

e the extent to which we acquire or invest in haskes, products, and technologies, although wertlyr have no commitments or
agreements relating to any of these types of tdiases.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to okddititional funds on acceptable terms, or at filid raise additional funds by issuing
equity securities, our stockholders may experigtilcgion. Debt financing, if available, may invole®venants restricting our operations or out
ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or addital equity financing that we raise may contaim® that are not favorable to us or our
stockholders. If we raise additional funds throeghaboration and licensing arrangements with thiadties, it may be necessary to relinquish
some rights to our technologies or our productgrant licenses on terms that are not favorablestdf we are unable to raise adequate funds,
we may have to liquidate some or all of our assiEly development or commercialization of our piatd, or license to third parties the rights
to commercialize products or technologies that weld otherwise seek to commercialize. We also naaxeho reduce marketing, customer
support, or other resources devoted to our prodacisease operations. Any of these factors coatthlour operating results.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income may be subject to certain lintations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal RaeeBode, a corporation that undergoes an “ownedtapge” is subject to limitations
on its ability to utilize its pre-change net opergtiosses, or NOLSs, to offset future taxable ineoffiwe undergo one or more ownership
changes, our ability to utilize NOLs could be liedtby Section 382 of the Internal Revenue CodairEuthanges in our stock ownership, st
of which are outside of our control, could resalan ownership change under Section 382 of thenat&evenue Code.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our ability to protect our intellectual property an d proprietary technology through patents and othemmeans is uncertain.

Our commercial success depends in part on outyatiliprotect our intellectual property and profarg technologies. We rely on patent
protection, where appropriate and available, as agea combination of copyright, trade secret, mademark laws, and nondisclosure,
confidentiality, and other contractual restrictiagagprotect our proprietary technology. Howeveesth legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our sightpermit us to gain or keep any competitive athge. We apply for patents covering our
products and technologies and uses thereof, azam dppropriate. However, we may fail to applygfatents on important products and
technologies in a timely fashion or at all. Our ¢gheg U.S. and foreign patent applications may asti¢ as patents or may not issue in a form
that will be sufficient to protect our proprietagchnology and gain or keep our competitive adygmtAny patents we have obtained or do
obtain may be subject to re-examination, reisspposition, or other administrative proceeding, @yrbe challenged in litigation, and such
challenges could result in a determination thatpent is invalid or unenforceable. In additioompetitors may be able to design alternative
methods or devices that avoid infringement of atepts. Both the patent application process angrieess of managing patent disputes can
be time consuming and expensive.

Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries matyprotect our intellectual property rights te fame extent as do the laws of the
United States, and many companies have encourgigeificant problems in protecting and defendingtstights in foreign jurisdictions.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in for@igisdictions could result in substantial cost aiert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business. Changes in either thatdates or in interpretations of
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patent laws in the United States or other countriag diminish the value of our intellectual progei/e cannot predict the breadth of claims
that may be allowed or enforced in our patent®ahird-party patents. For example:

*  We might not have been the first to make the ineestcovered by each of our pending patent apjmics

* We might not have been the first to file patentliaagions for these inventior

* The patents of others may have an adverse effestiohusiness; al

» Others may independently develop similar or altevegproducts and technologies or duplicate anguwfproducts and technologi

To the extent our intellectual property, includifggnsed intellectual property, offers inadequatgegxtion, or is found to be invalid or
unenforceable, our competitive position and ouiiri®ess could be adversely affected.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfore our patents and proprietary rights, to determinethe scope, coverage and validity
others’ proprietary rights, or to defend against thrd party claims of intellectual property infringem ent, any of which could be time-
intensive and costly and may adversely impact ourusiness or stock price.

Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce @iept and proprietary rights, determine the scopegrage, and validity of others’
proprietary rights, and/or defend against thirdyalaims of intellectual property infringement agst us as well as against our suppliers,
distributors, customers, and other entities witlomhwe do business. Litigation could result in sabsal legal fees and could adversely affect
the scope of our patent protection. The outcormengflitigation or other proceeding is inherentlycartain and might not be favorable to us,
and we might not be able to obtain licenses torteldgy that we require. Even if such licenses &taioable, they may not be available at a
reasonable cost. We could therefore incur substlacdsts related to royalty payments for licendgaioed from third parties, which could
negatively affect our product margins or finangasition. Further, we could encounter delays irdpm introductions, or interruptions in
product sales, as we develop alternative methogsoalucts.

As we move into new markets and applications forgsaducts, incumbent participants in such markedy assert their patents and othel
proprietary rights against us as a means of imgedim entry into such markets or as a means taebdubstantial license and royalty paym
from us. Our commercial success may depend ingoeour non-infringement of the patents or proprietgghts of third parties. Numerous
significant intellectual property issues have biggated, and will likely continue to be litigatetletween existing and new participants in our
existing and targeted markets. For example, sonoeiioproducts provide for the testing and analgéigenetic material, and patent rights
relating to genetic materials remain a developirg@f patent law. A recent U.S. Supreme Courtsiletiheld, among other things, that claims
to isolated genomic DNA occurring in nature are patent eligible, while claims relating to syntiedBNA may be patent eligible. We expect
the ruling will result in additional litigation iour industry. In addition, third parties may assleat we are employing their proprietary
technology without authorization. For example, anel4, 2008 we received a letter from Applied B&teyns, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Life Technologies Corporation (now part of Therfisher Scientific Inc. and collectively refertedas Life), asserting that our Biomark
system for gene expression analysis infringes wh& Patent No. 6,814,934, or the ‘934 patent,itaireign counterparts in Europe and
Canada. In June 2011, we resolved this disputent®riag into license agreements with Life which,cam other matters, granted us a non-
exclusive license to the ‘934 patent and its fareigunterparts.

Our customers have been sued for various clainrgelfectual property infringement in the past, amg expect that our customers will
involved in additional litigation in the future. prarticular, our customers may become subjectvtsuis claiming that their use of our products
infringes third-party patent rights, and we coudtt@me subject to claims that we contributed tanduced our customer’s infringement. In
addition, our agreements with some of our suppldigtributors, customers, and other entities wilkom we do business may require us to
defend or indemnify these parties to the extent bexome involved in infringement claims againstinsluding the claims described above.
We could also voluntarily agree to defend or inddynthird parties in instances where we are notgated to do so if we determine it would
important to our business relationships. If weraduired or agree to defend or indemnify any oéhthird parties in connection with any
infringement claims, we could incur significant tand expenses that could adversely affect ounéss, operating results, or financial
condition.
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We depend on certain technologies that are licenséd us. We do not control these technologies and wioss of our rights to them could
prevent us from selling our products, which would fave an adverse effect on our business.

We rely on licenses in order to be able to useouarproprietary technologies that are materialtobwusiness, including our core IFC,
multi-layer soft lithography, and mass cytometmghigologies. In some cases, we do not control thegmution, maintenance, or filing of the
patents to which we hold licenses, or the enforegrokthese patents against third parties.

Our rights to use the technology we license argestibo the negotiation and continuation of thaserises. Certain of our licenses con
provisions that allow the licensor to terminate lihense upon specific conditions. Our rights urttierlicenses are subject to our continued
compliance with the terms of the license, includimg payment of royalties due under the licenseaBse of the complexity of our products
and the patents we have licensed, determiningciygesof the license and related royalty obligatian be difficult and can lead to disputes
between us and the licensor. An unfavorable reismutf such a dispute could lead to an increagkamoyalties payable pursuant to the
license. If a licensor believed we were not payhgroyalties due under the license or were ottsawbt in compliance with the terms of the
license, the licensor might attempt to revoke ibenlse. If such an attempt were successful anticémese is terminated, we might be barred
from marketing, producing, and selling some ooélbur products, which would have an adverse effeabur business. For example, pursuant
to the terms of a license agreement entered irtto life in June 2011, we were obligated to makd & $nillion payment to Life upon
satisfaction of certain conditions. On October2@®1 3, Life provided notice that the $1.0 millionyp@nt was due and payable under the
license agreement. We believe that at least otigeofonditions of the milestone payment remainsatpnhrowever, we paid Life the amount
while reserving our rights with respect to suchteraio, among other reasons, avoid what would h&en, in our view, an improper
termination of our license to certain Life patetib§s under the agreement, which could have stibjeour relevant product lines to risks
associated with patent infringement litigation.

We license certain intellectual property rights coering our mass cytometry products under agreementwith several third parties.
Termination of or disputes relating to any of thesdicense agreements would have a material adversieet on our business, operating
results, and financial condition and could resultm our inability to sell our mass cytometry products

The intellectual property rights covering our meag®metry products depend in substantial part cenlse agreements with third parties,
in particular MDS, Inc., or MDS, and also with atltleird parties such as Nodality, Inc., or Nodalitye licensed intellectual property rights of
MDS as well as MDS'’s rights and obligations undher license agreement between Fluidigm Canadadn€luidigm Canada, an Ontario
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Fluidi@uiences, and MDS were subsequently assigneditaramow held by PerkinElmer
Health Sciences, Inc., or PerkinElmer. Under thé&iBEImer license agreement, Fluidigm Canada reszkan exclusive, royalty bearing,
worldwide license to certain patents that are nemexd by PerkinElmer in the field of ICP-based magemetry, including the analysis of
elemental tagged materials in connection thereuwitl, a non-exclusive license for reagents outsiddi¢ld of ICP-based mass cytometry.
Fluidigm Canada was also party to an interim lieeagreement, now expired, under which Nodality g@fluidigm Canada a worldwide,
non-exclusive, research use only, royalty beailitenke to certain cytometric reagents, instrumemts,other products. Fluidigm Canada and
Nodality are currently in negotiations with respecteinstating the license agreement and we cgmootde assurances that we will be abl
reinstate or secure a new license agreement optabde terms, if at all. In addition, we are padyadditional in-license agreements with
parties such as Stanford University that relatgdaificant intellectual property rights, and owsiness and product development plans
anticipate and will substantially depend on futimréicense agreements with additional third partsssne of which are currently in the early
discussion phase.

In-licensed intellectual property rights that anedamental to the business being operated presergmus risks relating to ownership
and enforcement of intellectual property rightst Egample, under the PerkinElmer license, Fluidigamada is not granted any right, and we
do not have any right to bring enforcement actioiib respect to the patents licensed from Perkirgg]rwhich could materially impair our
ability to preclude competitors and other thirdtigasr from activities that we consider to infringe @aur exclusively licensed rights. In other
cases such as with Nodality, all or a portion @f lihense rights granted may be limited for redearse only, and in the event we attempt to
expand into diagnostic applications, we would lmpineed to negotiate additional rights, which may In@ available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all.

In addition, Fluidigm Sciences’ licensors may gaiigrterminate the applicable license agreemenufmured material breaches or if
Fluidigm Sciences becomes insolvent, makes anrasgigt for the benefit of creditors, or has a pmtiin bankruptcy filed against it.
Termination of material license agreements for r@@@gon, including as a result of failure to obtmequired consent to assignment or as a
result of an inability to negotiate a new or extethdicense where required, would result in a maltéoss of rights by us and would be expecte
to have a material adverse effect on our busirgesating results, and financial condition. In atar, any such termination could prevent us
from manufacturing and selling our products unigss
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can negotiate new license terms or develop or ee@liiernative intellectual property rights thaveoor enable similar functionality. While we
do not believe that any existing material in-liceagreements require the consent of the licensmndier for us to rely on these licenses, the
guestion is not free from doubt, and one or morewflicensors could contend that the failure taobtheir consent constituted a breach or
default under the applicable license agreemengquire the negotiation of a new license. In paldigun May 2014, we received a written
notice of PerkinElmer’s position that the licenggement between Fluidigm Canada and PerkinElnogtines, as a result of the acquisition,
that PerkinElmer consent to negotiate a commeyciasonable license to Fluidigm. We have contaet#tinElmer in an attempt to initiate
negotiations regarding the license agreement anarevevaluating strategies and appropriate actelating to our interests in the licensed
intellectual property.

In the case of a dispute over these or other tefrttee applicable license agreements, includindgy néspect to the license with
PerkinElmer, we cannot provide assurances that Wéevable to negotiate a new or amended licemseommercially reasonable terms, if at
all. Our potential dispute with PerkinEImer as wasdlany other disputes between us and one of fiuificienceséxisting licensors concernil
the terms or conditions of the applicable licengeament could result, among other risks, in sulhsiananagement distraction; increased
expenses associated with litigation or effortsetgoive disputes; substantial customer uncertamrgerning the direction of our proteomics
product line; potential infringement claims againstand/or our customers, which could include ¢&gfby a licensor to enjoin sales of our
products; customer requests for indemnificatiorrlwdigm; and, in the event of an adverse detertionaour inability to operate our business
as currently operated. Any of these factors woal@kpected to have a material adverse effect obusiness, operating results, and financial
condition and could result in a substantial declimeur stock price.

We are subject to certain manufacturing restrictiors related to licensed technologies that were devpkd with the financial assistance of
U.S. governmental grants.

We are subject to certain U.S. government regulatiecause we have licensed technologies thatdessoped with U.S. government
grants. In accordance with these regulations, theseses provide that products embodying the telcgies are subject to domestic
manufacturing requirements. If this domestic maotufidng requirement is not met, the government agémat funded the relevant grant is
entitled to exercise specified rights, referred$¢d'march-in rights,” which if exercised would alldghe government agency to require the
licensors or us to grant a non-exclusive, partiakglusive, or exclusive license in any field oéus a third party designated by such agency.
All of our microfluidic systems revenue is depentdgmon the availability of our IFCs, which incorpte technology developed with U.S.
government grants. All of our instruments, inclgdmicrofluidic systems, and IFCs for commerciaksale manufactured at our facility in
Singapore. The federal regulations allow the fugdjovernment agency to grant, at the request dfdbesors of such technology, a waiver of
the domestic manufacturing requirement. Waivers bmayequested prior to any government notificatitie. have assisted the licensors of t
technologies with the analysis of the domestic mfesturing requirement, and, in December 2008, the kcensor subject to the requirement
applied for a waiver of the domestic manufactureguirement with respect to the relevant paten&nbked to us by this licensor. In July 2009,
the funding government agency granted the requesiacer of the domestic manufacturing requirementsf three-year period commencing in
July 2009. In June 2012, the licensor requestezhtirmied waiver of the domestic manufacturing resmient with respect to the relevant
patents, but the government agency has not yen takg action in response to this request. If theegument agency does not grant the
requested waiver or the government fails to grdditenal waivers of such requirement that may daggét in the future, then the U.S.
government could exercise its march-in rights wétbpect to the relevant patents licensed to uaddiition, the license agreement under which
the relevant patents are licensed to us contamsgions that obligate us to comply with this dotremanufacturing requirement. We are not
currently manufacturing instruments and IFCs inlttmi¢ed States that incorporate the relevant liedrtechnology. If our lack of compliance
with this provision constituted a material brea€lhe license agreement, the license of the relegpatents could be terminated or we could be
compelled to relocate our manufacturing of micriofici systems and IFCs to the United States to awpimlre a material breach of the license
agreement. Any of the exercise of manchights, the termination of our license of théevant patents or the relocation of our manufantof
microfluidic systems and IFCs to the United Staimsld materially adversely affect our business rafi@ens and financial condition.

We are subject to certain obligations and restrictns relating to technologies developed in cooperati with Canadian government
agencies.

Some of our Canadian research and developmemadetlin part through government grants and by goment agencies. The intellect
property developed through these projects is subjegghts and restrictions in favor of governmagencies and Canadians generally. In mos
cases the government agency retains the rightetantesllectual property developed through the mrofer non-commercial purposes and to
publish the results of research conducted in cdiorewith the project. This may increase the riglpablic disclosure of information relating
our intellectual property, including confidentiaformation, and may reduce its competitive advamfagommercializing intellectual property
developed through

28




Table of Contents

these projects. In certain projects, we have aiseel to use commercially reasonable efforts tongemialize intellectual property in Canada,
or more specifically in the province of Ontarior fbe economic benefit of Canada and the provifi€@ndario. These restrictions will limit our
choice of business and manufacturing locationsinless partners and corporate structure and magrtain circumstances, restrict our ability
to achieve maximum profitability and cost efficigrfcom the intellectual property generated by thesgects. In one instance, a dispute with
the applicable government funded entity may requiegliation, which could lead to unanticipated deleyour commercialization efforts to
that project. One of our Canadian government furmdegects is also subject to certain limited “manshrights in favor of the government of
the Province of Ontario, under which we may be i@gito grant a license to our intellectual propeiricluding background intellectual
property developed outside the scope of the prdje& responsible applicant on reasonable termsdomstances where the government
determines that such a license is necessary im toddleviate emergency or extraordinary healtsafety needs or for public use. In addition,
we must provide reasonable assistance to the gmestnin obtaining similar licenses from third pastrequired in connection with the use of
its intellectual property. Instances in which tlevgrnment of the Province of Ontario has exercsmeilar “march-in” rights are rare; however,
the exercise of such rights could materially adsigraffect our business, operations and finan@abdion.

We may be subject to damages resulting from clainthat we or our employees have wrongfully used or dclosed alleged trade secrets
our employees’ former employers or other institutims or third parties with whom such employees may ha been previously affiliated.

Many of our employees were previously employednaersities or other life science or Ag-Bio compasjiincluding our competitors or
potential competitors. Although no claims agairstte currently pending, we have in the past reckenotices from third parties alleging
potential disclosures of confidential informatiéie may become subject to claims that our emploge@ge have inadvertently or otherwise
used or disclosed trade secrets or other propyi@téarmation of their former employers or otheirthparties or institutions with whom our
employees may have been previously affiliatedghition may be necessary to defend against theipescld we fail in defending such claims,
in addition to paying monetary damages, we may Vadgable intellectual property rights. A loss efykresearch personnel work product could
hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize @@rpotential products, which could severely hatmhsiness. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation couklitein substantial costs and be a distraction anagement.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly, particularly if holders of substantial amounts of our stak attempt to sell, and holders may
have difficulty selling their shares based on curnet trading volumes of our stock. In addition, numeiwous other factors could result in
substantial volatility in the trading price of our stock.

Our stock is currently traded on NASDAQ, but we panvide no assurance that we will be able to na&inan active trading market on
NASDAQ or any other exchange in the future. Thditrg volume of our stock tends to be low relativetr total outstanding shares, and
have several stockholders, including affiliateccktwlders, who hold substantial blocks of our stdck of December 31, 2014, we had
28,341,478 shares of common stock outstandingsenuttholders holding at least 5% of our stock,\itlially or with affiliated persons or
entities, collectively beneficially owned or corteal approximately 63% of such shares. Sales gelamumbers of shares by any of our large
stockholders could adversely affect our tradingearparticularly given our relatively small hismotrading volumes. If stockholders holding
shares of our common stock sell, indicate an irdarto sell, or if it is perceived that they wikl§ substantial amounts of their common stock
in the public market, the trading price of our coomstock could decline. Moreover, if there is ntwctrading market or if the volume of
trading is limited, holders of our common stock nhaye difficulty selling their shares.

In addition, the trading price of our common stocky be highly volatile and could be subject to widetuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. €fastors include:

* actual or anticipated quarterly variation in ousuks of operations or the results of our compe;]

e announcements or communications by us or oumpetitors relating to, among other things, new comumaéproducts, technological
advances, significant contracts, commercial refstigps, capital commitments, acquisitions or safdsisinesses, and/or
misperceptions in or speculation by the marketndigg such announcements or communications;

» issuance of new or changed securities analyesirts or recommendations for our st

» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary righ
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» commencement of, or our involvement in, litigat
» market conditions in the life science, Bip, and clinical research sectc
» failure to complete significant sal

» manufacturing disruptions that could occur if were unable to successfully expand our produdtiayur current or an alternative
facility;

» any future sales of our common stock or other séesiin connection with raising additional capitalotherwise
e any major change to the composition of our boardimactors or management; ¢
» general economic conditions and slow or negatieevtt of our market

The stock market in general, and market priceshfersecurities of technology-based companies like m particular, have from time to
time experienced volatility that often has beerelated to the operating performance of the undeglgompanies. These broad market and
industry fluctuations may adversely affect the neauirice of our common stock regardless of our ajrey performance. In several recent
situations where the market price of a stock has b®latile, holders of that stock have institusedurities class action litigation against the
company that issued the stock. If any of our stolddrs were to bring a lawsuit against us, thermfeand disposition of the lawsuit could be
costly and divert the time and attention of our agament and harm our operating results.

If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorale research about our business or cease to covardusiness, our stock price and/or
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock may retypart, on the research and reports that equigareh analysts publish about us and
our business. We do not have any control of théyatsaor the content and opinions included in thejrorts. The price of our stock could
decline if one or more equity research analystsrdpade our stock or issue other unfavorable comangior research. If one or more equity
research analysts ceases coverage of our compdaysaio publish reports on us regularly, demamorddur stock could decrease, which in turn
could cause our stock price or trading volume tdide.

Our directors, executive officers, and large stockblders have substantial control over and could limiyour ability to influence the
outcome of key transactions, including changes obatrol.

As of December 31, 2014, our current executivecefs, directors, stockholders holding at least 5%uo outstanding stock, and their
respective affiliates, collectively beneficially oed or controlled approximately 64% of the outstag&hares of our common
stock. Accordingly, these executive officers, dioes, large stockholders, and their respectivdiatifis, acting as a group, can have substantia
influence over the outcome of corporate actionsiirety stockholder approval, including the electafrdirectors, any merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assetsany other significant corporate transactions. Ti#sgekholders may also delay or prevent a ch
of control of us, even if such a change of contvould benefit our other stockholders. The significeoncentration of stock ownership may
adversely affect the trading price of our commamrktdue to investors’ perception that conflictsraérest may exist or arise.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents ad under Delaware law could make an acquisition afis, which may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent atempts by our stockholders to replace or remove oucurrent management and limit
the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preveptrchange of control or changes in
our management, including provisions that:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, witHouther action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,80ares of undesignated prefer
stock;

* require that any action to be taken by our dtotdkers be effected at a duly called annual origpateeting and not by written
consent;
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» specify that special meetings of our stockhadmm be called only by our board of directors df@rman of the board, the chief
executive officer or the president;

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockh@lpprovals to be brought before an annual meefiogr stockholders, includir
proposed nominations of persons for election tobmard of directors;

» establish that our board of directors is divide ithree classes, Class I, Class I, and Claswith each class serving staggered t
year terms

» provide that our directors may be removed onlyctause

» provide that vacancies on our board of directoay be filled only by a majority of directors thenoffice, even though less than a
quorum;

» specify that no stockholder is permitted to cumaulaites at any election of directors;

e require a super-majority of votes to amend ¢eathe abovenentioned provision

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterny our stockholders to replace or remove otnectt management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefrour board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbnatBelaware, we are governed by the provisionSetgftion 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stoakdlders owning in excess of 15% of our outstandioting stock to merge or combine with
We have never paid dividends on our capital stoclgnd we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends the foreseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our ckasBeapital stock to date, have contractual restris against paying cash dividends,
and currently intend to retain our future earnitggfund the development and growth of our busin&ssa result, capital appreciation, if any, of
our common stock will be stockholders’ sole sowtgain for the foreseeable future.

Risks Related to Our Outstanding 2.75% Senior Convéible Notes due 2034

Our outstanding 2.75% senior convertible notes du034 are effectively subordinated to our secured 8eand any liabilities of our
subsidiaries.

Our outstanding 2.75% senior convertible notes2084, which we refer to as our “notes”, rank:
» senior in right of payment to any of our indebtesinthat is expressly subordinated in right of paynte the note:
« equal in right of payment to all of our liabiliti#sat are not so subordinat

» effectively junior in right of payment to any ofir secured indebtedness to the extent of theewaflthe assets securing such
indebtedness; and

 structurally junior to all indebtedness and othalilities (including trade payables) of our sulsitts

In February 2014, we completed our offering of sotéth an aggregate outstanding principal amou826f1.3 million. In the event of
our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization, oretfwinding up, our assets that secure debt rardéngpr in right of payment to the notes will
be available to pay obligations on the notes oftlgrahe secured debt has been repaid in full flo@se assets, and the assets of our subsic
will be available to pay obligations on the notetyafter all claims senior to the notes have begaid in full. There may not be sufficient
assets remaining to pay amounts due on any of tideaotes then outstanding. The indenture gomgrttie notes does not prohibit us from
incurring additional senior debt or secured debt,does it prohibit our subsidiaries from incurriagditional liabilities.
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The notes are our obligations only and some of owperations are conducted through, and a portion obur consolidated assets are held
by, our subsidiaries.

The notes are our obligations exclusively and ategnaranteed by any of our operating subsidiafigsortion of our consolidated assets
is held by our subsidiaries. Accordingly, our ahitio service our debt, including the notes, degdandgart on the results of operations of our
subsidiaries and upon the ability of such subsiekato provide us with cash, whether in the forndiefdends, loans, or otherwise, to pay
amounts due on our obligations, including the ndbag subsidiaries are separate and distinct legiities and have no obligation, continger
otherwise, to make payments on the notes or to raakdunds available for that purpose. In additiimidends, loans, or other distributions to
us from such subsidiaries may be subject to conishand other restrictions and are subject tordilisiness and tax considerations.

Recent and future regulatory actions and other evas may adversely affect the trading price and liqudity of the notes.

We expect that many investors in, and potentiatipasers of, the notes will employ, or seek to esnm@aconvertible arbitrage strategy
with respect to the notes. Investors would typicatiplement such a strategy by selling short themon stock underlying the notes and
dynamically adjusting their short position whilentimuing to hold the notes. Investors may also an@nt this type of strategy by entering into
swaps on our common stock in lieu of or in additioishort selling the common stock. As a resuly, specific rules regulating equity swaps or
short selling of securities or other governmentsion that interferes with the ability of marketrfiéipants to effect short sales or equity swaps
with respect to our common stock could adversdiycathe ability of investors in, or potential phasers of, the notes to conduct the
convertible arbitrage strategy that we believe tivédyemploy, or seek to employ, with respect te tiotes. This could, in turn, adversely affect
the trading price and liquidity of the notes.

The SEC and other regulatory and self-regulatotiicities have implemented various rules and talegtain actions, and may in the
future adopt additional rules and take other astitimat may impact those engaging in short selittiyity involving equity securities
(including our common stock). Such rules and astioclude Rule 201 of SEC Regulation SHO, the adopiy the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority, Inc. and the national sedesitexchanges of a “Limit Up-Limit Down” progranmetimposition of market-wide circuit
breakers that halt trading of securities for certgriods following specific market declines, ahd implementation of certain regulatory
reforms required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refand Consumer Protection Act of 2010. Although direction and magnitude of the
effect that Regulation SHO, FINRA, securities exa@rule changes, and implementation of the Deidaitk Act may have on the trading pr
and the liquidity of the notes will depend on aieBr of factors, many of which cannot be determiatthe date of this report, past regulatory
actions (such as certain emergency orders issusttetlyEC in 2008 prohibiting short sales of stockestain financial services companies)
have had a significant impact on the trading prames liquidity of convertible debt instruments. Aggvernmental or regulatory action that
restricts the ability of investors in, or potenfairchasers of, the notes to effect short salesioEommon stock, borrow our common stock, or
enter into swaps on our common stock or incredsesdsts of implementing an arbitrage strategyctadiersely affect the trading price and
the liquidity of the notes.

Volatility in the market price and trading volume of our common stock could adversely impact the tradig price of the notes.

The stock market in recent years has experiengmifisant price and volume fluctuations that hafteiw been unrelated to the operating
performance of companies. The market price of oamraon stock could fluctuate significantly for mamasons, including in response to the
risks described in this report, or for reasons latee to our operations, such as reports by ingastalysts, investor perceptions or negative
announcements by our customers, competitors ofisuppegarding their own performance, as wellnakistry conditions and general financ
economic and political instability. The market riaf our common stock could also decline as atre$slales of a large number of shares of
our common stock in the market, particularly sblg®ur directors, executive officers, employees significant stockholders, and the
perception that these sales could occur may algreds the market price of our common stock. A dexrén the market price of our common
stock would likely adversely impact the tradingcprof the notes. The market price of our commookstould also be affected by possible
sales of our common stock by investors who viewnibtes as a more attractive means of equity ppatiicin in us and by hedging or arbitrage
trading activity that we expect to develop involyiour common stock. This trading activity couldtumn, affect the trading price of the notes.

We may still incur substantially more debt or takeother actions which would intensify the risks discased above.
We are not restricted under the terms of the indlengyoverning the notes from incurring additionalbt] securing existing or future debt,
recapitalizing our debt, or taking a number of othetions that are not limited by the terms ofitidenture governing the notes that could have

the effect of diminishing our ability to make paym®on the notes when due.
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Any failure by us or any of our significant subsides to make any payment at maturity of indebtsslifier borrowed money in excess of $15
million or the acceleration of any such indebtedriasexcess of $15 million would, subject to therte of the indenture governing the notes,
constitute a default under the indenture. If thEagenent of the related indebtedness were to bdemated after any applicable notice or grace
periods, we may not have sufficient funds to refeeynotes when required.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds nessary to repurchase the notes upon specified datesupon a fundamental change,
and our future debt may contain limitations on ourability to repurchase the notes.

Holders of the notes have the right to requireougpurchase all or a portion of their notes omatedates or upon the occurrence of a
fundamental change at a repurchase price equ&i0t bf the principal amount of the notes to be relpased, plus accrued and unpaid inte
if any. We may not have enough available cash @& to obtain financing at the time we are rezpito make repurchases of notes
surrendered therefor.

In addition, our ability to repurchase the noteya limited by law, regulatory authority, or agmeents governing our future
indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase notesiateawhen the repurchase is required by the indentwould constitute a default under the
indenture. A default under the indenture or thedmental change itself could also lead to a detmder agreements governing our future
indebtedness. If the repayment of the related itetltess were to be accelerated after any applicalilee or grace periods, we may not have
sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness androfyase the notes when required.

Holders of notes are not entitled to any rights wh respect to our common stock, but they are subjec¢o all changes made with respect 1
them to the extent our conversion obligation includs shares of our common stock.

Holders of notes are not entitled to any rightdwiiispect to our common stock (including, withamitation, voting rights and rights to
receive any dividends or other distributions on @amnmon stock) prior to the conversion date wigpeet to any notes they surrender for
conversion, but they are subject to all changesctiffg our common stock. For example, if an amemdriseproposed to our certificate of
incorporation or bylaws requiring stockholder apicand the record date for determining the stolddrs of record entitled to vote on the
amendment occurs prior to the conversion date repect to any notes surrendered for conversien, tite holder surrendering such notes
not be entitled to vote on the amendment, althaugi holder will nevertheless be subject to anygha affecting our common stock.

We have made only limited covenants in the indentar governing the notes, and these limited covenantgy not protect a noteholder's
investment.

The indenture governing the notes does not:

e require us to maintain any financial ratios pedfic levels of net worth, revenues, income, déshs, or liquidity and, accordingly,
does not protect holders of the notes in the etferitwe experience adverse changes in our finaocraition or results of
operations;

« limit our subsidiariesability to guarantee or incur indebtedness thatld/cank structurally senior to the not

« limit our ability to incur additional indebtednegsc¢luding secured indebtedne

e restrict our subsidiaries’ ability to issue setieis that would be senior to our equity intera@steur subsidiaries and therefore would
be structurally senior to the notes;

»  restrict our ability to repurchase our securi
» restrict our ability to pledge our assets or thoiseur subsidiaries; |

» restrict our ability to make investments or piyidends or make other payments in respect otomrmon stock or our other
indebtedness.

Furthermore, the indenture governing the notesadtesonly limited protections in the event of amde of control. We could engage in
many types of transactions, such as acquisiti@figiancings, or certain recapitalizations, thatld@ubstantially affect our capital structure anc
the value of the notes and our common stock butmoagonstitute a “fundamental changdleat permits holders to require us to repurchasi
notes or a “make-whole fundamental change” thanfisrholders
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to convert their notes at an increased conversits For these reasons, the limited covenantsimttenture governing the notes may not
protect a noteholder's investment in the notes.

The increase in the conversion rate for notes consted in connection with a makewhole fundamental change or provisional redemptiol
may not adequately compensate noteholders for angdt value of the notes as a result of such transa@m or redemption.

If a make-whole fundamental change occurs pridfebruary 6, 2021 or upon our issuance of a nofigeavisional redemption, under
certain circumstances, we will increase the coneenate by a number of additional shares of ounmmn stock for notes converted in
connection with such events. The increase in tieemion rate for notes converted in connectio sitch events may not adequately
compensate noteholders for any lost value of theswas a result of such transaction or redempiicaddition, if the price of our common
stock in the transaction is greater than $180.0Gpare or less than $39.96 per share (in each salsject to adjustment), no additional shares
will be added to the conversion rate. Moreovenarevent will the conversion rate per $1,000 ppatamount of notes as a result of this
adjustment exceed 25.0250 shares of common stobjed to adjustment.

Our obligation to increase the conversion ratenfites converted in connection with such eventsdcbalconsidered a penalty, in which
case the enforceability thereof would be subjecteieral principles of reasonableness and equitabiedies.

The conversion rate of the notes may not be adjustdor all dilutive events.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject tosdtjant for certain events, including, but not ledito, the issuance of certain stock
dividends on our common stock, the issuance oéirerights or warrants, subdivisions, combinatiatistributions of capital stock,
indebtedness, or assets, cash dividends and cessaigr tender or exchange offers. However, theawion rate will not be adjusted for other
events, such as a third-party tender or excharfge @f an issuance of common stock for cash, ttet agversely affect the trading price of the
notes or our common stock. An event that adveraécts the value of the notes may occur, anddabhant may not result in an adjustment to
the conversion rate.

Some significant restructuring transactions may notonstitute a fundamental change, in which case weould not be obligated to offer
to repurchase the notes.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, a&holdnotes has the right to require us to repigeliae notes. However, the
fundamental change provisions will not afford potiien to holders of notes in the event of othensextions that could adversely affect the
notes. For example, transactions such as leveragegitalizations, refinancings, restructuringsacquisitions initiated by us may not
constitute a fundamental change requiring us tandmase the notes. In the event of any such tréosathe holders would not have the righ
require us to repurchase the notes, even thoudghafdahese transactions could increase the amdunirdndebtedness, or otherwise adversely
affect our capital structure or any credit ratinpgreby adversely affecting the holders of notes.

In addition, absent the occurrence of a fundamexttahge or a make-whole fundamental change asildedamder changes in the
composition of our board of directors will not pide holders with the right to require us to repasthe notes or to an increase in the
conversion rate upon conversion.

We cannot assure noteholders that an active tradingarket will develop or be maintained for the notes

We do not intend to apply to list our outstanding\ertible notes on any securities exchange orremge for quotation on any autome
dealer quotation system. In addition, the liquidifythe trading market in the notes and the mgpkiee quoted for the notes may be adversely
affected by changes in the overall market for thie of security and by changes in our financiafgrenance or prospects or in the prospects
for companies in our industry generally. As a resué cannot assure noteholders that an activintradarket will develop or be maintained
the notes. If an active trading market does noelbgvor is not maintained, the market price anditliy of the notes may be adversely affec
In that case, noteholders may not be able tolselhbtes at a particular time or at a favorablegpri

Any adverse rating of the notes may cause their tding price to fall.
We do not intend to seek a rating on the notes.a&¥ew if a rating service were to rate the notekifisuch rating service were to lower
its rating on the notes below the rating initisdlysigned to the notes or otherwise announceséstion to put the notes on credit watch, the

trading price of the notes could decline.
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Holders of notes may be subject to tax if we make fail to make certain adjustments to the conversio rate of the notes even though
they do not receive a corresponding cash distribubin.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject tosdtjant in certain circumstances, including the paynof cash dividends. If the
conversion rate is adjusted as a result of a Higion that is taxable to our common stockholdsush as a cash dividend, a noteholder may b
deemed to have received a dividend subject toféderal income tax without the receipt of any castaddition, a failure to adjust (or to adj
adequately) the conversion rate after an evenirnledases a noteholder's proportionate interess icould be treated as a deemed taxable
dividend to you. If a make-whole fundamental chaageurs prior to February 6, 2021 or we provideasobf a provisional redemption, under
some circumstances, we will increase the convemsitsnfor notes converted in connection with th&erahole fundamental change or
provisional redemption. Such increase may alsodsdd as a distribution subject to U.S. fedemdrime tax as a dividend. For a non-U.S.
holder, any deemed dividend would be subject ta t&deral withholding tax at a 30% rate, or suchdorate as may be specified by an
applicable treaty, which may be set off againssegient payments on the notes.

Any conversions of the notes will dilute the ownetsp interest of our existing stockholders, includig holders who had previously
converted their notes.

Any conversion of some or all of the notes willudél the ownership interests of our existing stotddas. Any sales in the public market
of our common stock issuable upon such conversioitdcadversely affect prevailing market prices of common stock. In addition, the
existence of the notes may encourage short sdilingarket participants because the conversioneohtites could depress the price of our
common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 70,000 square feet of offiet laboratory space at our headquarters in Starthrancisco, California under a
lease that expires in April 2020. The leases f@raximately 42,000 square feet of manufacturing effide space at our facility in Singapore
will expire in June 2022. Additionally, we leasdioé, laboratory, and manufacturing space in Mankh@ntario, Canada and Sunnyvale,
California under leases that expire in January 204bJuly 2016, respectively. The Canada leasadeslan option to renew the lease for an
additional five years at the then prevailing mariegtt, and on similar terms as the existing lehseiever, we currently intend to relocate our
Canada operations to a new facility in the OntaCianada area during 2015. As of December 31, 2044lso leased office space in Japan,
China, and France, with various expiration datesuph March 2016. We believe that our existingagffilaboratory, and manufacturing space,
together with additional space and facilities eafalie on commercially reasonable terms, will beisigfiit to meet our current needs through
2016. In addition, we believe that our propertiesia good condition and are adequate and suifablieir purposes.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently engaged in any material lpgateedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Our Common Stock; Dividends

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gl&@mdéct Market under the symbol “FLDM” on Febru&f; 2011. The following
table sets forth the range of high and low closialgs prices of our common stock for the periodgated:

Year ended December 31, 2014 High Low

First Quarter $48.89 $36.70
Second Quarter $45.72  $25.46
Third Quarter $32.08 $24.50
Fourth Quarter $33.73  $22.06
Year ended December 31, 2013 High Low

First Quarter $19.38 $14.27
Second Quarter $19.04 $16.00
Third Quarter $23.26  $16.59
Fourth Quarter $39.37  $21.55

We had approximately 112 stockholders of recordfdebruary 10, 2015; however, because many obotgtanding shares are held in
accounts with brokers and other institutions, wigekie we have more beneficial owners. We have ndgelared or paid dividends on our
common stock and do not expect to pay dividendsusrcommon stock for the foreseeable future. Inkte@ anticipate that all of our earnings
in the foreseeable future will be used for the afien and growth of our business.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following performance graph shall not be deefseticiting material” or to be “filed” with the Smurities and Exchange Commission
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgkaict of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Adittarwise subject to the liabilities unc
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incatgad by reference into any filing of Fluidigm Corption under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.

The following graph shows a comparison from Febyrdd, 2011 (the date our common stock commenceihtyaon the NASDAQ
Global Select Market) through December 31, 201duofiulative total return for our common stock, the\DAQ Composite Total Return
Index, and the ICB Medical Equipment Index. Sudhnres are based on historical results and arentended to suggest future performance.
Data for the NASDAQ Composite Total Return Index ¢he ICB Medical Equipment assume reinvestmeniwéiends.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Fluidigm Corporation, NASDAQ
Composite Total Return Index and ICB Medical Device Index
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedraconjunction with the consolidated financiatements and related notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We havevddrthe consolidated statement of operations datdé years ended December 31, 2014

2013, and 2012 and consolidated balance sheeadatDecember 31, 2014 and 2013 from auditedatiolased financial statements included

elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated stat# of operations data for the fiscal years erdecember 31, 2011 and December 31,
2010 and the consolidated balance sheet datalsceimber 31, 2012 , December 31, 2011 , and Deae3iib2010were derived from audite
consolidated financial statements that are notuaed in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 116,45t $ 71,18 $ 52,33« $ 42,86 $  33,56(
Loss from operations (51,836 (18,657 (18,077 (18,56¢) (14,57
Net loss (52,83() (16,52¢) (19,029 (32,370 (16,909
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (2.90 (0.65) (0.8¢) (1.81) (8.99)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-terestments $ 142800 $ 86,28¢ $ 8367 $ 54,967 $ 5,72:

Working capital (1) 133,44( 89,35 91,50( 51,87: 3,70¢
Total assets 407,55¢ 116,91! 113,73. 79,32¢ 24,80:
Total long-term debt 195,45! — — 10,13¢ 14,70(
Convertible preferred stock — — — — 184,55(
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 150,41 96,41« 100,65 56,897 (189,16)

(1) Working capital excludes deferred revenue,anirportion
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should bel regether with our consolidated financial statemseand the notes to those statem
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This disaussiontains forward-looking statements based oncourent expectations, assumptions,
estimates and projections about Fluidigm and oulustry. These forwartboking statements involve risks and uncertainf&s:. actual result:
could differ materially from those indicated in sieeforward-looking statements as a result of carfactors, as more fully described in “Risk
factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, in this Item 7, aetbewhere in this Form 10-K. Except as may beiredby law, we undertake no
obligation to update publicly any forwaldeking statements for any reason, even if newnméion becomes available or other events occ
the future.

Overview

We create, manufacture, and market innovative @olgies and life-science tools focused on the exgpilon and analysis of single cells,
as well as the industrial application of genomised upon our core microfluidics and mass cytgntetthnologies. We sell instruments and
consumables, including integrated fluidic circuds)FCs, assays, and reagents, to academic iimtisy clinical laboratories, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agriculturatdgbnology, or Ag-Bio, companies.

We distribute our systems through our direct stdese and support organizations located in Northefina, Europe, and Asia-Pacific,
and through distributors or sales agents in sev@radpean, Latin American, Middle Eastern, and AZaific countries. Our manufacturing
operations are primarily located in Singapore aada@ia. Our facility in Singapore manufactures @iagnic instruments, several of which are
assembled at facilities of our contract manufactiire Singapore, with testing and calibration & #ssembled products performed at our
Singapore facility. All of our IFCs for commercisdle and some IFCs for our research and developpuepbses are fabricated at our
Singapore facility. Our proteomics analytical instrents are manufactured at our facility in Can&da.also manufacture IFCs for research
development, assays, and reagents at our facititi®suth San Francisco, California.

On February 13, 2014, we completed our acquisitfddVS Sciences, Inc. or DVS, for $199.9 million.

Our total revenue grew from $52.3 million in 2002#116.5 million in 2014. We have incurred sigrafit net losses since our inception
in 1999 and, as of December 31, 2014, our accurii@deficit was $310.2 million .

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgmentsand Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and theadlabtes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K agpgred in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in thedéhBtates. The preparation of these consolidataeddial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemlints of assets, liabilities, revenue, costsexpenses and related disclosures. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on uaradher assumptions that we believe to be reatonaler the circumstances. Changes in
accounting estimates may occur from period to jgeracordingly, actual results could differ sign#intly from the estimates made by our
management. We evaluate our estimates and assmsiptican ongoing basis. To the extent that therenaterial differences between these
estimates and actual results, our future finarstatement presentation, financial condition, resodtoperations, and cash flows will be affec

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies involve a greater degree of judgment andplexity than our other accounting
policies. Accordingly, these are the policies whdwe are the most critical to understanding aralw@ating our consolidated financial condition
and results of operations. Our accounting polieiesmore fully described in Note 2 of the notesuoaudited consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie agreements, and government grants. Our prozigstue consists of sales of
instruments and related services, and consumabtdgding IFCs, assays, and other reagents.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesviave been rendered, the price
to the customer is fixed or determinable, and ctdleility is reasonably assured. Revenue from &hessof our products that are not part of
multiple element arrangements are recognized whbesignificant obligation remains undelivered antlesttion is reasonably assured, which is
generally when delivery has occurred. Delivery asauhen there is a transfer of title and risk aslpasses to the customer. Payments receiv
in advance of revenue recognition are classifiedederred revenue in the consolidated balance sheet

The evaluation of these revenue recognition cetegquires significant management judgment. Fdant®, we use judgment to assess
collectability based on factors such as the cust@neeeditworthiness and past collection histofy, i
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applicable. If we determine that collection is redsonably assured, revenue recognition is defemgldreceipt of payment. We also use
judgment to assess whether a price is fixed orghét@ble by, among other things, reviewing contratterms and conditions related
payment.

Certain of our sales contracts involve the delivafrynultiple products or services within contradtydinding arrangements. Multiple-
deliverable sales transactions typically consighefsale and delivery of one or more instruments@nsumables together with one or more c
our installation, training and/or customer suppenvices. Significant judgment is sometimes reglicedetermine the appropriate accounting
for such arrangements, including whether the dedivies specified in a multiple element arrangerstotild be treated as separate units of
accounting for revenue recognition purposes argh,ihow the related sales price should be alldcateong the elements, when to recognize
revenue for each element, and the period over wigiebnue should be recognized.

For sales contracts that include multiple deliverajowe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of
accounting based upon their relative selling pri¥ée may use our best estimate of selling pricéndividual deliverables when vendor
specific objective evidence or third-party eviderscanavailable. A delivered item is considerethéoa separate unit of accounting when it has
value to the customer on a stand-alone basis.

Our products, other than for service contractsdalizered within a short time frame, generallyhiiitone to three months, of the conti
date. Service contracts are entered into for teriasie to three years, following the expiratiorttoé warranty period.

Our products are sold without the right of retukncruals are provided for estimated warranty expsra the time the associated revenu
is recognized. We use judgment to estimate thesei@s and, if we were to experience an increaseimanty claims or if costs of servicing
our products under warranty were greater than stimates, our cost of product revenue could be raéWeaffected in future periods.

We have entered into license agreements with gartles that generally provide us with up-front aediodic milestone payments.
Revenue from license agreements is generally réoegnvhen received, upfront payments are generadlggnized over the term of the
underlying agreement and milestone payments arergiynrecognized based upon the achievement ahilestones as defined in the
agreement.

We receive grants from various governmental estfiie research and related activities. Grants pievuis with payments for certain types
of research and development activities performext awcontractually defined period. Grant revenuedésgnized in the period during which
related costs are incurred, provided that the ¢mmdi under which the grants were provided have loeet and we have only perfunctory
obligations outstanding. Amounts received in adeanicrevenue recognition are classified as defaeednue in the consolidated balance
sheets. Costs associated with grants are includezsearch and development expenses in the coatsalidtatements of operations.

Changes in judgments and estimates regarding apiplicof these revenue recognition guidelines dsasechanges in facts and
circumstances could result in a change in the inoinamount of revenue recognized in future periods

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receaiverchange for an award of equity instrumentsyigiclg stock options and restricted
stock units, based on the grant date fair valub@fward. The fair value of options on the graateds estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, which requires the use ota&i@rsubjective assumptions, including expectenhteolatility, risk-free interest rate and the
fair value of our common stock. These assumpti@merplly require significant judgment. Stock-basemhpensation cost for restricted stock
units granted to employees is measured based atafiag fair market value of our common stock loa date of grant.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditians, restrictions related to the grant of stockasiand restricted stock units, including
the number of shares underlying the grants angdkging criteria. With respect to performance-bastedk options, depending on the extent tc
which the vesting criteria are met, our board oécliors determines the number of shares that velgruhe grants.

The resulting costs of our equity awards, net tifreted forfeitures, are recognized over the pedodng which an employee is required
to provide service in exchange for the award, ugw@atime-based vesting period. We amortize theviaiue of stock-based compensation on a
straight-line basis over the requisite serviceqasi For performance-based stock options, we répegtock-based compensation over the
requisite service periods using the accelerateitbation method.

Our common stock has a limited trading history lisezour common stock was not publicly traded uniilinitial public offering, or IPC
in February 2011. Accordingly, the expected valgtibf our common stock is derived from the
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historical volatilities of several unrelated puldiempanies within the life science industry. Whelesting our industry peer companies, we
consider our stage of development, size, and fiahleverage. These historical volatilities are gl#ed based on certain qualitative factors an
combined to produce a single volatility factor. Tiek-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Tmgageld in effect at the time of grant for zero
coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities apprexéty equal to each grant’s expected life. We esttinthe expected lives of employee
options using the “simplified” method as the midgaif the expected time-to-vest and the contradtrah.

The calculated fair value of our stock options dathhange significantly if we determine that anotinethod is more reasonable, or if
another method for calculating these input assuwomptis prescribed by authoritative guidance. Higludatility and longer expected lives result
in an increase in stock-based compensation exmieemined at the date of grant. Stock-based cosapen expense affects our cost of
product revenue, research and development expandeselling, general and administrative expense.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsbfsbur actual forfeitures and we will continuest@luate the appropriateness of the
forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experggranalysis of employee turnover behavior, andrdctors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafgatfon reported stock-based compensation expasgbe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate is recognized in the period the forfeituréneate is changed. If a revised forfeiture rateighbr than the previously estimated forfeiture
rate, an adjustment is made that will result ireardase to the stock-based compensation expergmised in the consolidated financial
statements. If a revised forfeiture rate is lovamt the previously estimated forfeiture rate, gnstchent is made that will result in an increase
to the stock-based compensation expense recoginized consolidated financial statements. The efiééorfeiture adjustments was
insignificant during 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 . Wé wontinue to use judgment in evaluating the expeéderm, volatility, and forfeiture rate
related to our stock-based compensation.

Also required to compute the fair value calculatidoptions is the fair value of the underlying aoon stock. We grant stock options at
exercise prices not less than the fair value ofoounmon stock at the date of grant. Prior to o@,|Bur board of directors obtained
contemporaneous valuations from an unrelated thairtly valuation firm to determine the estimated falue of common stock. There is
inherent uncertainty in these estimates and if wh@ valuation firm had made different assumptjohe amount of our stock-based
compensation expense, net loss, and net loss asr amounts could have been significantly differBotlowing the completion of our IPO in
February 2011, the fair value of options granteliised on the closing price of our common stoctherdate of grant as quoted on the
NASDAQ Global Select Marke

Historically, certain of our stock options were igied to officers with vesting acceleration featurased upon the achievement of certain
performance milestones. The timing of the attainneéthese milestones affected the timing of expaesognition since we recognize
compensation expense only for the portion of stutions that are expected to vest.

We recorded stock-based compensation of $20.9omi)l56.4 million, and $4.1 million during 2014Q138 , and 2012 , respectively. As
of December 31, 2014 , we have $29.8 million chltonhrecognized compensation cost related to dbaslked compensation arrangements t
expected to be recognized over an average periddofears.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accounintome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabiléiesrecognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betweefirthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective
tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesvaasured using enacted tax rates expected to tpfaxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recowaredttled. Significant management judgment isirequn determining our provision for
income taxes, our deferred tax assets and lias)iind any valuation allowance recorded againsdeferred tax assets. Our provision for
income taxes generally consists of tax expensefibeekated to current period earnings/losses. &g pf the process of preparing our
consolidated financial statements, we continuoasiyitor the circumstances impacting the expectatizagion of our deferred tax assets for
each jurisdiction. We consider all available evidenincluding historical operating results in epgaifsdiction, expectations and risks associate
with estimates of future taxable income, and ongqrudent and feasible tax planning strategiessessing the need for a valuation allows
To the extent a deferred tax asset cannot be rezatyra valuation allowance is established to redue deferred tax assets to the amount tha
is more likely than not to be realized. These defttax assets primarily consist of net operatissg lcarryforwards, research and development
tax credits, and stock-based compensation. Wedrttemaintain this valuation allowance until suffist evidence exists to support its
reduction. Our deferred tax liabilities primarilgresist of book and tax basis differences in fixeskess and acquired identifiable intangible
assets. We make estimates and judgments abouttave taxable income that are based on assumptiahare consistent with our plans and
estimates. Should the actual amounts differ fromestimates, the amount of our valuation allowatméd be materially impacted. Changes in
these estimates may result in significant increase®ecreases to our tax provision in a periodliictv such estimates are changed, which in
turn would affect net income or loss.
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We recognize the financial statement effects axapsition when it is more likely than not, basedthe technical merits, that the
position will be sustained upon examination. Anteest and penalties related to uncertain tax ipositvill be reflected in the income tax
provision.

We have not provided for U.S. federal and staterime taxes on any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ stntuted earnings as of December
31, 2014 because such earnings are intended tabériitely reinvested. Upon distribution of su@rm@ngs in the form of dividends or
otherwise, we believe there will be no material Uefleral and state income tax liability as theeesafficient amount of tax losses or other
attributes. Undistributed earnings of our foreigbsidiaries amounted to approximately $0.8 millias of December 31, 2014. If these earning
were to be repatriated, approximately $30,000 d¢filndlding taxes may be due. However, since suchidiabies’ earnings are permanently
reinvested, no related deferred tax liabilitiesevaccrued as of December 31, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. The Pioneer TaxSallowed a full exemption
from Singapore corporate tax related to contragtufacturing activities through the effective persubject to the achievement of certain
milestones. We have not benefited from the tax gtiem through December 31, 2014. Per discussiotistivé Singapore government, we
expect our tax incentives under the Pioneer TatuSta be terminated, effective as of December2814. Effective January 1, 2015, we
obtained a Development and Expansion Incentive flerSingapore government, which provides a redteoedate for qualifying income in
Singapore through 2019, if certain milestones agé m

I nventory Valuation

We record adjustments to inventory for potentiatkgess, obsolete, slow-moving, or impaired goodsder to state inventory at its net
realizable value. The business environment in whieloperate is subject to rapid changes in teclgyadmd customer demand. We regularly
review inventory for excess and obsolete produstsamponents, taking into account product lifeleyd development plans, product
expiration and quality issues, historical expereerand our current inventory levels. If actual neardonditions are less favorable than
anticipated, additional inventory adjustments ccaddrequired.

Business Combinations

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as patfsiness acquisition are generally recordededt fir value at the date of acquisition.
The excess of purchase price over the fair valiasséts acquired and liabilities assumed is redoadegoodwill. Determining fair value of
identifiable assets, particularly intangibles, éiatilities acquired also requires management tkarestimates, which are based on all availabl
information and in some cases assumptions witheggp the timing and amount of future revenuesexpnses associated with an asset.
Accounting for business acquisitions requires manant to make judgments as to whether a purchassairtion is a multiple element
contract, meaning that it includes other transaatiemponents such as a settlement of a preexigiationship. This judgment and
determination affects the amount of consideratiaid phat is allocable to assets and liabilitiesuiregl in the business purchase transaction.

Long-lived Assets, including Goodwill

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite kvare not subject to amortization, but are testeéhfpairment on an annual basis dur
the fourth quarter or whenever events or changesdnmstances indicate the carrying amount ofdtessets may not be recoverable. We firs
conduct an assessment of qualitative factors wraébe whether it is more likely than not that taie value of our reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount. If we determine that it is mokely than not that the fair value of our reportingjt is less than its carrying amount, we then
conduct a two-step test for impairment of goodwiilthe first step, we compare the fair value aof @porting unit to its carrying values. If the
fair values of our reporting unit exceeds the dagwalue of the net assets, goodwill is not coasd impaired and no further analysis is
required. If the carrying values of the net asegteed the fair values of the reporting unit, tttensecond step of the impairment test must be
performed in order to determine the implied failueaof the goodwill. If the carrying value of theagwill exceeds the implied fair value, then
an impairment loss equal to the difference woulddm®rded.

We evaluate our finite lived intangible assetsifiicators of possible impairment when events @angfes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverday indicator of impairment exists, we assé&srecoverability of the affected intangible
assets by determining whether the carrying valub@fisset can be recovered through undiscountec foperating cash flows. If impairment
is indicated, we estimate the asset’s fair valueguiiture discounted cash flows associated wighuke of the asset, and adjust the carrying
value of the asset accordingly.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents our historical condated statements of operations data for the yeaisdeDecember 31, 2014 , 2013, and
2012, and as a percentage of total revenue faiegmective years ($ in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2014 2013 2013 2012 2012

Revenue:

Total revenue $ 116,45t 10C% $ 71,18 10C% $ 52,33¢ 10C %
Costs and expenses:

Cost of product revenue 42,84¢ 37 20,20« 29 15,32t 29

Research and development 43,42: 37 19,95: 28 16,60: 32

Selling, general and administrative 71,32« 62 48,41 68 38,47¢ 74

Litigation settlement — — 1,267 1 — —

Acquisition-related expenses 10,69¢ 9 — — — —
Total costs and expenses 168,29. 14& 89,83t 12¢ 70,40¢ 13t
Loss from operations (51,83¢) (45) (18,657 (26) (18,077 (39)
Interest expense (5,349 (4) (14 — (62¢) @
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 332 1 1,771 2 — —
Other income (expense), net (857) (@0} 501 1 (189) —
Loss before income taxes (57,70% (49 (16,389 (23) (18,889 (36)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 4,87¢ 4 (137) — (13¢) —
Net loss $ (52,83() (45 $ (16,520 (23) $ (19,029 (36)

Revenue

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie agreements, and government grants. Our proxigstue consists of sales of
instruments and related services, and consumabtdgding IFCs, assays, and other reagents. We éatezed into license agreements and
have received government grants to conduct reseattilevelopment activities.

The following table presents our revenue by sofoceach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue:

Instruments $69,07° $41,05! $29,15:

Consumables 46,83¢ 29,14t 22,33¢
Product revenue 115,91! 70,19¢ 51,48¢
License revenue 32: 327 18t
Grant revenue 21¢€ 65€ 661

Total revenue $116,45! $71,18: $52,33¢

The following table presents our product revenugdgygraphy and as a percentage of total produehtevby geography based on the
billing address of our customers for each periasented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $59,13: 51% $36,30¢ 52% $27,32¢ 53%
Europe 33,04¢ 2%% 18,47 26%  13,08¢ 26%
Asia Pacific 12,87¢ 11% 6,56¢ 9% 6,321 12%
Japan 6,932 6% 6,63¢ 1C% 3,84( 7%
Other 3,921 3% 2,21t 3% 91¢€ 2%

Total $115,91! 100% $70,19¢ 1009% $51,48¢ 100%
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Our license and grant revenue is primarily gendrate¢he United States.

Our customers include academic research institsiticimical laboratories, pharmaceutical, biotedbgg and Ag-Bio companies
worldwide. Total revenue from our five largest amsers in each of the periods presented compriséd 18%, and 17% of revenue in 2014 ,
2013, and 2012, respectively.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 afecember 31, 2013
Total Revenue

Total revenue increase d by $45.3 million , or 64%$116.5 million for 2014 , compared to $71.2lion for 2013 primarily due to an
overall growth in our business, including revenuangh for both instruments and consumables. Revénoune the sale of CyTOF 2 systems
related consumables following our acquisition of ®8ciences, Inc., or DVS, in February 2014, contatl $20.7 million to total revenue in
2014. This growth in revenues was impacted by galyaunfavorable foreign exchange rate trendshierytear 2014 and in particular during
fourth quarter of 2014. This had an unfavorabledotmn revenues of approximately 3% during thetfoguarter of 2014. We expect this tre
of unfavorable exchange rates to continue to hawegative impact on our revenues during 2015.

Product Revenue
Product revenue increase d by $45.7 million , &66%0 $115.9 million for 2014 , compared to $76#lion for 2013 .

Instrument revenue increased by $28.0 million6&¥o , primarily driven by sales of our CyTOF 2 gyss which we commenced selling
upon the acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc. or D¥SJ net increases in unit sales of our preparaystems, which include the C1 Single-Cell
Auto Prep system, and to a lesser extent, netasesein unit sales of our analytical systems. Hightes of service offerings, including service
related to CyTOF 2 systems, also contributed tartbeease in instrument revenue. Instrument revemowth, excluding contribution from the
acquired CyTOF 2 system, was 30% for 2014 compar@®13 .

Consumables revenue increased by $17.7 millior6166 , primarily due to growth in overall IFC umilume, driven mainly by
increased sales to production genomics customeastosa lesser extent, contribution from the aapintibody consumables sales and
increased sales to other genomics customers. Caidesrevenue growth, excluding revenue attribetéibthe acquired operations of DVS,
was 44% for 2014 compared to 2013 . Annualized pEiGthrough for our genomics analytical and prepary systems was within our
historical range of $40,000 to $50,000 per systach%10,000 to $15,000 per system, respectively uatired consumables pull-through for
our proteomics analytical systems was above itetigsl range of $50,000 to $70,000 per system. pE{Gthrough is determined by dividing
the applicable IFC revenue for a specific periodh®/number of genomics analytical or preparatgsgesns, as applicable, in our installed t
at the beginning of the period. Similarly, consuiealpull-through for proteomics analytical systamdetermined by dividing the related
consumables revenue for a specific period by thmabmar of proteomics analytical systems in our instBbase at the beginning of the period.
The IFC and consumables pull-through amounts amaaized by multiplying the pull-through amountsdyatio, the numerator of which
equals 12 and the denominator of which equals tineber of months in the specific period.

We expect total unit sales of both instruments @rsumables to increase over time as we continueftarts to grow our customer ba
expand our geographic market coverage, and lauaetpnoducts. However, we expect the average sqiliings of our products to fluctuate
over time based on market conditions, product i currency fluctuations.

Grant and License Revenue

Grant revenue consists of a grant from the Califohnstitute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM). Gragvenue was $0.2 million and
$0.7 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively. OuR®1 grant was awarded in 2011 in the amount of &iilBon to be earned over a three-year
period, which ended in April 2014. The CIRM graetenue was recognized as the related researcheartbdment services were performed
and costs associated with the grants were recagjazeesearch and development expense during tiog jrecurred.

License revenue was $0.3 million in both 2014 abt32
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Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Cost of product revenue $ 42,84¢ % 20,20«
Product margin 63% 71%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingscimgturred in the production process, including ponent materials, labor and
overhead, installation, packaging, and deliverytsda addition, cost of product revenue includemsgization of developed technology, roy:
costs for licensed technologies included in oudpots, warranty, service, provisions for slow-mgvand obsolete inventory, and stock-based
compensation expense. Costs related to licensgramt revenue are included in research and developexpense.

Cost of product revenue increase d by $22.6 million112% , to $42.8 million for 2014 from $20.2lion for 2013 . Cost of product
revenue for 2014 includes $10.7 million of amotiiza of acquired intangible assets and inventonyvfalue write-up resulting from our
acquisition of DVS with no corresponding charge2®i 3. Cost of product revenue as a percentagelaied revenue was 37% (including 9
percentage points related primarily to amortizatbacquired intangible assets and inventory falisg write-up) and 29% for 2014 and 2013 ,

respectively.

Excluding the impact of the acquisitisalated costs, overall product margins improveaiy percentage point as the product margir
both our instruments and consumables increasesktdffy a shift in the sales mix from consumabldagtyuments, which have comparatively

lower product margins.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013

Research and development $ 43,42: $ 19,95:
Selling, general and administrative 71,32« 48,41:
Litigation settlement — 1,267
Acquisition-related expenses $ 10,69¢ $ —
Total operating expenses $ 125,44 $ 69,63:

Research and Development
Research and development expense consists prinaplgrsonnel and independent contractor cost$ofyme and material expenses and
other allocated facilities, and information teclogpt expenses. We have made substantial investimergsearch and development since our
inception. Our research and development effortg fiasused primarily on enhancing our technologres supporting development and
commercialization of new and existing products sexvices.

Research and development expense was $43.4 nfili®014 , an increase of $23.5 million , or 1188bmpared to $20.0 million for
2013 . The increase in research and developmeensgpvas primarily due to an increase in headamohbther compensation-related costs o
$15.5 million, an increase in lab supplies and papeint costs of $5.1 million, increase in facilitretated expense of $1.7 million, and an
increase in outside services of $1.1 million. Theseeased costs were primarily driven by the agitjon of DVS and in support of our
development and commercialization of new and engsiroducts and services.

We believe that our continued investment in redeard development is essential to our long-termpaiditive position and these
expenses will increase in future periods.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense canpistarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development,
finance, legal, human resources and general marageas well as professional services, such as$ &gbaccounting services.
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Selling, general and administrative expense ineree®22.9 million , or 47% , to $71.3 million fod24 , compared to $48.4 million for
2013 . The increase was primarily attributableighir headcount and other compensation-related c6€t13.2 million, increases in legal,
accounting and other professional services of 88ln, trade shows and other marketing expen$&2@ million, integration expenses of
$1.3 million, and other expenses of $0.6 milliohe$e increases were primarily driven by the actisof DVS, the expansion of worldwide
commercial capabilities and, to a lesser extenterd and administrative expense to support ountiroNe expect selling, general and
administrative expense to increase in future perasiwe continue to grow our sales, technical stpparketing, and administrative
headcount, support increased product sales, braaderustomer base, and incur additional costsippart our expanding global footprint and
the overall growth in our business.

Litigation Settlement

From time to time, we may be subject to variouslggoceedings and claims arising in the ordinanyrse of business. We assess
contingencies to determine the degree of probgllid range of possible loss for potential acciualr financial statements. An estimated
loss contingency is accrued in the financial statetsif it is probable that a liability has beeaunred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated.

Pursuant to the terms of a patent cross licensseagnt with Applied Biosystems, LLC (a subsidiaiy.ife Technologies Corporation,
or Life, and now part of Thermo Fisher Scientifisle were obligated to make a $1.0 million paymeritife upon satisfaction of
certain conditions. We do not believe that the @ims triggering the payment obligation have bewet; however, on October 16, 2013, Life
provided notice that the $1.0 million payment was dnd payable under the license agreement. Weeaterloss contingency of $1.0 million
as of September 30, 2013 and on January 30, 2@ gaid Life the amount due while reserving our tsghith respect to the matter. Among
other reasons, we made the payment to avoid whalidwmave been, in our view, an improper terminatibour license to certain Life patent
filings under the agreement, which could have stbptour relevant product lines to risks associatigld patent infringement litigation.

Acquisition-Related Expenses

Acquisition-related expenses were $10.7 millionZ664 and primarily included accelerated vestingasfain DVS restricted stock and
options, and consulting, legal, and investment banfees.

Interest Expense and Other I ncome and Expense, Net
The following table presents these items for eafiod presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Interest expense $ (5,349 $ (14)
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 332 1,77
Other income (expense), net (857) 501
Total $ (5,869 $ 2,26¢

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwrittenipuiflering of $201.3 million aggregate principahaunt of our 2.75% Senior
Convertible Notes due 2034, or the Notes. The Natesue interest at a rate of 2.75% per year, paysmi-annually in arrears on February 1
and August 1 of each year, commencing August 14 20ke Notes will mature on February 1, 2034, wkslier converted, redeemed, or
repurchased in accordance with the terms of thedot

Interest expense increase d to $5.3 million for”20dompared to $14,000 for 2013 due to interegérse under the terms of the Notes,
which were issued in the first quarter of 2014, ambrtization of debt discount related to the Notes

In February 2013, lllumina, Inc. acquired Verinkt@alth, Inc. (Verinata) for $350 million in cashdamp to an additional $100 million in
milestone payments through 2015. In March 2013regeived cash proceeds of $3.1 million in exch&ngeur ownership interest in Verina
resulting in a gain of $1.8 million. If the milest® payments become payable in the future, we gegleive up to $3.2 million in additional
proceeds. During 2014, we received cash procee#8.8fmillion from the escrow account related toiWata. We recorded the proceeds as
"Gain from sale of investment in Verinata" in tteeampanying consolidated statements of operationthé year ended December 31, 2014.

Other expense, net increased by $1.4 million ferythar ended December 31, 2014 compared to ottemiz, net of $0.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. In 2013, the incoasedue primarily to a gain resulting from settletaflitigation filed by us agains
NanoString Technologies, Inc. In 2014, the othgremse is primarily due to the forei
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exchange losses resulting mainly from unfavorahbnges in the Euro and Japanese Yen exchangelatiee to the U.S. dollar.

Benefit from | ncome Taxes

We recorded a tax benefit of $4.9 million, or afeefive tax rate benefit of 8.5%, for the year ehecember 31, 2014. The tax benefit
for the year ended December 31, 2014 was primatiijpbutable to the amortization of our acquisiti@hated deferred tax liability and net
income tax benefit from our foreign operations egldase of valuation allowance on California defértax assets, as a result of the deferre
liability related to its acquired intellectual peapy. We recorded tax expense of $0.1 million far year ended December 31, 2013.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 afkcember 31, 2012
Total Revenue

Total revenue increased by $18.8 million, or 368471.2 million for 2013 , compared to $52.3 millifor 2012 primarily due to product
revenue.

Product Revenue
Product revenue increased by $18.7 million, or 3&82470.2 million for 2013 , compared to $51.5 maill for 2012 .

Instrument revenue increased by $11.9 million, 4 primarily driven by increases in unit sale®of preparatory systems, which
include our C1 Single-Cell Auto Prep system, firskd as a new product in the third quarter of 2@t®i to a lesser extent, increases in unit
sales of our Biomark HD system. Increased salesioervice offerings and higher average sellingggrof our instrument systems also
contributed to the increase in instrument reveibe. revenue increase was offset in part by lowéraates of our EP1 system.

Consumables revenue increased by $6.8 millionpé6,3rimarily due to growth in overall IFC unit wwhe, driven mainly by increased
sales to production genomics customers. Annualiz€dpull-through for our analytical systems washwitour historical range of $40,000 to
$50,000 per system and above our historical rah§ @000 to $15,000 per system for preparatorjesys. Going forward, we expect IFC
pull-through for our preparatory systems to ramgenf$15,000 to $25,000 per system per year. Ineseimsassays and reagents sales also
contributed to the increase in consumables revenue.

We expect total unit sales of both instruments@rsumables to increase over time as we continueftarts to grow our customer ba
expand our geographic market coverage, and lauaetpnoducts. However, we expect the average sqiliings of our products to fluctuate
over time based on market conditions, product i currency fluctuations.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of a grant from CIRM. Gramenue was $0.7 million in each of 2013 and 2@L2. CIRM grant was awarded in
2011 in the amount of $1.9 million to be earnedravthree-year period. The CIRM grant revenuedsgeized as the related research and
development services are performed and costs assdavith the grants are recognized as researcharelopment expense during the period
incurred.

Cost of Product Revenue

The following table presents our cost of produgeraue and product margin for each period presgimetiousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Cost of product revenue $ 20,20¢ $ 15,32t
Product margin 71% 70%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingsciosiurred in the production process, including porrent materials, labor and
overhead, installation, packaging, and deliverytsda addition, cost of product revenue includggity costs for licensed technologies
included in our products, warranty, service, privis for slow-moving and obsolete inventory, aratktbased compensation expense. Costs
related to license and grant revenue are includedsearch and development expense.

Cost of product revenue increased by $4.9 mill@r32%, to $20.2 million for 2013 from $15.3 millidor 2012 primarily due to
increased product revenue. Cost of product revasuepercentage of related revenue was 29% and@®013 and 2012, respectively. This
improvement was driven by higher average unitrsglfirices for instruments and IFCs; a
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favorable change in the instruments sales mix pilyndue to increased sales of our higher margirs@item, first sold as a new product in the
third quarter of 2012; and higher IFC capacityizailion and improved production yields. This wasef in part primarily by higher inventory
reserves and write-offs and higher service costs.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Research and development $ 19,95: $ 16,60:
Selling, general and administrative 48,41: 38,47¢
Litigation settlement 1,267 —
Total operating expenses $ 69,63: $ 55,08(

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists priméplrsonnel and independent contractor cost$otyfe and material expenses and
other allocated facilities, and information tectogy expenses. We have made substantial investimergsearch and development since our
inception. Our research and development efforte iawused primarily on enhancing our technologies supporting development and
commercialization of new and existing products sedlices.

Research and development expense was $20.0 nfilic®013 , an increase of $3.4 million, or 20%, pamed to $16.6 million for 2012 .
The increase in research and development experspnmaarily due to an increase in headcount andratbmpensation-related costs of $2.2
million, an increase in facility expenses of $0.iflion, and an increase in outside services of $0ilon. These increased costs were in
support of our development and commercializationesf and existing products and services.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense canpistarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development,
finance, legal, human resources and general marageas well as professional services, such as$ &gbaccounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&9.9 million, or 26%, to $48.4 million for 2018ompared to $38.5 million for
2012 . The increase was primarily due to headcandtother compensation-related costs of $7.1 mijlligher sales and marketing activities
of $1.1 million, and an increase in legal fees @Bdmillion. The increase was primarily driven bypansion of worldwide commercial
capabilities and, to a lesser extent, general dndrastrative expense to support our growth.

Litigation Settlement

From time to time, we may be subject to variouslggoceedings and claims arising in the ordinanyrse of business. We assess
contingencies to determine the degree of probgllid range of possible loss for potential acciualr financial statements. An estimated
loss contingency is accrued in the financial statetsif it is probable that a liability has beeauned and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated.

Pursuant to the terms of a patent cross licensseaggnt with Life, we were obligated to make a $iillon payment to Life upon
satisfaction of certain conditions. We do not badi¢hat the conditions triggering the payment ddilgn have been met; however, on October
16, 2013, Life provided notice that the $1.0 millpayment was due and payable under the licenseragréeWe accrued a loss contingenc
$1.0 million as of September 30, 2013 and on JanB@y 2014, we paid Life the amount due while reiser our rights with respect to the
matter. Among other reasons, we made the paymenoid what would have been, in our view, an imgrdaermination of our license to
certain Life patent filings under the agreementiclvitould have subjected our relevant product lioassks associated with patent
infringement litigation.
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Interest Expense, Gain From Sale of Investment in Verinata, and Other I ncome and Expense, Net
The following table presents these items for eamfiod presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Interest expense $ 14) $ (628)
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 1,77 —
Other income (expense), net 501 (18¢9)
Total $ 2,26 $ (817)

Interest expense decreased $614,000, or 98%, t0CKLfbr 2013 , compared to $628,000 for 2012Séptember 2012, we paid the
remaining balance due under our long-term debtofdingly, we did not incur any interest expensdang-term debt during 2013 .

In February 2013, lllumina, Inc. acquired Verinkt@alth, Inc., or Verinata, for $350 million in caahd up to an additional $100 million
in milestone payments through 2015. In March 20d8received cash proceeds of $3.1 million in exgedor our ownership interest in
Verinata, resulting in a gain of $1.8 million. et milestone payments become payable in the futtgesould receive up to $3.2 million in
additional proceeds. The $1.8 million gain we retpgd did not include any amounts that may be veckupon the achievement of future
milestones.

Other income, net increased $0.7 million to $0.8iom for 2013 , compared to other expense, né&® million for 2012 primarily
because of the $0.6 million gain resulting frontlsatent of litigation filed by us against NanoStriiechnologies, Inc., partially offset by net
foreign exchange losses resulting primarily fronfennrable change in the Japanese Yen exchangeetatiwe to the U.S. dollar.

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwrittenipuffering of $201.3 million aggregate principahaunt of our 2.75% Senior
Convertible Notes due 2034. The Notes accrue istt@rtea rate of 2.75% per year, payable semi-ahnuarrears on February 1 and August 1
of each year, commencing August 1, 2014. The Nweiésnature on February 1, 2034, unless earlienvested, redeemed, or repurchased in
accordance with the terms of the Notes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2014 , our principal sourcelofdity consisted of $33.7 million of cash andshaequivalents and $109.1 million of
short-term and long-term investments. As of DecarBtie2014 , our working capital (excluding deférrevenue, current portion) totaled
$133.4 million .

The following table presents our cash flow sumnfaryeach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flow summary
Net cash used in operating activities $  (22,62) % (159) $ (17,479
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (178,38 (27,56%) 14,00:
Net cash provided by financing activities 200,32t 5,80¢ 48,52:
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (1,54¢) (23,389 45,09¢

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

We derive cash flows from operations primarily froash collected from the sale of our productspbeeagreements, and grants from
certain government entities. Our cash flows frorarafing activities are also significantly influeddey our use of cash for operating expenses
and working capital to support the growth of ousibess. We have historically experienced negatigh ¢lows from operating activities as we
have expanded our business and built our infrastreclomestically and internationally, and this neaptinue in the future.

Net cash used in operating activities was $22.6anil $1.6 million , and $17.5 million in 2014023 , and 2012 , respectively. Net cask
used in operating activities during 2014 resultednfa net loss of $52.8 million , adjusted for #38iillion in non-cash charges and a $7.8
million increase in net operating assets. Significaon-cash charges included stock-based compensatpense, depreciation and
amortization, amortization of developed technolagyl acquisition-related
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share-based awards acceleration expense. Thearggen assets and liabilities was driven primanhhigher inventory and accounts
receivables offset by a net increase in operataiglities. Cash used in operating activities imtgd $8.0 million of cash outflows related to the
DVS acquisition.

Net cash used in operating activities during 2@&ilted from a net loss of $16.5 million, adjudt@ad$7.5 million in non-cash charges
and a $7.4 million decrease in net operating asSaasificant non-cash charges included stock-basetbensation expense, and depreciation
and amortization. The net change in assets anititiedwas driven primarily by an increase in deéel revenue and other liabilities.

Net cash used in operating activities during 2@&ited from a net loss of $19.0 million adjusted$6.3 million in non-cash charges
and a $4.8 million increase in net operating as&mificant non-cash charges included stock-basetbensation expense and depreciation
and amortization. The net change in assets anilitiedwas driven primarily by higher inventory&accounts receivables.

Net Cash (used in) provided by I nvesting Activities

Our primary investing activities consist of purchassales, and maturities of our short-term ang-tenm investments and to a much
lesser extent, capital expenditures for manufaagyilaboratory, computer equipment and softwaufgport our expanding infrastructure and
work force. We expect to continue to expand our ufecturing capability, including improvements inmougacturing productivity, and expect
incur additional costs for capital expendituresited to these efforts in future periods. In additiwe expect to continue to incur costs for
capital expenditures for demonstration units amhér equipment to support our sales and servioetefand computer equipment and softv
to support our growth.

Net cash used in investing activities was $178#ianiand $27.6 million in 2014 and 2013 respediivand net cash provided by
investing activities was $14.0 million in 2012.

We used $178.4 million of cash in investing atiéés during 2014, including $113.2 million in comrtien with the DVS acquisition, net
of acquired cash of $8.4 million classified as caséd in operating activities; purchases of invesitsiof $132.6 million; capital expenditures
of $7.4 million primarily to support growth in oaranufacturing operations; partially offset by prede from sales and maturities of
investments of $74.5 million; and additional prageef $0.3 million from the 2013 sale of our invesht in Verinata.

We used $27.6 million of cash in investing actastiduring 2013 primarily for purchases of investtaai $59.4 million; purchase of
intangible assets from Helicos Biosciences Corpamadnd related transaction costs of $1.2 milljparchases of capital equipment of $3.4
million to support growth in our commercial and ragacturing operations; partially offset by proceéwsn sales and maturities of investments
of $33.4 million; and proceeds from the sale of iowestment in Verinata of $3.1 million.

We generated $14.0 million of cash from investintivéties during 2012 primarily from proceeds frarales and maturities of investme
of $51.8 million; partially offset by purchasesionfestments of $35.4 million; and purchases oftedgiquipment of $2.4 million to support
growth in our commercial and manufacturing opereatio

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $3Q@illion during 2014 consisting of net proceei$195.2 million from the issuance
of the Notes and proceeds received in connectitimtive exercise of options for our common stoc&®fl million.

We generated $5.8 million of cash from financingwties during 2013 from proceeds received in cetion with the exercise of optio
for our common stock.

We generated $48.5 million of cash from financiegwties during 2012 primarily from proceeds ofpapximately $56.0 million, net of
underwriting commissions and issuance costs, framuaderwritten public offering of our common stpekd proceeds of $2.7 million from
the exercise of options to purchase our commorksprtially offset by repayment of principal onrdong-term debt of $10.2 million.

Capital Resources

At December 31, 2014 , December 31, 2013, andmkee31, 2012 , our working capital, excluding defd revenues, was $133.4
million , $89.4 million , and $91.5 million, resgiaely, including cash and cash equivalents of $38illion , $35.3 million, and $58.6 million
respectively, and short-term and long-term investsief $109.1 million , $51.0 million , and $25.@lran, respectively. On February 4, 2014,
we closed an underwritten public offering of appreately $201.3 million aggregate principal amouhbor Notes and received cash proceeds
of $195.2 million, net of underwriting discountseli
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issuance costs were approximately $1.1 million.\Wed $113.2 million of the net proceeds to fundcdmh portion of the consideration
payable by us in connection with our acquisitioDofS.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents,jrarestments will be sufficient to meet our workicapital and capital expenditure
needs for at least the next 18 months. Howevemeag experience lower than expected cash genenateddperating activities or greater than
expected capital expenditures, cost of revenugerating expenses, and we may need to raise aualitapital to expand the
commercialization of our products, expand and fandoperations, further our research and developaivities, or acquire or invest in a
business. Our future funding requirements will degpen many factors, including market acceptancauofproducts, the cost of our research
and development activities, the cost of filing gmdsecuting patent applications, the cost assatiaith litigation or disputes relating to
intellectual property rights, or otherwise, thetcarsd timing of regulatory clearances or approvékny, the cost and timing of establishing
additional sales, marketing and distribution calitzs, the cost and timing of establishing additbtechnical support capabilities, and the
effect of competing technological and market depelents. In the future, we may acquire businesséscbnologies from third parties, and we
may decide to raise additional capital through adel#quity financing to the extent we believe fhisecessary to successfully complete these
acquisitions. We currently have no material comraitts or agreements relating to any such acquisition

If we require additional funds in the future, weynmt be able to obtain such funds on acceptabhesteor at all. If we raise additional
funds by issuing equity securities, our stockhadaay experience dilution. Debt financing, if ashale, may involve covenants restricting our
operations or our ability to incur additional dehhy debt or additional equity financing that wéseamay contain terms that are not favorable
to us or our stockholders. If we raise additionads through collaboration and licensing arrangdsweith third parties, it may be necessary tc
relinquish some rights to our technologies or awdpcts, or grant licenses on terms that are natréble to us. If we are unable to raise
adequate funds, we may have to liquidate somd of alr assets, or delay, reduce the scope ofirirate some or all of our development
programs. If we do not have, or are not able taiobsufficient funds, we may have to delay develept or commercialization of our products
or license to third parties the rights to comméintaproducts or technologies that we would otheenseek to commercialize. We also may
have to reduce marketing, customer support, relseard development, or other resources devotedrtproducts or cease operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not had any off-badasteet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a (heSecurities and Exchange
Commission’s Regulation S-K.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1
Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Thereafter
Debt obligations $ 306,86: $ 5,532 $ 11,06¢ $ 11,06¢ $ 279,19
Operating lease obligations 17,06¢ 3,14¢ 5,88 5,86¢ 2,171
Purchase obligations 9,12 9,12¢ — — —
Total $ 333,05¢ $ 17,80« $ 16,95¢ $ 16,93: $ 281,36

Debt obligations include the principal amount of fliotes and interest payments to be made undétdtes. Although the Notes mature
in 2034, they can be converted into cash and slud@sr common stock prior to maturity if certaionglitions are met. See Note 7 to our
consolidated financial statements for addition&iimation regarding the terms of the Notes.

Our operating lease obligations relate to a leasedr current headquarters and leases for manuiagtand office space for our foreign
subsidiaries. Purchase obligations consist of estial and legally binding commitments to purchgseds and services.

On April 9, 2013, we entered into an amendment 2BE3 Amendment) to the lease agreement datedrBkeetet, 2010 (as amended,
Lease) relating to the lease of office and laboyaspace at our headquarters located in South &artisco, California. The Amendment
provides for an expansion of the premises covengliuthe Lease to include space that is currerilygosubleased by us from a third party
through March 31, 2014; an extension of the terihefLease to April 30, 2020 with an option to nerfer an additional fiveyears; payment «
base rent with rent escalation; and payment ohtedperating expenses during the term of the Lése Amendment also provides for an
allowance of approximately $0.7 million
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for tenant improvements, which, to the extent remtduby March 31, 2015, will be used to offset bhas¢ obligations, and an additional
allowance of approximately $0.5 million for tenamfprovements, which, if used, will be repaid in agmonthly payments with interest at a
rate of 9% per annum over the remaining term eflLtbase.

On June 4, 2014, we entered into an additional dment to the Lease (the June 2014 Amendment), wirivided for an expansion of
the premises covered under the Lease by approXynEBeD00 square feet, effective October 1, 20 4/npent of base rent with rent escalation
and payment of certain operating expenses duriagettm of the Lease. The June 2014 Amendment atsaded for an allowance of
approximately $0.2 million for tenant improvememtsich, to the extent not used by March 31, 201i8,be used to offset base rent
obligations, and an additional allowance of apprately $0.1 million for tenant improvements, whidftysed, will be repaid in equal monthly
payments with interest at a rate of 9% per annuen the remaining term of the Lease. The totalrutminimum lease payments for the
additional space, which will be paid through A@20, are approximately $2.4 million as of Deceniir2014 .

On September 15, 2014, we entered into an additeoanandment to the Lease (the September 2014 Amemdimvhich provided for an
expansion of the premises covered under the Leaapgroximately 9,000 square feet, effective Oatdh014; payment of base rent with
rent escalation; and payment of certain operatikpgeses during the term of the Lease. The Septepfilier Amendment also provided for an
allowance of approximately $0.2 million for tenamiprovements. The total future minimum lease payméor the additional space, which will
be paid through April 2020, are approximately $hiion as of December 31, 2014 .

On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore Pte. lddr,wholly-owned subsidiary, Fluidigm Singaporecequted an offer of tenancy
(Lease) from HSBC Institutional Trust Services (fipore) Limited, as trustee of Ascendas Real Estatsstment Trust (Landlord), relating to
the lease of a new facility located in SingaporgsBant to the terms of the Lease, Fluidigm Singapmok possession of the facility
commencing on March 3, 2014 for a term ofrB8nths, and the Lease and rental obligations thelerucommenced on June 3, 2014. The L
also provides Fluidigm Singapore with an optiomgnew the Lease for an additional 60 months athtee prevailing market rent, and on
similar terms as the existing Lease. In June 2Bliddigm Singapore leased additional space of apprately 2,400 square feet in the same
building as the new facility on the same termshasltease. We completed the consolidation of oug&inre manufacturing operations in the
new space in July 2014 and the site qualificatias wompleted in August 2014. The leases relatimgitgrior manufacturing facility in
Singapore terminated on August 31, 2014. The fatate minimum lease payments for the new facilitpjch will be paid through June 2022,
are approximately $4.1 million as of December 312.

We obtained operating leases for facilities in M, Ontario, Canada and Sunnyvale, Californiackvbkpire in January 2016 and
July 2016, respectively, in connection with ourwaisiion of DVS (See Note 4 to our audited consatiédl financial statements for additional
information). The Canada lease includes an optiaemew the lease for an additional five yearsathen prevailing market rent, and on
similar terms as the existing lease. We recogréne eéxpense on a straight-line basis over the aoealable lease terms. The total future
minimum lease payments for the operating leas&ummyvale, California and Markham, Ontario, Cana@eapproximately $460,000 as of
December 31, 2014 .

We have entered into several license and pateatamwnts. Under these agreements, we pay annuadiceaintenance fees,
nonrefundable license issuance fees, and royalsi@spercentage of net sales for the sale or suiskcof products using the licensed
technology. Future payments related to these leeagseements have not been included in the condagbligations table above as the period
of time over which the future license payments wédlrequired to be made, and the amount of suctm@atg, are indeterminable. We do not
expect the license payments to be material in anjqoular year.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magant our financial position due to adverse chaimgé&sancial market prices and rates.
Our market risk exposure is primarily a resultlatfuations in foreign currency exchange ratesiatedest rates. We do not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As we expand internationally our results of operadiand cash flows will become increasingly subfiectuctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Our revenue isrgdip denominated in the local currency of thetcacting party. Historically, the majority
of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollaus expenses are generally denominated in threrties in which our operations are
located, which is primarily in the United Statesthaa portion of expenses incurred in Singapore @adada where our manufacturing facilities
are located. Our results of operations and casvsfire, therefore, subject to fluctuations duehimnges in foreign currency exchange rates.
The volatility of exchange rates depends on maantofa that we cannot forecast with reliable acoursiée have experienced and will continue
to experience fluctuations in our net income oslas a result of transaction gains or losses rtktateevaluing certain current asset and curren
liability balances that are denominated in curresdther than the functional currency of the ergitn which they are
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recorded. For the years ended December 31, 2012G8] we experienced foreign currency losses df 8illion and $0.5 million,
respectively. To date, we have not entered intofargign currency hedging contracts although we dhago in the future. As our international
operations grow, we will continue to reassess ppr@ach to manage our risk relating to fluctuationsurrency rates.

I nterest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash and cash equivalents of $33.7 millideaember 31, 2014 . These amounts were held plynracash on deposit with
banks and money market funds which are short-té&/emhad $109.1 million in investments at December2814 held primarily in U.S.
government agency securities. The contractual ntajperiods of $81.6 million of our investments avi¢hin one year from December 31,
2014 . The contractual maturity periods of our rignmg investments are less than eighteen montims Becember 31, 2014 . Cash and cash
equivalents and investments are held for workingtabpurposes. Due to the short-term nature cfehipvestments, we believe that we do not
have any material exposure to changes in the &irevof our investment portfolio as a result ofrides in interest rates. Declines in interest
rates, however, will reduce future investment ineothoverall interest rates had decreased by 108tig the periods presented, our interest
income would not have been materially affected.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

We do not have material exposure to market risk waspect to investments. We do not use derivéitiemcial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes. We may adopt Bpéedging strategies in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Fluidigm Corporation as of DecembefB814 and 2013, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cashdlfiw each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014. Our audits also inclugedinancial statement schedule listed in the Iratdkem 15(2). These financial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Compamanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Fluidigm Corporation at December 31, 2014 and 2@h8,the consolidated results of its operationsi@snthsh flows for each of the three ye
in the period ended December 31, 2014, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting princdpklso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when consideredatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Fluidigm
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2014, based on critergbished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 franrkjvand our report dated
February 26, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
February 26, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited Fluidigm Corporatisrinternal control over financial reporting as afdd@mber 31, 2014, based on criteria establish
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byG@oenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (2013 framework)
(the COSO criteria). Fluidigm Corporation’s manageiris responsible for maintaining effective intdroontrol over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of intezoatrol over financial reporting included in thecampanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet andbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifegfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Reponternal Control Over Financial Reporting, mgaement's assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal condradr financial reporting did not include the imel controls of DVS Sciences, Inc., which is
included in the 2014 consolidated financial statetmef Fluidigm Corporation and constituted $23illiom and $6.7 million of total and net
assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2014$20F million of revenues for the year then end2ar. audit of internal control over financial
reporting of Fluidigm Corporation also did not inde an evaluation of the internal control over ficial reporting of DVS Sciences, Inc.

In our opinion, Fluidigm Corporation maintained ath material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Fluidigm Corpora®nf December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the retatesblidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and 8asts for each of the three years in the periodeghbDecember 31, 2014 of Fluidigm
Corporation and our report dated February 26, 2Xfessed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
February 26, 2015

56




Table of Contents

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,71 % 35,26:

Short-term investments 81,58t¢ 49,08:

Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $120$8@ at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, 22,38« 10,55:

Inventories 15,99: 8,14¢

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,221 1,54(
Total current assets 155,89 104,58
Long-term investments 27,49¢ 1,94
Property and equipment, net 13,88¢ 6,81¢
Other non-current assets 3,96¢ 3,571
Developed Technology, net 102,20( —
Goodwill 104,10t —
Total assets $ 40755 $ 116,91
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 591¢ % 4,35¢

Accrued compensation and related benefits 6,87¢ 5,48t

Other accrued liabilities 9,66¢ 5,39

Deferred revenue, current portion 6,92¢ 2,721
Total current liabilities 29,38t 17,95:
Convertible notes, net 195,45! —
Deferred tax liability 26,15: —
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 4,35 1,89¢
Other non-current liabilities 1,791 651
Total liabilities 257,14( 20,50:
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shar®ared, no shares issued and outstanding atreithe — —

December 31, 2014 or 2013

Common stock: $0.001 par value, 200,000 share®andd at December 31, 2014 and 2013; 28,341 and 28 26

25,811 shares issued and outstanding at Decembh2034 and 2013, respectively

Additional paid-in capital 461,36: 354,46!

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7949 (730

Accumulated deficit (310,17 (257,34)
Total stockholders’ equity 150,41 96,41«
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 40755¢ $ 116,91

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue:
Product revenue
License revenue
Grant revenue
Total revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenue
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Litigation settlement
Acquisition-related expenses
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes
Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Shares used in computing net loss per share, aadidiluted

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
11591 $ 70,19 51,48¢
327 327 18¢
21¢ 65¢ 661
116,45( 71,18: 52,33
42,84¢ 20,20« 15,32:
43,42: 19,95: 16,60:
71,32 48,41 38,47¢
— 1,267 —
10,69¢ — —
168,29; 89,83t 70,40
(51,836 (18,652 (18,07)
(5,344 (14) (62€)
332 1,771 —
(857) 501 (18
(57,70%) (16,38¢) (18,88¢)
4,87t (137) (13€)
(52,83() (16,52) (19,02
(1.90 $ (0.65) (0.86)
27,76¢ 25,47¢ 22,13
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment

(In thousands)

Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale seém@s; net

Other comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive loss

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ (52830 $ (16,520 $ (19,029
@) 30 (19)
(62) 4
(64) 39 (15)
$ (5289) $ (16,48) $ (19,039
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated Total
Common Stock Additional Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit
Balance at December 31, 2011 20,32: $ 20 $279,42¢ $ (759 $ (221,79) $ 56,89’
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 4,20¢ 4 56,00¢ — — 56,00¢
of $3,970
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of si 58t 1 2,702 — — 2,70z
options for cash
Stock-based compensation expense — — 4,08¢ — — 4,08¢
Net loss — — — — (19,029) (19,029
Other comprehensive loss — — — (15) — (15
Balance at December 31, 2012 2511F $§ 25 $342,22. $ (769 $ (240,82) $ 100,65’
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY —(C ontinued)
(In thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2012

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options for cash

Stock-based compensation expense

Net loss

Other comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2013

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Equity
2511 $ 25 $342,22. $ (769 $ (240,82) $ 100,65
69¢€ 1 5,80¢ — — 5,80¢
— — 6,43¢ — — 6,43¢
— — — — (16,526 (16,526
— — — 39 — 3¢
2581 $ 26 $354,46' $ (7300 $ (257,34) $ 96,41«
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY —(C ontinued)

(In thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2013 2581 $ 26 $35446! $ (730) $ (257,34) $ 96,41
Issuance of common stock upon purchase of DVS 1,94¢ 2 76,80¢ 76,80"
Vested DVS stock options converted to equivale
vested options — — 4,03¢ — — 4,03¢
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options for cash and release of restricted stodlsun  58E — 5,11z — — 5,11z
Stock-based compensation expense — — 20,94( — — 20,94(
Net loss — — — — (52,83() (52,830)
Other comprehensive loss — — — (64) — (64)
Balance at December 31, 2014 28,34: % 28 $461,36. $ (794 $ (310,17) $ 150,41

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Acquisition-related share-based awards acceleratippnse
Amortization of developed technology
Non-cash charges for sale of inventory revalugti@tiate of acquisition
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisition, net of cash acquired
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Proceeds from sale of investment in Verinata
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ois=sicosts
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from line of credit
Repayment of line of credit
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations orhcasd cash equivalents
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Issuance of common stock and options related taisitign

See accompanying notes.

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ (52830 $ (16,520 $ (19,029
4,061 2,551 2,191
20,94( 6,43¢ 4,08¢
2,64¢ — —
9,80( — —
85¢€ — —

83 29¢ 26

(332) 1,777 —
(3,399 2,41 (3,70
(6,162) (1,539 (1,68)
(52) (882) 201

107 1,80z (1,815
3,191 1,64( 44¢
(1,540 3,98¢ 1,79(
(22,629 (1,59)) (17,47%
(113,190 — —
(132,64 (59,43¢) (35,38%)
74,52( 33,44( 51,77(
332 3,117 —

— (1,240 —
(7,409 (3,446 (2,389
(178,38 (27,56%) 14,00:
195,21 — —
— — 56,00¢
5,11 5,80¢ 2,70
— — (10,190

— — 1,87

— — (1,879
200,32( 5,80¢ 48,52
(866) (39) 52

$ (1549 $ (23,38) $ 45,00
35,26 58,64¢ 13,55:
$ 3371 $ 35260 $ 58,64
$ 275 $ 703 57¢
$ 187 24 $ 181
$ 7819% $ — 3 =
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

1. Description of Business

Fluidigm Corporation (we, our, or us) was incorgiedain the State of California in May 1999 to comaiaize microfluidic technology
initially developed at the California Institute ®échnology. In July 2007, we were reincorporateBa@taware. Our headquarters are located in
South San Francisco, California.

We create, manufacture, and market innovative @olgies and life-science tools focused on the exgilon and analysis of single cells,
as well as the industrial application of genomixsed upon our core microfluidics and mass cytgmetthnologies. We sell instruments and
consumables, including integrated fluidic circ§lsCs), assays, and reagents, to academic instigjtclinical laboratories, and pharmaceut
biotechnology, and agricultural biotechnology (A@Bcompanies.

On February 13, 2014, we completed our acquisitfddVS Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation (D¥8)approximately $199.9
million and assumed all outstanding DVS stockamgiand unvested restricted stock, pursuant torgenagreement dated as of January 28,
2014.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieade been prepared in conformity with U.S. gengiadcepted accounting principles
(U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of our whallyned subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2014, wewtaally-owned subsidiaries in
Singapore, Canada, the Netherlands, Japan, Fidwecenited Kingdom, China, and Germany. All sulesiigis, except for Singapore, use their
local currency as their functional currency. Thedgapore subsidiary uses the U.S. dollar as itstimmal currency. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhsotidation.

Certain prior year amounts on the accompanying Qafsted Statements of Cash Flows have been ré@gist conform to the current
period presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accacdamith U.S. GAAP requires management to make eséisnand assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahfimal statements and accompanying notes. We hasstimates on historical experience
on various other assumptions believed to be redd®nahich together form the basis for making ju@gms about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities. Actual results could differ matdly from these estimates and could have a matadiadrse effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaried thee the local currency as their functional curyeare translated into U.S. dollars at
exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet™ateadjustments resulting from the foreign curyetnanslations are recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income/loss, a separate compohstockholderséquity. Income and expense accounts are transiat@dnthly averag
exchange rates during the year.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid financial instrumentith maturities at the time of purchase of threanths or less to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents may consist of cashpwsilevith banks, money market funds, and notes fgovernment-sponsored agencies.

Investments

Short and long-term investments are comprised t#afsom government-sponsored agencies. All investmare recorded at estimated
fair value. Any unrealized gains and losses fromegtments are reported in accumulated other coraps@fe loss, a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. We evaluate our investmentassess whether investments with unrealized losisigns are other than temporarily
impaired. An investment is considered to be othanttemporarily impaired if the impairment is rethto deterioration in credit risk or if it is
likely that we will sell the securities before tteezovery of their cost basis. No investment hasilassessed as other than temporarily impairec
and realized gains and losses were immaterial guhie years presented. The cost of securities@dite amount reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income into easri;igased on the specific-identification method.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of casid cash equivalents, investments, accounts geivaccounts payable, and
convertible notes. Our cash equivalents, investm@ucounts receivable, and accounts payable haversaturity or payment periods.
Accordingly, their carrying values approximatedittair values at December 31, 2014 and 2013 .ddrevertible notes are presented at their
carrying value, with fair value disclosures mad&lote 5. As a basis for considering fair value,fallow a three-tier value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadsdollows:

Level I: observable inputs such as quoted pricextive markets;
Level II: inputs other than quoted prices in activarkets that are observable either directly orréutly; and
Level Ill: unobservable inputs in which there ifléi or no market data, which requires us to dgvelor own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable mai&tet, when available, and to minimize the usenobgervable inputs when
determining fair value. Our cash equivalents, whichude money market funds, are classified as Lelvecause they are valued using quoted
market prices. Our investments and convertibleshate generally classified as Level Il because traue is based on valuations using
significant inputs derived from or corroborateddhbservable market data. Depending on the secthigyincome and market approaches are
used in the model driven valuations. Inputs of ¢h@®dels include recently executed transactiorepriic securities of the issuer or comparable
issuers and yield curves.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at netdawalue. We review our exposure to accounts rab&hvand provide allowances of
specific amounts if collectability is no longer seaably assured based on historical experiencepeddfic customer collection issues. We
evaluate such allowances on a regular basis andtatiem as needed.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaisredit risk consist of cash, cash equivalenigstments, and accounts receivable. Our
cash, cash equivalents, and investments may caisisposits held with banks, money market fundd, aher highly liquid investments that
may at times exceed federally insured limits. Gaghivalents and investments are financial instrum#irat potentially subject us to
concentrations of risk. Under our investment pglieg invest primarily in securities issued by th&ljovernment. The goals of our
investment policy, in order of priority, are asléols: preservation of capital, meet liquidity neeaisd optimize returns.

We generally do not require collateral to suppoetid sales. To reduce credit risk, we perform itregaluations of our customers. No
single customer represented more than 10% of tev&inue for 2014 , 2013, or 2012 , and no sing&amner represented more than 10% of
total accounts receivable at December 31, 2012008 .

Our products include components that are currgarthgured from a single source or a limited numbeyonrrces. We believe that other
vendors would be able to provide similar compondmsvever, the qualification of such vendors mayuiee start-up time. In order to mitigate
any adverse impacts from a disruption of supplyattempt to maintain an adequate supply of crifiosited-source components.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (oins& i, first-out basis) or market. Inventorieglide raw materials, work-in-process, and
finished goods. Inventory costs include direct matg, direct labor, and normal manufacturing oeadh Finished goods that are used for
research and development are expensed as consumepreciated over period of use. Provisions fowsioving, excess, and obsolete
inventories are recorded when required to reduwoenitory values to their estimated net realizablaesbased on product life cycle,
development plans, product expiration, and quidsyes.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold impnosets, are stated at cost less accumulated defwaciAccumulated depreciation is
calculated using the straight-line method overeiimated useful lives of the assets, which ranga three to seven years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight#ii¢hod over the estimated useful lives of the asmethe remaining term of the lease,
whichever is shorter.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

We evaluate our long-lived assets for indicatorpaxsible impairment when events or changes imgistances indicate the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If maigator of impairment exists, we assess the raabiléy of the affected londjved assets b
determining whether the carrying value of the asaatbe recovered through undiscounted future @ipgreash flows. If impairment is
indicated, we estimate the asset'’s fair value ugihge discounted cash flows associated with #&af the asset, and adjust the carrying valu
of the asset accordingly. We did not recognizeiarpairment of long-lived assets for any of the pdsi presented herein.

Investment, at Cost

At December 31, 2012, we had a minority equity stieent in Verinata Health, Inc. (Verinata), a ptélg-held company, that was
included in other non-current assets and accountaghder the cost method of accounting. In Fely@arl 3, lllumina, Inc. acquired Verinata
for $350 million in cash and up to an additionaD@illionin milestone payments through 2015. In March 2@8d8received cash proceeds
$3.1 million in exchange for our ownership interi@sVerinata resulting in a gain of $1.8 millioDuring 2014, we received cash proceeds of
$0.3 million from the escrow account related to iowestment in Verinata. We recorded the proceed&ain from sale of investment in
Verinata" in the consolidated statements of openatfor the years ended December 31, 2014 and HXh8. milestone payments become
payable in the future, we could receive up to $8itHion in additional proceeds.

Intangible Assets

In connection with the acquisition of DVS in Felmp2014, we acquired developed technology withasgifair value of $112 million .
These acquired intangible assets from DVS are baimgrtized to cost of product revenue over thedfuidife of ten years. Related
amortization expense for the year ended Decemhe2@®@# was $9.8 million . For further discussiolated to intangible assets acquired in
2014 from the DVS acquisition, see Note 4.

On June 28, 2013, we acquired certain patentsnipapplications, and licenses from Helicos Biosce&nCorporation (Helicos) relating
Helicos’ next-generation sequencing technology. figiets acquired by us are subject to certain Besrand sublicenses granted by Helicos
prior to or contemporaneously with our acquisitibhe assets were acquired for $1.0 milléovd we incurred transaction costs of approxim.
$0.3 million . The patents, patent applicationgl Brenses have an alternative future use andresudt, the acquired assets and transaction
costs are capitalized as intangible assets and@rtsled in other non-current assets. The acquisséts from Helicos are being amortized to
research and development expense over their ugefof ten years. Related amortization expensdHteryears ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 was $127,000 and $63,000 , respectively.

We evaluate our intangible assets for indicatongasfsible impairment when events or changes imgistances indicate the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If aaigator of impairment exists, we assess the reabilety of the affected intangible assets
determining whether the carrying value of the asaatbe recovered through undiscounted future tipgreash flows. If impairment is
indicated, we estimate the asset'’s fair value uiihgre discounted cash flows associated with #eaf the asset, and adjust the carrying valu
of the asset accordingly. We did not recognizeiarpairment on intangible assets for any of thequizipresented herein.

Product Warranties

We generally provide a one -year warranty on ositriiments. We review our exposure to estimatedamfyrexpense associated with
instrument sales and establish an accrual basatmmical product failure rates and actual walyatsts incurred. This expense is recorded a
a component of cost of product revenue in the dateted statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie agreements, and government grants. Our peoclutsist of instruments and
consumables, including IFCs, assays, and otheentagrelated to our systems. Product revenuedaslservices for instrument installation,
training, and customer support services.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesvihave been rendered, the price
to the customer is fixed or determinable, and ctdleility is reasonably assured. We assess cdliléitysbased on factors such as the customel
creditworthiness and past collection history, iplgable. If collection is not reasonably assuredenue recognition is deferred until receipt of
payment. We also assess whether a price is fixeléterminable by, among other things, reviewingi@amual terms and conditions related to
payment. Delivery occurs when there is a trandféitle and risk of loss passes to the customer.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Product Revenue

Certain of our sales contracts involve the delivaynultiple products and services within contratibinding arrangements. Multiple-
deliverable sales transactions typically consighefsale and delivery of one or more instruments@nsumables together with one or more c
our installation, training and/or customer suppenvices. Significant judgment is sometimes reglicedetermine the appropriate accounting
for such arrangements, including whether the dedivies specified in a multiple element arrangersinuld be treated as separate units of
accounting for revenue recognition purposes argh,ihow the related sales price should be alldcat®ong the elements, when to recognize
revenue for each element, and the period over wigiebnue should be recognized.

For sales contracts that include multiple delivigajowe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of
accounting based upon its relative selling price. May use our best estimate of selling price for
individual deliverables when vendor specific ohijgetevidence or third-party evidence is unavailabBlelelivered item is considered to be a
separate unit of accounting when it has valueecctistomer on a stand-alone basis.

Our products, other than service contracts, algeted within a short time frame, generally witline to three months, of the contract
date. Service contracts are entered into for t&fesie to three years, following the expiratiortlté warranty period.

Our products are sold without the right of retkmounts received before revenue recognition cetare met are classified in the
consolidated balance sheets as deferred reveraestmmer deposits, depending on the terms of tlamgement.

License Revenue

License and royalty revenue from license agreemismexognized when received, which is generalithanquarter following the quarter
in which the corresponding sales occur.

Grant Revenue

We receive grants from various governmental estfiie research and related activities. Grants pievuis with payments for certain types
of research and development activities performext awcontractually defined period. Grant revenuedésgnized in the period during which
related costs are incurred, provided that the ¢mmdi under which the grants were provided have loeet and we have only perfunctory
obligations outstanding. Amounts received in adeanicrevenue recognition are classified as defaeednue in the consolidated balance
sheets. Costs associated with grants are includezsearch and development expenses in the coatsalidtatements of operations.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs incurred for produgbrsients are included within cost of product reveimuihe consolidated statements of
operations.

Research and Development

We recognize research and development expensks petiod incurred. Research and development egpamsist of personnel costs,
independent contractor costs, prototype and mégazigenses, allocated facilities and informat@rhhology expenses, and related overhead
expenses.

Advertising Costs

We expense advertising costs as incurred. We iedwadvertising costs of $4.2 million , $2.4 millipand $1.3 million during 2014 ,
2013, and 2012, respectively.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accouninflome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabiléresrecognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differebeéseen the financial statement carrying amounexisting assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets antitiesbare measured using enacted tax rates exparegpply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expectea teebovered or settled. Valuation allowances avgiged when the expected realization of
deferred tax assets does not meet a “more likaly tiot” criterion. We make estimates and judgmehtsit our future taxable income that are
based on assumptions that are consistent withlaas mnd estimates. Should the actual amounts diffie our estimates, the amount of our
valuation allowance could
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be materially impacted. Changes in these estinmsgsresult in significant increases or decreasesitdax provision in a period in which such
estimates are changed, which in turn would affetimcome or loss.

We recognize the financial statement effects a@fxgposition when it is more likely than not, basedthe technical merits, that the
position will be sustained upon examination. Anteest and penalties related to uncertain tax ipositare reflected in the income tax
provision.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock options and restricted stattsigranted to employees and directors basedefathvalue of the awards. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense oaighgttine basis over the requisite service periéas performance-based stock options, wi
recognize stock-based compensation expense ovegdhsite service period using the acceleratetbation method.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner @bmprehensive income (loss). Other compreheimsdaene (loss) consists of
unrealized gains and losses on our investmentfomein currency translation adjustments. Total poghensive loss for all periods presented
has been disclosed in the consolidated stateméntsnprehensive loss.

The components of accumulated other comprehenssge het of tax, for the years ended December@®Y4,2013, and 2012 are as
follows (in thousands):

Foreign currency Unrealized gain (loss) on Accumulated Other Comprehensive
translation adjustment investments Income (Loss)
Beginning balance at December 31, 2012 $ (779 9 4 3 (769
Change during the year 30 9 39
Ending balance at December 31, 2013 (749) 13 (730
Change during the year 2 (62 (64)
Ending balance at December 31, 2014 $ (745) $ 49 $ (794)

None of the above amounts have been reclassifittbtoonsolidated statement of operations.

Business Combinations

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as patafsiness combination are generally recordeceatfir values at the date of
acquisition. The excess of purchase price ovefdinevalue of assets acquired and liabilities asstiis recorded as goodwill. Determining fair
value of identifiable assets, particularly intarlgsh and liabilities acquired requires managemantdke estimates, which are based on all
available information and in some cases assumptidthsrespect to the timing and amount of futureereues and expenses associated with ar
asset. Accounting for business acquisitions requitanagement to make judgments as to whether hgagdransaction is a multiple element
contract, meaning that it includes other transaatiemponents such as a settlement of a preexigiationship. This judgment and
determination affects the amount of consideratiaid phat is allocable to assets and liabilitiesusregl in the business purchase transaction. S
Note 4.

Long-lived Assets, including Goodwill

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite kvare not subject to amortization, but are testeéhfpairment on an annual basis dur
the fourth quarter or whenever events or changesdnmstances indicate the carrying amount ofdtessets may not be recoverable. We firs
conduct an assessment of qualitative factors wraébe whether it is more likely than not that taie value of our reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount. If we determine that it is mokely than not that the fair value of our reportingjt is less than its carrying amount, we then
conduct a two-step test for impairment of goodwiilthe first step, we compare the fair value of i@porting unit to its carrying value. If the
fair value of our reporting unit exceeds its cargyvalue, goodwill is not considered impaired andurther analysis is required. If the carrying
values of the reporting unit exceed its fair valiben the second step of the impairment test maugiebformed in order to determine the imp
fair value of the goodwill. If the carrying valuéthe goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, tremimpairment loss equal to the difference
would be recorded.

We evaluate our finite lived intangible assetsifidicators of possible impairment when events @nges in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recbleert any indicator of impairment exists, we
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assess the recoverability of the affected intaegisiset by determining whether the carrying vafubebasset can be recovered through
undiscounted future operating cash flows. If impagnt is indicated, we estimate the asset’s fainevalking future discounted cash flows
associated with the use of the asset, and adjistatying value of the asset accordingly.

Net Loss per Share

Our basic and diluted net loss per share is catedllay dividing net loss by the weighted-averagmiper of shares of common stock
outstanding for the period. Restricted stock uaitd options to purchase our common stock are cereido be potentially dilutive common
shares but have been excluded from the calculafidiluted net loss per share, as their effechisdilutive for all periods presented.

The following potentially dilutive common sharesre@xcluded from the computations of diluted neslper share for the periods
presented because including them would have baediartive (in thousands):

At December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock options, restricted stock units and restict®ck awards 3,73¢ 3,43: 2,94¢
Convertible notes 3,59¢ — —
Total 7,33¢ 3,43 2,94t

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standardddte No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with @usts (Topic 606). This
guidance, which was issued jointly with the Intéim@al Accounting Standards Board, is intendedrpriove the financial reporting of revenue
and improve comparability of reported revenue iiraficial statements globally. It will be effectiv@ bur interim and annual financial
statements beginning in the first quarter of 2044 @arly adoption is not permitted. We are curyeetlaluating the impact of adoption of this
new accounting pronouncement on our financial statgs.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stand#rdate No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertaintiesualan Entity's Ability to
Continue as a Going Concern, which requires aryeiatievaluate whether conditions or events, inatygregate, raise substantial doubt about
the entity's ability to continue as a going condenone year from the date the financial statemant issued or are available to be issued. Th
guidance will be effective for us beginning withr@nnual report for fiscal 2016 and interim peritlisreafter. We are currently evaluating the
impact that ASU 2014-15 will have on our finangtdtements.

3. License and Grant Agreements

License Agreements

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation enttred into a series of patent license agreeméttitd ife Technologies Corporation
(now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific) and its sdtzsy, Applied Biosystems, LLC (collectively, LifeThe agreements resulted in a net $3.0
million payment by us to Life, which was recognizas a litigation settlement expense. The agreenasd provide for various royalty
payments on future sales of certain products b eathe parties. Such royalty payments or recdipt® not been and are not expected to be
material to us. Under the terms of the agreemeénthyly 2011, we paid Life $2.0 million in connewiiwith the exercise of our option to limit
or preclude certain patent litigation between us laife for a period of two to four yearAs a result, subject to certain exceptions, hifgy not
initiate litigation under its patents existing dsJone 30, 2011 against us, with respect to iteectiproducts and equivalent future products, for
a period of four years. The additional payment imakided in other assets and is being amortizesgtiing, general and administrative expens:
over four years on a straight-line basis beginfinguly 2011. The additional payment is being aimed to selling, general and administrative
expense because it precludes Life from initiatitigdtion for a period of four years under its kedat patents for any alleged prior and future
infringement by us, and because such preclusiabtegto our equivalent future products. We recaghii0.5 million of amortization expense
during each of 2014 , 2013, and 2012.

In May 2011, we entered into an agreement withgealLife Sciences, Inc., which subsequently becamerkinElmer company
(Caliper), to license Caliper’s existing patenttfmio in certain fields, including non-invasivegiratal diagnostics, and obtained an option to
extend this license to cover additional fields. Aiddial payments are due if we exercise our optmon
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extend the license. Under this agreement, we madg-dront payment of $0.6 million and our obligstito pay royalties to Caliper
commenced in January 2012. In August 2011, we edt@to an amendment to the agreement with Cadipdmmade an additional up-front
payment of $0.5 million . Pursuant to the amendnitbet rates for royalties payable to Caliper wedestantially reduced and the period for
which we are obligated to make royalty payments stastened, with the last payment due in mid-2@i&#tir existing products at the time of
amendment and their future equivalents. If anywffature products are determined to infringe Gafip patents, the same reduced royalty |
will apply until the respective patents expire. Hugregate $1.1 million of payments to Caliperkseig amortized to cost of product revenue
on a straight-line basis through July 2018, whenroyalty payment obligations are expected to taaté based upon our current products. We
recognized $0.3 million in cost of product reveigueing each of 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 . Our futayalty payments are not expected to be
material.

Grants
California I nstitute for Regenerative Medicine

In May 2011, we were awarded a grant from the Galifi Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM)tire amount of $1.9 million to
be earned over a three -year period. Under thistgnee designed and developed prototype microftusyistems for use in stem cell research.
The CIRM grant revenue is recognized as the relaselarch and development services are perforntdasts associated with this grant were
recognized as research and development expensgydhoe period incurred. We recognized $ 0.2 milikdi€IRM grant revenue in 2014 and
$0.6 million during each of 2013 and 2012. Thisngtarminated in April 2014.

4. Acquisition

On February 13, 2014 (Acquisition Date), we acqliiDd/S primarily to broaden our addressable singléttiology market opportunity
and complement our existing product offerings. Dd&elops, manufactures, markets, and sells highrpeater single-cell protein analysis
systems and related reagents and data analysss @é8’s principal market is the life sciences srsh market consisting of drug developmen
companies, government research centers, and uitiegrsoridwide.

The contractual price for the acquisition was $207illion , subject to certain adjustments as dpegtin the merger agreement. The
aggregate purchase price was determined to be $t@bBion , as detailed in the table below (in tsands):

Estimated Fair Value

Cash $ 126,04
Issued 1,759,007 shares of Fluidigm common st8ck 76,80¢
Acquisition consideration paid at Acquisition Date 202,85:
Accelerated stock compensatich (6,690
Estimated fair value of vested Fluidigm equivalstoick options? 4,03¢
Working capital adjustment (269)

Aggregate purchase price $ 199,93

(1) As a part of the acquisition, we acceleratesting of certain DVS stock options and shareesificted stock, and incurred a $6.7
million expense, based upon the per share consioleraaid to holders of shares of DVS common s@glof February 13, 2014. This
expense is accounted for as a separate transactibreflected in the acquisitiorlated expenses line of the consolidated statesod
operations.

(2) In conjunction with the acquisition, we assuad outstanding DVS stock options and unvestedeshof restricted stock and
converted, as of the Acquisition Date, the unvestedk options outstanding under the DVS stockaopplan into unvested stock
options to purchase approximately 143,88@res of Fluidigm common stock and the unveste® BBétricted stock into approximat
186,000 shares of restricted Fluidigm common stoetaining the original vesting schedules. Thestited shares have been
included in the "Issuance of common stock uponipase of DVS" line item in the Consolidated StatenoéiStockholders' Equity.
The fair value of all converted share-based awaats$14.6 million , of which $4.0 million was almited to the pre-combination
service period and was included in the calculatibtihe purchase price. The remaining fair valué el recognized over the awards’
remaining vesting periods subsequent to the adguisiThe fair value of the Fluidigm equivalent eivdased awards as of the
Acquisition Date was estimated using the Black-$hwoaluation model.
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Approximately 885,000 shares of Fluidigm commorcktavith a fair value of $ 38.6 million , represieigt 50.3030% of the shares
otherwise payable to the former stockholders of DW&re deposited into escrow. These shares conmgpsetion of the merger consideration
and will be held in escrow to secure indemnificatibligations under the merger agreement, if amyafperiod of 13 to 18 months following
the Acquisition Date, subject to any then pendimdgmnification claims. Under the terms of the meagreement, fifty percent ( 50.0p6f the
aggregate shares subject to the indemnificatioroesare eligible for release on March 13, 2015, thedbalance of the shares are subject to
release on August 13, 2015, provided that in eask shares will continue to be held in escrow inwamts that we may reasonably determin
good faith to be necessary to satisfy any claimsviich we have delivered a notice of claim whies mot been fully resolved between us anc
the representative of the former stockholders oSDXs of the filing of our Annual Report on Form-KQwe have not made a determination
with respect to the amount of any claims for whighmay deliver notice under the terms of the meageeement. If and when we deliver such
a notice, the stockholder representative may oljettte amount or nature of our claims. As a resudtare unable at this time to estimate the
amount, if any, of shares that we may recover filloenescrow.

The results of DVS's operations have been incliiélde consolidated financial statements for theéogefrom February 13, 2014 to
December 31, 2014 , including $20.7 million in neue for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Net Assets Acquired

The transaction has been accounted for using tipgisiton method of accounting which requires thsdets acquired and liabilities
assumed be recognized at their fair values aseoftiyuisition Date. The following table summarities assets acquired and liabilities assu
as of the Acquisition Date (in thousands):

Allocation of purchase price

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,40¢
Accounts receivable, net 7,69¢
Inventories 3,48¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,482
Property and equipment, net 1,20z
Developed technology 112,00(
Goodwill 104,10¢
Other non-current assets 88

Total assets acquired 238,47
Accounts payable (1,119
Accrued compensation and related benefits (767)
Other accrued liabilities (1,209
Deferred revenue, current portion (1,849
Tax payable (45)
Deferred tax liability (31,949
Deferred revenue, net of current portion (1,629

Net assets acquired $ 199,93

The following table provides details of intangilalesets acquired in connection with the DVS acdoisis of December 31, 2014 (in
thousands, except years):

Gross fair Accumulated Useful life in
value Amortization Net years
Developed technology $ 112,000 $ (9,800 $ 102,20( 10
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We recognized $9.8 million in intangible asset aimation expense during the year ended Decembe2(®Y .

The $104.2 million of goodwill recognized as pdrthee transaction is attributable primarily to egfsal synergies and other benefits from
the acquisition, including expansion of our addaegs market from the single-cell genomics markeh#larger single-cell biology market and
the ability to leverage our larger global commdrsaes organization and infrastructure to expamaraness of DVS's products and technol
Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for ineotax purposes. The only change to goodwill betvikerAcquisition Date and
December 31, 2014 was an adjustment of $0.1 mitbaine deferred taxes liability resulting from fireal tax analysis during the measuremen
period.

Acquisition Costs

Acquisition-related expenses were $10.7 milliontfa year ended December 31, 2014 and primarilydied accelerated vesting of
certain DVS restricted stock and options, and cliingyi legal, and investment banking fees. Thestscare included within the acquisition-
related expenses line of the consolidated statenudrperations.

Unaudited Pro Forma Results

The unaudited financial information in the tabléovesummarizes our results of operations combini BVS's as though the
companies were combined as of the beginning of eftte years presented. The unaudited pro forifiearivation does not necessarily reflect
the actual results of operations had the acquisiien consummated at the beginning of the figgainting periods indicated nor is it indicat
of future operating results.

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2014 2013
Pro forma total revenue $ 120,24 $ 98,45¢
Pro forma net loss $ (55,249 $ (37,90¢)

The unaudited pro forma financial information foetyear ended December 31, 2014 includes adjussmelated to stock-based
compensation, amortization of developed technologgrest expense, and deferred tax liability a#$illion , $1.4 million , $1.0 million ,
and $371,000 , respectively, and includes non-remadjustments representing the total acquisitelated expenses discussed above. The
unaudited pro forma financial information for theay ended December 31, 2013 includes adjustmdateddo stock-based compensation,
amortization of developed technology, interest esge and deferred tax liability of $9.2 million132 million , $5.8 million , and $3.0
million , respectively.

5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table sets forth our financial instrants that were measured at fair value by levdiiwithe fair value hierarchy (in
thousands):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Level | Level Il Level I Total Level | Level Il Level Il Total
Assets
Money market funds (See Note 6) $10,220 $ — — $ 10,22( $ 17540 $ — $ — $1754
U.S. government and agency — 109,08 — 109,08 — 51,02¢ — 51,02¢

securities
Total assets measured at fair value $ 10,22( $ 109,08 $ — $ 119,300 $ 17,547 $ 51,02 % — $68,57:
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As of December 31, 2014 , the amortized cost baggregate fair value, and gross unrealized gaiddasses of our investments were a:
follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities $ 109,13t $ 3 % (52) $ 109,08

As of December 31, 2013, the amortized cost baggiegate fair value, and gross unrealized gaiddasses of our investments were a:
follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities $ 51,017 $ 17 ¢ (4 $ 51,02t

The contractual maturity periods of $81.6 millidnoor investments are within one year from Decen8igr2014 . The contractual
maturity periods of our remaining securities asslthan eighteen months from December 31, 2014 .

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Lewe¢@surements during the year ended December 34, 80d there were no changes
in the valuation techniques used.

Based on an evaluation of securities that werelass position, we did not recognize any other-tteanporary impairment charges for-
years endeDecember 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012. Nofie investments have been in a continuous losgipn for more than 12 months. (
conclusion that these losses are not “other-thanpoeary” is based on the high credit quality of deeurities, their short remaining maturity
periods, and our intent and ability to hold suctusities until the date of recovery of their regparmarket values or maturity.

The estimated fair value of the 2.78%6nvertible Senior Notes Due 2034, (Notes), is hasea market approach. The estimated fair \
was approximately $182.2 million (par value $20hiBion ) as of December 31, 2014 and represehtsval || valuation. When determining
the estimated fair value of our long-term debt,used a commonly accepted valuation methodologynsarttet-based risk measurements that
are indirectly observable, such as credit risk.

6. Balance Sheet Data
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following are summaries of cash and cash etgnt&(in thousands):

Amortized Cost

and
Estimated Fair
Value
As of December 31, 2014:
Cash $ 23,49
Money market funds 10,22(
$ 33,71
As of December 31, 2013:
Cash $ 17,71«
Money market funds 17,547
$ 35,26:

73




Table of Contents
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)of:

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Raw materials $ 467C $ 2,65(
Work-in-process 3,52¢ 1,627
Finished goods 7,791 3,871
Total inventories, net $ 15,99: $ 8,14¢
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgtfiousands) as of:
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Computer equipment and software $ 3,90t $ 2,72¢
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment 17,59: 13,97
Leasehold improvements 4,98¢ 1,48t
Office furniture and fixtures 1,80¢ 822
Property and equipment, gross 28,28¢ 19,00
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (16,360 (14,470
Construction-in-progress 1,96( 2,281
Property and equipment, net $ 13,88¢ $ 6,81¢

Intangible Assets

The total intangible assets, which includes dewedoiechnology as a result of the DVS acquisitioth @ther intangible assets included in
Other non-current assets, was $104.1 million &3exfember 31, 2014.

The estimated future amortization expense of tirgaagible assets as of December 31, 2014 is bsv®l(in thousands):

Amount

2015 $ 11,74°
2016 11,49¢
2017 11,48:
2018 11,417
2019 11,32¢
Thereafter 46,65+

$ 104,12:
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Product Warranties

Activity for our warranty accrual for the years eddDecember 31, 2014 and 2013, which are inclidether accrued liabilities, is
summarized below (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013

Beginning balance $ 344 $ 257
Acquired warranty obligation from DVS 791 —
Accrual for current period warranties 1,29¢ 64¢
Warranty costs incurred (1,25%) (567
Ending balance $ 1,17¢  $ 344

7. Convertible Notes

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwrittenipuiffering of $201.3 million aggregate principahaunt of our 2.75% Senior
Convertible Notes due 2034 (Notes) pursuant toratewwriting agreement, dated January 29, 2014 Nidies accrue interest at a rate2of5%
per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on Relrl and August 1 of each year, commencing Augu014. The Notes will mature on
February 1, 2034, unless earlier converted, reddeareepurchased in accordance with the termkeofNotes. The initial conversion rate of
Notes is17.8750 shares of our common stock, par value $00@0 share, per $1,0@@incipal amount of Notes (which is equivalent toiwitial
conversion price of approximately $55.94 per sharbg conversion rate will be subject to adjustmgyin the occurrence of certain specified
events. Holders may surrender their Notes for cmioe at any time prior to the stated maturity d@e or after February 6, 2018 and prior to
February 6, 2021, we may redeem any or all of tbeslin cash if the closing price of our commorrtktexceeds 130% of the conversion price
for a specified number of days, and on or afterfaty 6, 2021, we may redeem any or all of the Blatecash without any such condition. The
redemption price of the Notes will equal 100% a&f grincipal amount of the Notes plus accrued anmhighinterest. Holders may require us to
repurchase all or a portion of their Notes on ezfdhebruary 6, 2021, February 6, 2024, and Febr6a2p29 at a repurchase price in cash ¢
to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plosraed and unpaid interest. If we undergo a fundaahehange, as defined in the terms of
the Notes, holders may require us to repurchasiliéies in whole or in part for cash at a repurchaiz equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid irtteres

We received $195.2 million , net of underwritingabunts, from the issuance of the Notes and indapproximately $1.1 million in
offering-related expenses. The underwriting dis¢@ii$6.0 million was recorded as an offset topheceeds. Debt issuance costs of $1.1
million are included in “Other assets” on the Cditsded Balance Sheets as of the issuance date.

We used $113.2 million of the net proceeds to filvedcash portion of the consideration payable by ee®nnection with our acquisition
of DVS (now Fluidigm Sciences Inc.) (See Note #Ajetest expense related to the Notes was appraxdyri.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014 . Approximately $2.7 million mteirest under the Notes was paid during 2014.

The balance of unamortized debt discount and dsbiince costs was $6.8 million of which $5.8 milli®included in "Convertible
Notes" anc$1.0 million is included within “Other non-curreassets” as of December 31, 2014 on the accompa@gngolidated Balance
Sheets.

8. Line of Credit

In December 2012, we entered into a two-year lineredit agreement (as amended, the Line of Créulit) provided us with the ability
to borrow up to $10.0 million , of which $6.0 mdh was available on a non-formula basis, subjecettin covenants and other restrictions.
The balance of $4.0 million was available baseélaible receivables. The line of credit was cafalized by our assets, excluding our
intellectual property, and bore interest at a eapeal to the greater of (i) 3.75% or (ii) the peimate plus 0.50% per year. On May 9, 2014, we
entered into a modification agreement with the értd amend and waive certain financial covenantieuthe financing agreement, effective
as of March 31, 2014. On July 31, 2014, we entar@da modification agreement with the lender teeathand waive the financial covenant
under the financing agreement regarding our effedangible net worth amount, which could not at time exceed a deficit of more than
$100.0 million
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effective as of June 30, 2014. There were no ansaautstanding on the line of credit during 20141200r 2012. The line of credit expired in
December 2014 and the lien on the collateral wigased in January 2015.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
We have entered into various long-term non-cantelaperating leases for equipment and facilities.

On April 9, 2013, we entered into an amendment ZBE3 Amendment) to the lease agreement datediBepiel, 2010 (as amended,
Lease) relating to the lease of office and laboyaspace at our headquarters located in South &artisco, California. The Amendment
provides for an expansion of the premises coveneluuthe Lease to include space that was beingasdd by us from a third party through
March 31, 2014; an extension of the term of theskda April 30, 2020 with an option to renew foraditional five years; payment of base
rent with rent escalation; and payment of certgierating expenses during the term of the Lease Afilendment also provides for an
allowance of approximately $0.7 million for tenamiprovements, which, to the extent not used by M&t, 2015, will be used to offset base
rent obligations, and an additional allowance giragimately $0.5 million for tenant improvementshiah, if used, will be repaid in equal
monthly payments with interest at a rate of 9% gerum over the remaining term of the Lease.

On June 4, 2014, we entered into an additional dment to the Lease (the June 2014 Amendment), wirimvided for an expansion of
the premises covered under the Lease by approXynE8e000 square feet, effective October 1, 20 4/npent of base rent with rent escalation
and payment of certain operating expenses duriagettm of the Lease. The June 2014 Amendment atsaded for an allowance of
approximately $0.2 million for tenant improvememtsich, to the extent not used by March 31, 201i8,be used to offset base rent
obligations, and an additional allowance of apprately $0.1 million for tenant improvements, whidftysed, will be repaid in equal monthly
payments with interest at a rate of 9% per annuen the remaining term of the Lease. The totalrutminimum lease payments for the
additional space, which will be paid through A@@20, are approximately $2.4 million as of Deceniir2014 .

On September 15, 2014, we entered into an additeoanandment to the Lease (the September 2014 Amemdimvhich provided for an
expansion of the premises covered under the Leaapgroximately 9,000 square feet, effective Oatdhe014; payment of base rent with
rent escalation; and payment of certain operatikpgeses during the term of the Lease. The Septedfligr Amendment also provided for an
allowance of approximately $0.2 million for tenamprovements. The total future minimum lease payméor the additional space, which will
be paid through April 2020, are approximately $hiion as of December 31, 2014 .

On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore Pte. lddr,wholly-owned subsidiary (Fluidigm Singapored¢cepted an offer of tenancy
(Lease) from HSBC Institutional Trust Services (fipore) Limited, as trustee of Ascendas Real Estatsstment Trust (Landlord), relating to
the lease of a new facility located in SingaporgsBant to the terms of the Lease, Fluidigm Singapmok possession of the facility
commencing on March 3, 2014 for a term ofrB8nths, and the Lease and rental obligations thelerucommenced on June 3, 2014. The L
also provides Fluidigm Singapore with an optiomgnew the Lease for an additional 60 months athtee prevailing market rent, and on
similar terms as the existing Lease. In June 2Bliddigm Singapore leased additional space of apprately 2,400 square feet in the same
building as the new facility on the same termshasltease. We completed the consolidation of oug&inre manufacturing operations in the
new space in July 2014 and the site qualificatias wompleted in August 2014. The leases relatimgitgrior manufacturing facility in
Singapore terminated on August 31, 2014. The fatate minimum lease payments for the new facilitjch will be paid through June 2022,
are approximately $4.1 million as of December 312.

In connection with our acquisition of DVS (See Ndjewe acquired the operating leases for facdileMarkham, Ontario, Canada and
Sunnyvale, California, which expire in January 2@h@ July 2016, respectively. The Canada leasadeslan option to renew the lease for an
additional five years at the then prevailing mamegit, and on similar terms as the existing led#e recognize rent expense on a straight-line
basis over the non-cancelable lease term. Theftdgtak minimum lease payments for the operatiagds in Sunnyvale, California and
Markham, Ontario, Canada are approximately $460a306f December 31, 2014 .
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As of December 31, 2014, we also leased officeespader non-cancelable leases in Japan, Ching&rande, with various expiration
dates through March 2016. Certain facility leades aontain rent escalation clauses. Future minirteamse payments under non-cancelable
operating leases as of December 31, 2014 arelas$fo{in thousands):

Years ending December 31:

2015 $ 3,14¢
2016 3,01¢
2017 2,871
2018 2,89¢
2019 2,96t
Thereafter 2,171
Total minimum payments $ 17,06¢

Our lease payments are expensed on a straightdisis over the life of the leases. Rental expenderoperating leases, net of
amortization of lease incentive, totaled $4.0 milli $2.7 million , and $1.9 million for 2014 , Z01and 2012 , respectively.

Other Commitments

In the normal course of business, we enter int@uarcontractual and legally binding purchase cammints. As of December 31, 2014 ,
these commitments for the next year were approxdin&9.1 million .

Indemnifications

From time to time, we have entered into indemnifaraprovisions under certain of our agreementhé@ordinary course of business,
typically with business partners, customers, ampbers. Pursuant to these agreements, we may inifigrhold harmless, and agree to
reimburse the indemnified parties on a casedwe basis for losses suffered or incurred byrttiemnified parties in connection with any pa
or other intellectual property infringement claimy dny third party with respect to our products. Téren of these indemnification provisions is
generally perpetual from the time of the executibthe agreement. The maximum potential amountiiré payments we could be required tc
make under these indemnification provisions isdgfly not limited to a specific amount. In additjame have entered into indemnification
agreements with our officers and directors. We haoténcurred material costs to defend lawsuitsadtle claims related to these
indemnification provisions. As of December 31, 20i4e had no accrued liabilities for these indeioatfon provisions.

Contingencies

From time to time, we may be subject to variouslggoceedings and claims arising in the ordinanyrse of business. We assess
contingencies to determine the degree of probgllid range of possible loss for potential acciualur financial statements. An estimated
loss contingency is accrued in the financial statesif it is probable that a liability has beeauned and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated.

On November 6, 2012, we filed a complaint agairen®tring Technologies, Inc., or NanoString, inlthréted States District Court in
the Northern District of California (Civil Action &l 12-5712), alleging claims of false advertisingfair competition, and unlawful trade
practice in violation of the Lanham Act and corm@sging sections of the California Business & Prsi@ss Code. Our complaint sought to
enjoin NanoString from continuing to make or disgete any of the false and misleading claims, misgenting and/or exaggerating the
performance of its product in comparison with oimrBark system, to require NanoString to retraatyaee, or correct the false and misleading
advertising claims, and to recover damages and oglief for harm caused to us by NanoString. Wse diled a lawsuit against NanoString in
the High Court of the Republic of Singapore (Case 81282/2013) on April 5, 2013 alleging malicidalsehood in advertising and trademark
infringement and sought relief similar to the reeught in our complaint filed in the United S&at®n September 30, 2013, we and
NanoString agreed to settle the lawsuits. The tarittise settlement require NanoString to, amongiothings, pay u$0.6 million , remove all
references - from its marketing materials, websitel promotional activities - to a single-cell caripon study comparing Fluidigm and
NanosString singl-cell products, as well as recall and destroy atarials related to and/or based on the study.céke brought in the United
States District Court in the Northern District adilornia was dismissed on October 22, 2013, apdcc#se brought in Singapore was
discontinued on October 29, 2013.
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Pursuant to the terms of a patent cross licenseaggnt with Applied Biosystems, LLC (a subsidiaiy.ife Technologies Corporation,
or Life, and now part of Thermo Fisher Scientifigle were obligated to make a $1.0 million paymeritife upon satisfaction of
certain conditions. We do not believe that the éims triggering the payment obligation have bewt; however, on October 16, 2013, Life
provided notice that the $1.0 million payment wae dnd payable under the license agreement. Weaterloss contingency of $1.0 million
on September 30, 2013 and on January 30, 2014aidd_ffe the amount due while reserving our rightth respect to such matter. Among
other reasons, we made the payment to avoid whalidwave been, in our view, an improper terminatbour license to certain Life patent
filings under the agreement, which could have sbgbour relevant product lines to risks associatigdl patent infringement litigation.

10. Stock-Based Compensation
2011 Equity Incentive Plan

On January 28, 2011, our board of directors adojite@011 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2011 Plan)aurwdhich incentive stock options,
nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock ufSUs), stock appreciation rights, performancesymihd performance shares may be grant
our employees, directors, and consultants.

Incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockamgtigranted under the 2011 Plan have a term ofare than ten years from the date of
grant and an exercise price of at least 100% ofainenarket value of the underlying common stooktlee date of grant. If a participant owns
stock representing more than 10% of the voting pa#all classes of our stock on the grant datanaentive stock option awarded to the
participant will have a term of no more than fiveays from the date of grant and an exercise pfie¢least 110% of the fair market value of
the underlying common stock on the date of graehégally, outstanding options vest at a rate dieei25% on the first anniversary of the
option grant date and ratably each month overghwming period of 36 months , or ratably each mawver 48 monthsWe may grant optiot
with different vesting terms from time to time.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditiang, restrictions related to the grant of restrictittk units, including the number of
restricted stock units to grant. Our board of divexalso sets vesting criteria and, dependinderektent to which the criteria are met, our
board of directors will determine the number otnieted stock units to be paid out. In general, R$¥st on a quarterly basis over a period of
four years from the date of grant, provided thashares will vest during the first year of employmet the end of which the shares that wouls
have vested during the year will vest and the ramgishares will vest over the remaining 12 quartsubject to the employees' continued
employment.

The exercise price of any stock appreciation rijtall be determined by our board of directors bilitbg no less than 100% of the fair
market value of the underlying common stock ondéie of grant. The stock appreciation rights exppen the date determined by our board
of directors but no later than ten years from tateaf grant.

Our board of directors sets the performance objestand other vesting provisions in determiningrthmber of shares or value of
performance units and performance shares thabwiflaid out. Such payout will be a function of ¢éx¢éent to which performance objectives or
other vesting provisions have been achieved.

As of December 31, 2014 , the 2011 Plan had a &6#/319,443 awards authorized for issuance.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and 1999 Stock Option Bh

Our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan) teated on the date the 2011 Plan was adopted antP®9 Stock Option Plan (the
1999 Plan) expired in 2009. Options granted oreshasued under the 2009 Plan and the 1999 Plawéha outstanding on the date the 2011
Plan became effective remained subject to the tefrtteeir respective plans.

78




Table of Contents
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Activity under the 2011 Plan, the 2009 Plan, ared1i99 Plan is as follows (in thousands, excepshare amounts):

Stock options

Outstanding Options

Weighted-

Average
Shares Available Number of Exercise Price

for Grant Shares per Share
Balance as of December 31, 2013 262 3432 $ 13.9¢

Additional shares authorized 1,00¢ —

Options granted (457) 457 % 43.0¢
Options assumed from acquisition 14 ¢ 2.7
Options exercised — (541 $ 9.7:
Options canceled 84 B84 $ 18.7¢
Balance as of December 31, 2014 88¢ 3,400 ¢ 17.9¢

Restricted Stock unit:

Weighted-Average
Number Nonvested and Grant date fair value per

Outstanding Share
Balance as of December 31, 2013 — 3 —
RSUs granted 39 % 42.4¢
RSUs vested (50 $ 47.2%
RSUs canceled (16) ¢ 45.9¢
Balance as of December 31, 2014 32¢ % 41.6(

We determine stock-based compensation expense th&rigjack-Scholes option-pricing model and théofeing weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 57.5% 57.1% 57.6%
Expected life 5.9 year 5.9 year 5.9 year
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 1.2% 1.1%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted $ 9.8 % 9.6 % 7.9C

Expected volatility is derived from the historisalatilities of several unrelated public companigthin the life sciences industry. Each
company’s historical volatility is weighted basedaertain qualitative factors, and combined to paedthe single volatility factor used by us.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.8a3Jurry yield curve in effect at the time of gramtZero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with
maturities approximately equal to the option’s etpd life. Given our limited history as a publicgoany, we used the “simplified” method to
estimate expected lives of options granted to #reous employee groups. The “simplified” methodcotdtes the expected life of an option as
the average of the time-to-vesting and the conieddife of the options. Forfeitures were estimateded on an analysis of actual forfeitures.
We periodically evaluate the adequacy of our foufei rate based on actual forfeiture experiencalyais of employee turnover, and other
factors. Each of these inputs is subjective aneégdly requires significant judgment by us. Alsquiged to compute the fair value calculation
of options is the fair value of the underlying coomrstock.

We grant stock options at exercise prices nottless the fair value of our common stock at the @atgrant. Prior to our IPO, our board
of directors obtained contemporaneous valuaticoms fan unrelated third-party valuation firm to detare the estimated fair value of common
stock based on an analysis of relevant metricsteTiseénherent uncertainty in these estimates i ior the valuation firm had made different
assumptions, the amount of our stock-based compensxpense, net loss, and net loss per sharergmoould have been significantly
different. Following the completion of our IPO irlsruary 2011,
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the fair value of options granted is based on tbsireg price of our common stock on the date ohges quoted on the NASDAQ Global Se
Market.

The fair value of RSUs granted to employees wamagtd on the date of grant by multiplying the nembf shares granted by the fair
market value of our common stock on the grant date.

Additional information regarding our stock optiomststanding and exercisable as of December 31, BEuimmarized in the following
table:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Number of Contractual Options
Exercise Price Per Share Shares Life Exercisable

(In Thousands) (In Years) (In Thousands)
$0.64 - $4.45 37¢ 54 35&
$8.36 - $8.37 19z 6.0 18¢
$13.01 - $14.90 857 6.9 657
$15.04 - $19.32 1,471 7.9 76¢€
$20.46 - $21.94 11 8.7 4
$27.00 - $29.87 96 9.5 29
$30.58 - $33.73 26 9.2 7
$37.56 - $38.28 19 9.1 4
$43.66 - $44.07 7 9.1 1
$46.85 - $47.55 34¢€ 9.2 65
3,401 7.5 2,07t

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2014 ha€ighted-average remaining contractual life of 7rgea weighted-average exercise
price per share of $14.14 , and an aggregate s$itriralue of $41.6 million .

Options outstanding that have vested as of DeceBhet014 or are expected to vest in the futuresanemarized as follows:

Weighted-
Average Weighted-
Exercise Price Average Aggregate
Number of Remaining Intrinsic
shares per Share Contractual Life Value (1)
(In Thousands) (In Years)
Vested 2,07t % 14.1¢ 70 $ 41,56
Expected to vest, net of estimated forfeitures 1,30 $  23.9¢ 8.2 16,65(
Total vested and expected to vest, net of forfegur 337¢ ¢  17.9% 75 $ 58,21

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value was calculated &sdifference between the closing stock price orldaketrading day of 2014 , which was
$33.73, and the exercise price of the optionsfipligd by the number of in-the-money options.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgr2014 , 2013 , and 2012 was $12.8 million , $20il8on , and $5.5 million ,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of RSUsteelsand released during the year ended Decemb@024,was approximately $1.4 million .
The intrinsic value of vested and released RSldalsulated by multiplying the fair market valueaafr common stock on the vesting date by
the number of shares vested. As of December 34,20& number of RSUs outstanding and expectedsbwas 328,556with a total intrinsi
value of $11.1 million . The intrinsic value of tbatstanding and expected to vest RSUs is calallzsed on the market value of the
Company's closing stock price of $33.73 as of Ddmmam31, 2014, the last market trading day of 2014.

There were no stock-based compensation tax benefitgnized during 2014 , 2013 , or 2012 . Capialistock-based compensation
costs were insignificant at December 31, 2014 320(dnd 2012 .

As of December 31, 2014 , there was $29.8 millibtotal unrecognized compensation cost relateddcksbased compensation



arrangements that is expected to be recognizedamvaverage period of 2.8 years.
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In January 2011, we granted 94,972 performancedo@sons (the 2010 performance awards) to cega@itutives. These awards vest
over a period of approximately four years basedantinuing service and were subject to acceleragsting if specified corporate and
departmental performance goals were met for tloalfigear ended December 31, 2010. Based on acheanteyh2010 departmental and
corporate goals, vesting for 66,480 options wasglacated in March 2011. We recognized nil , $8,800 $20,000 of stock-based
compensation expense related to the 2010 perforn@amnards during 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , respégtive

11. Income Taxes

Our loss before income taxes consists of the fafigviin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ (41559 $ (16,209 $ (18,01)
International (16,14¢) (184 (877)
Loss before income taxes $ (b7,70) $ (16,389 $ (18,889

Significant components of our benefit (provisioa) income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Current:

State $ (20 $ (29 $ (12

Foreign (259 (113) (129
Total current provision (274) (137) (136)
Deferred:

State 2,04: — —

Foreign 3,101 — —
Total deferred benefit 5,14¢ — —
Total benefit (provision) for income taxes $ 4878 $ (137 $ (13¢)

Reconciliation of income taxes at the statutorg tatthe benefit from (provision for) income taxesorded in the statements of
operations is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate 34.C% 34.C% 34.C%
State tax expense, net of federal benefit (1.9 5.€ .79
Foreign tax expense (3.7 3.3 (0.3
Change in valuation allowance (21.7) (34.6€) (28.0
Federal R&D Credit 2.7 6.S —
Unrecognized tax benefit (0.7) (4.5 (3.9
Return to provision reconciliation — (2.9 0.3
Other, net (1.2 (2.2 (1.€)
Effective tax rate 8.E% (0.9% (0.9%
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Significant components of our deferred tax assedsliabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 90,25( $ 82,23(
Reserves and accruals 4,13 2,46
Depreciation and amortization 231 28¢
Tax credit carryforwards 10,18: 7,89¢
Stock-based compensation 7,86¢ 3,39
Total gross deferred tax assets 112,66( 96,27¢
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets (110,16) (96,27%)
Total deferred tax assets 2,49¢ —
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed asset and intangibles (28,617) —
Total deferred tax liabilities (28,61 —
Net deferred tax liability $ (26,119 $ —

We evaluate a number of factors to determine takizability of our deferred tax assets. Recognitiduleferred tax assets is appropriate
when realization of these assets is more likely that. Assessing the realizability of deferredaasets is dependent upon several factors
including historical financial results. The neteieéd tax assets have been partially offset byluatian allowance because we have incurred
losses since our inception. The valuation allowanceeased by $13.9 million and $5.7 million dur2@l4 and 2013, respectively. The changt
in valuation allowance is mainly due to the sigrdfit increase in the current year taxable losstettmporary differences, research developmen
credits, and intangible assets arising from the @¢&uisition, as we recorded California deferred Tde related valuation allowance
associated with our California deferred tax asseis released and recorded as an income tax bantfé quarter ended March 31, 2014. We
recognized a benefit for income taxes of $2.0iamillfor the year ended December 31, 2014, priméndm a reversal of a portion of our
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets asualtref deferred tax liabilities recognized on ttientifiable intangible assets acquired in
connection with the acquisition of DVS. Our defertex liabilities primarily consist of book and thasis differences in fixed assets and
acquired identifiable intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2014, we had net operatingdasyforwards for U.S. federal income tax purpasie$266.7 million , which expire
in the years 2020 through 2035, and U.S. fedes#lareh and development tax credits of $6.7 milliahich expire in the years 2020 through
2035. As of December 31, 2014, we had net operatsgycarryforwards for state income tax purposeéil 84.1 million , which expire in the
years 2014 through 2035, and California researddawelopment tax credits $7.4 million , which do not expire. As of Decemli3dr, 2014,
we had foreign net operating loss carryforward$38 million , which expire in the years 2015 thghi2035. On December 19, 2014, the 201
Tax Increase Prevention Act was signed into laws Tdw retroactively extended the federal researuth development credits for amounts
incurred from January 1, 2014 through DecembefB14. As a result of the retroactive extensiongererated approximately $1.1 million of
tax credit which was fully offset by a valuatiohoaéance in the current year.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwaedsl credits may be subject to a substantial adimightion due to the ownership
change limitations provided by Section 382 of thielnal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, andisistdite provisions. The annual
limitation may result in the expiration of net ogting losses and credits before utilization. Weeheampleted a Section 382 analysis for the
period from our inception in May 1999 through Detem31, 2014 and determined that an ownership ehasglefined under Section 382
occurred in November 2001, which resulted in a ctida to our U.S. federal and California net opiagtosses by $1.2 million and $0.7
million , respectively. We have performed a Sec88& update for the period from January 1, 201duph December 31, 2014, which
excluded the net operating loss carryforwards f@6prior to the acquisition, and determined thabamership change did not occur during
such period. Net operating losses that were suljeBéction 382 limitation for California purpodesd expired as of December 31, 2014.

We have not provided for U.S. federal and staterime taxes on any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ stributed earnings as of December
31, 2014 because such earnings are intended talbériitely reinvested. Upon distribution of su@r®@ings in the form of dividends or
otherwise, we believe there will be no material Uefleral and state income tax liability as theeesufficient amount of tax losses or other
attributes. Undistributed earnings of our foreighbsidiaries amounted to approximately
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$0.8 million . If these earnings were to be repétd approximately $30,000 of withholding taxes rheydue at its source. However, since suc
subsidiaries’ earnings are permanently reinvestedieferred tax liabilities were accrued for thaoant as of December 31, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. The Pioneer TaxSallowed a full exemption
from Singapore corporate tax related to contragtufacturing activities through the effective persubject to the achievement of certain
milestones. We have not benefited from the tax gtiem through December 31, 2014. Per discussiotistivé Singapore government, we
expect our tax incentives under the Pioneer TatuSta be terminated, effective as of December2814. Effective January 1, 2015, we
obtained a Development and Expansion Incentive flerSingapore government, which provides a redtsoedate for qualifying income in
Singapore through 2019, if certain milestones agé m

Uncertain Tax Positions
The aggregate changes in the balance of our groesagnized tax benefits during 2014, 2013, an®2@dre as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011 $ 5,44¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 90¢
December 31, 2012 6,351
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 1,04¢
Decreases in balances related to tax positions tdigng prior period (5479)
December 31, 2013 6,84¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 832
Decreases in balances related to tax positions tdigng prior period (8)
December 31, 2014 $ 7,672

Accrued interest and penalties related to unre@agiiax benefits were included in the income tawision and are immaterial as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

As of December 31, 2014, the total amount of urgated tax benefits that, if recognized, would eiffeur effective tax rate is zero . We
do not anticipate that our existing unrecognizedo@nefits will significantly increase or decreagthin the next 12 months .

We file income tax returns in the United Statesiowes states, and certain foreign jurisdictions.a&®sult of net operating loss
carryforwards, all of our tax years are open tefatiand state examination in the United States.y€ars from 2009 are open to examinatic
various foreign countries.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) savings plan for our employeé#se United States that stipulates that eligévtgployees may elect to contribute to
the plan, subject to certain limitations, up to ldsser of 60% of eligible compensation or the mmaxin amount allowed by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service. We have not made contributiotisidgglan since its inception.

13. Information About Geographic Areas

We operate in one reporting segment, which is thelbpment, manufacturing, and commercializatiolifefscience tools for the life
science and Ag-Bio industries. Our chief executiffecer manages our operations and evaluates panéial performance on a consolidated
basis. For purposes of allocating resources anldatiag regional financial performance, our chirgeutive officer reviews separate sales
information for the different regions of the worldur general and administrative expenses and seareh and development expenses are no
allocated to any specific region. Most of our pijzat operations, other than manufacturing, anddaaisionmaking functions are located at
corporate headquarters in the United States.
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The following table represents our product revelyigeography based on the billing address of ostorners for each year presented (ir
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 59,13: $ 36,30¢ $ 27,32
Europe 33,04 18,47: 13,08¢
Asia-Pacific 12,87¢ 6,56¢ 6,321
Japan 6,932 6,63¢ 3,84(
Other 3,927 2,21t 91¢€
Total $ 11591 $ 70,19¢ $ 51,48¢

Our license and grant revenue is primarily gendrat¢he United States.

We had long-lived assets consisting of property esppment, net of accumulated depreciation, irfdhewing geographic areas (in

thousands) as of:

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 5317 $ 2,961 $ 1,96¢
Singapore 7,62¢ 3,741 2,961
Canada 837 — —
Europe 75 64 27
Japan 22 32 18
Asia-Pacific 14 14 —
Total $ 1388¢ $ 6,81¢ $ 4,97¢

14. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly results of operations for treryended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as foliowsousands, except for per share

amounts):

First Second Third Fourth
2014 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue $ 2572 $ 27600 $ 29,638 $ 33,49(
Net loss $ (15419) $ (12,68) $ (13,790 $ (10,949
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (057 $ (045 $ (049 $ (039

First Second Third Fourth
2013 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue $ 1453t $ 17,48( $ 18,287 $ 20,88
Net loss $ (355) $ (4,046 $ (4,280 $ (4,649
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.19 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.17) $ (0.1¢)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cliigécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officexaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2(®.4 . The term “disclosure controls and procesii as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is recorded;gs®ed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules amthk. Disclosure controls and procedures includtiowt limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s neaneugt, including its principal executive and prpatifinancial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disciee. Management recognizes that any controls eowég@ures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddiraahieving their objectives and management rezaég applies its judgment in evaluat
the cost-benefit relationship of possible conteoidl procedures. Based on the evaluation of outodisie controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2014 , our Chief Executive Officer @mief Financial Officer concluded that, as of sdelte, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assitavel.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets for external purposes in accordance witt
GAAP. Management assessed our internal control favencial reporting as of December 31, 2014 . Mgmaent based its assessment on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriie Treadway
Commission (2013 Framework). We have excluded foomevaluation, the internal control over finaneegporting of DVS Sciences, Inc. (n
Fluidigm Sciences, Inc.), which we acquired on Eaby 13, 2014 and is included in the fiscal yeat426onsolidated financial statements of
the Company and constituted $23.7 million and $6iliion of total and net assets, respectively, BBecember 31, 2014 and $20.7 million of
revenues for the year then ended. Based on thhtagiom, our management concluded that our intezaatrol over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2014 . The certifaragiof our principal executive officer and prindifipancial officer attached as Exhibits 31.1
and 31.2 to this report include, in paragraph dumh certifications, information concerning ourcttisure controls and procedures and interna
controls over financial reporting.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealby Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in its report included in this Annual RepamtForm 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin
There were no changes in our internal control éwamncial reporting that occurred during the thneenths ended December 31, 2@kt
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived goerated, are designed to provide a reasonabl@dbain absolute, level of assurance
that the objectives of the control system are fretther, the design of a control system must reflee fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be consideretivel to their costs. Because of the inherent étiahs in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that attalissues and instances of fraud, if any, haaentdetected. Because of the inherent
limitations in any control system, misstatements ttuerror or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GHe€, information required by this Item 10 relatiogour executive officers is included
under the caption “Executive Officers” in Part Itbfs Form 10-K.

The other information required by this Item 10 vl included either (i) in an amendment to this #alrReport on Form 10-K or (ii)
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememithf® 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders underttbadings “Corporate Governance and
Board of Directors,” “Election of Class Il Direcwmf “Executive Officers,” and “Related Person Tractions and Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance.” Such amendmenttd=orm 10-K or Proxy Statement for our 2015 Arriaeting of Stockholders will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiithin 120 days of our December 31, 2014 fiseryend.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will becinded either (i) in an amendment to this Annugbéteon Form 10-K or (ii)
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememithf® 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders underttbadings “Corporate Governance and
Board of Directors” and “Executive Compensationits amendment to our Form 10-K or Proxy Statemamodr 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will be filed with the Securities @ixchange Commission within 120 days of our Decen3tie2014 fiscal year end.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 will becinded either (i) in an amendment to this Annugb&teon Form 10-K or (ii)
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememnthi® 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders underttéadings “Executive Compensation”
and “Security Ownership.” Such amendment to ounftd0-K or Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Megtdf Stockholders will be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission wilt#ie days of our December 31, 2014 fiscal year end.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will becinded either (i) in an amendment to this Annugbéteon Form 10-K or (ii)
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemenithf® 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders underttbadings “Corporate Governance and
Board of Directors” and “Related Person Transasti@nd Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Repor@ogpliance.” Such amendment to our
Form 10-K or Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annuakeiifeg of Stockholders will be filed with the Sedigs and Exchange Commission within
120 days of our December 31, 2014 fiscal year end.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 will becinded either (i) in an amendment to this Annugb&teon Form 10-K or (ii)
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statememnthf® 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders underttéading “Ratification of Appointment
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Fir8uth amendment to our Form 10-K or Proxy Staterfuerdur 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will be filed with the Securities @ixchange Commission within 120 days of our Decen3tie2014 fiscal year end.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements.See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statement$?art I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement scheduleSee “Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying AccountdaReserve” in this section of this Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits set forth below are filed herewitraoe incorporated by reference to exhibits previpfiktd with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission.
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNT AND RE SERVE

Year ended December 31, 2014
Accounts receivable allowance

Year ended December 31, 2013
Accounts receivable allowance

Year ended December 31, 2012
Accounts receivable allowance

In thousands

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions/ Balance at
Charged to End of
Expense Deductions Period

$ 36

$ 44¢

$ 36€

88

$

102 $ 19 $ 12C
4 $ (416 $ 36

97 $ (15) $  44€
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4
45

4.6
4.7
4.8

4.8A

4.8B

4.8C

4.8D

4.8E

10.1

10.2#
10.2A#
10.3#
10.3A#
10.4#

EXHIBITS
Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, 8914 8-K 2.1 1/29/2014
and among Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc.,
Dawid Merger Sub, Inc. and Shareholder Represeptati
Services LLC.
Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of 10-K 3.1 3/28/2011
Fluidigm Corporation filed on February 15, 2011.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporation 10-K 3.2 3/28/2011
effective as of February 9, 2011.
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm S-1/A 4.1 2/7/2011
Corporation.
Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2014, by anddet 8-K 4.1 2/4/2014
Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank National Asstoia
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Febrdap14, 8-K 4.2 2/4/2014
by and between Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank
National Association.
Form of Global Note (included in Exhibit 4.3). 8-K 4.3 2/4/2014
Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreémen S-1 4.5 12/3/2010
between the registrant and certain holders ofehestrant’s
capital stock named therein, including amendmeiatsiN
No. 2 and No. 3.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Business Financing Agreement between the regisaraht S-1/A 4.8 1/28/2011
Bridge Bank, National Association, dated as of Datzer 16
2010.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated dfar 8-K 4.8A 4/4/2011
31, 2011, by and between Bridge Bank, National
Association, and the registrant.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated 8-K 4.8B 12/27/2012
December 21, 2012, by and between Bridge BankpNati
Association and Fluidigm Corporation.
Business Financing Modification Agreement datecuday 8-K 10.1 1/29/2014
29, 2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Aisgion
and Fluidigm Corporation.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated May 10-Q 10.5 5/12/2014
2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Assariatnc
Fluidigm Corporation.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dateg 31, 10-Q 10.2 8/4/2014
2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Assamiadnc
Fluidigm Corporation.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regig S-1/A 10.1 1/28/2011
and its directors and officers.
1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as ameénde S-1 10.2 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiam Pla S-1 10.2A 12/3/2010
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded. S-1 10.3 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Inceftiaa. S-1 10.3A 12/3/2010
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant. S-1/A 10.4 1/28/2011
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Exhibit
Number

10.4A#
10.5t

10.5At

10.67

10.6At

10.7%

10.8t

10.9f

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.19A

10.19B

10.19C

10.20

Incorporated
by Reference

Description

From Form

Incorporated

by Reference

From Exhibit
Number

Date Filed

Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Inceftiga.

Second Amended and Restated License Agreementcby an
between California Institute of Technology and thgistran
effective as of May 1, 2004.

First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007Sexond
Amended and Restated License Agreement by and betwe
California Institute of Technology and the registra
effective as of May 1, 2004.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidemt an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant difecas of
October 15, 2000.

First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreement
between President and Fellows of Harvard Collegkthea
registrant effective as of October 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidemt an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of
October 15, 2000.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidest an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of
October 15, 2000.

Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsaof/&td
College and the registrant dated December 22, 2004.

Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.

Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Seseran
Agreement between the registrant and each of @swudive
officers.

Reserved.
Reserved.
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2008.

Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded an
Addendum thereto dated November 8, 2010.

Lease Agreement between ARBan Francisco No. 17 LL
and the registrant, dated September 14, 2010, asded
September 22, 2010.

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, dated|Apr
2013.

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, datec Jyn
2014.

Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, datedeSaper
15, 2014.

Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore eéetw
JTC Corporation and the registrant dated July RB52as
amended August 12, 2008 and May 31, 2010.

90

S-1/A
S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

8-K

S-1

8-K

S-1/A

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

S-1

10.4A
10.5

10.5A

10.6

10.6A

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.14

10.17
10.18

10.19

10.19A

10.3

10.2

10.20

1/28/2011
12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/11/2012

12/3/2010
4/4/2011

1/7/2011

5/9/2013

8/4/2014

11/6/2014

12/3/2010
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Exhibit
Number

10.21

10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25#
10.26#

10.27%

10.28%

121

21.1

23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1~

32.2~

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL

101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed

Offer of Tenancy for Facility Lease between Fluidig 10-K 10.21 3/12/2014
Singapore Pte. Ltd. and SBC Institutional Trusvvi®es
(Singapore) Limited, as trustee of Ascendas Retaté&s
Investment Trust dated October 14, 2013.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Executive Bonus Plan. 10-K 10.25 3/28/2011
Letter Agreement between Fluidigm Corporation and 10-Q 10.2 5/12/2014
William M. Smith, the registrant's Executive ViceeBident
of Legal Affairs and General Counsel, dated MarcB014.
License Agreement between MDS Analytical Technaegi 10-Q/A 10.3 9/15/2014
a business unit of MDS INC., and DVS Sciences ldated
July 17, 2008.
Sublicense Agreement between DVS Sciences Inc. and 10-Q/A 104 9/15/2014

Fluidigm Corporation, dated January 28, 2014.

Computation of ratio of earnings to combined fixd@rges
and preference dividends.

Subsidiaries of the registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagehis
Form 10-K).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesyOitt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesyOxtt
of 2002 of Chief Financial Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxtt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOxtt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

# Management contracts or compensation plansangements in which directors or executive offi@mes eligible to participate.

T Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@an order granted by the Securities and Exobh&@wamnmission for confidential treatment.
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~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management's Reports on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Gardition of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Rep, the certifications furnished in
Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accoynpés Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filed’t fourposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrt®be incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the Excha
Act, except to the extent that the registrant djpadly incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Dated: February 26, 2015 By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthington

President and Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpGajus V.
Worthington and Vikram Jog, jointly and severalig, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact agdnts, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesgtothis Form 10-K, and to file the same, with
all exhibits thereto, and other documents in cotiardherewith, with the Securities and Exchangen@ussion, granting unto said attorneys-
in-fact and agents full power and authority to dd @erform each and every act and thing requisiteeoessary to be done in and about the
premises hereby ratifying and confirming all thailsattorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or thalissitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Title Date

President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
/sl Gajus V. Worthington Executive Officer); Director February 26, 2015

Gajus V. Worthington

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

/sl Vikram Jog Accounting Officer) February 26, 2015
Vikram Jog
/s/ Samuel D. Colella Chairman of the Board of Directors February 26, 2015
Samuel D. Colella
/sl Gerhard F. Burbach Director February 25, 2015
Gerhard F. Burbach
/sl Evan Jones Director February 26, 2015
Evan Jones
/sl Patrick S. Jones Director February 26, 2015
Patrick S. Jones
/sl John A. Young Director February 26, 2015

John A. Young
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit by Reference From Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, B914 8-K 21 1/29/2014
and among Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc.,
Dawid Merger Sub, Inc. and Shareholder Represestati
Services LLC.
3.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of 10-K 3.1 3/28/2011
Fluidigm Corporation filed on February 15, 2011.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporation 10-K 3.2 3/28/2011
effective as of February 9, 2011.
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm S-1/A 4.1 2/7/2011
Corporation.
4.2 Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2014, by anadst 8-K 4.1 2/4/2014
Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank National Asstoia
4.3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Febrda@p14, 8-K 4.2 2/4/2014
by and between Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank
National Association.
4.4 Form of Global Note (included in Exhibit 4.3). 8-K 4.3 2/4/2014
4.5 Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢men S-1 4.5 12/3/2010
between the registrant and certain holders ofehéstrant’s
capital stock named therein, including amendmeiatsIN
No. 2 and No. 3.
4.6 Reserved.
4.7 Reserved.
4.8 Business Financing Agreement between the registraoht S-1/A 4.8 1/28/2011

Bridge Bank, National Association, dated as of
December 16, 2010.

4.8A Business Financing Modification Agreement dated édar 8-K 4.8A 4/4/2011
31, 2011, by and between Bridge Bank, National
Association, and the registrant.

4.8B Business Financing Modification Agreement dated 8-K 4.8B 12/27/2012
December 21, 2012, by and between Bridge BankpNati
Association and Fluidigm Corporation.

4.8C Business Financing Modification Agreement datecuday 8-K 10.1 1/29/2014
29, 2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Aisdion
and Fluidigm Corporation.

4.8D Business Financing Modification Agreement dated May 10-Q 10.5 5/12/2014
2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Assamriat
and Fluidigm Corporation.

4.8E Business Financing Modification Agreement dateg 3dl, 10-Q 10.2 8/4/2014
2014, by and between Bridge Bank, National Assamiat
and Fluidigm Corporation.

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regrs S-1/A 10.1 1/28/2011
and its directors and officers.

10.2# 1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as ame&nde S-1 10.2 12/3/2010

10.2A# Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiom Pla S-1 10.2A 12/3/2010

10.3# 2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded. S-1 10.3 12/3/2010

10.3A# Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Incefiga. S-1 10.3A 12/3/2010

10.4# 2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant. S-1/A 104 1/28/2011
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Exhibit
Number

10.4A#
10.5t

10.5At

10.67

10.6At

10.7%

10.8t

10.9f

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.19A

10.19B

10.19C

10.20

Incorporated
by Reference

Description

From Form

Incorporated

by Reference

From Exhibit
Number

Date Filed

Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Inceftiaa.

Second Amended and Restated License Agreementcby an
between California Institute of Technology and tbgistran
effective as of May 1, 2004.

First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007S&zond
Amended and Restated License Agreement by and betwe
California Institute of Technology and the registra
effective as of May 1, 2004.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidesht an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of
October 15, 2000.

First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreement
between President and Fellows of Harvard Collegktha
registrant effective as of October 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidesht an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of
October 15, 2000.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidesht an
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of
October 15, 2000.

Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsanf/&td
College and the registrant dated December 22, 2004.

Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.

Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Seseran
Agreement between the registrant and each of dsgive
officers.

Reserved.
Reserved.
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2008.

Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded an
Addendum thereto dated November 8, 2010.

Lease Agreement between ARBan Francisco No. 17 LL
and the registrant, dated September 14, 2010, asded
September 22, 2010.

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, datedl|Apr
2013.

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, datec Jn
2014.

Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE-San
Francisco No. 17, LLC and the registrant, dated&Seper
15, 2014.

Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore eéetw
JTC Corporation and the registrant dated July QB52as
amended August 12, 2008 and May 31, 2010.
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S-1/A
S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

8-K

S-1

8-K

S-1/A

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

S-1

10.4A
10.5

10.5A

10.6

10.6A

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.14

10.17
10.18

10.19

10.19A

10.3

10.2

10.20

1/28/2011
12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/3/2010

12/11/2012

12/3/2010
4/4/2011

1/7/2011

5/9/2013

8/4/2014

11/6/2014

12/3/2010
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Exhibit
Number

10.21

10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25#
10.26#

10.27%

10.28%

121

21.1

23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1~

32.2~

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL

101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed

Offer of Tenancy for Facility Lease between Fluidig 10-K 10.21 3/12/2014
Singapore Pte. Ltd. and SBC Institutional Trusvi®es
(Singapore) Limited, as trustee of Ascendas Rei@t&s
Investment Trust dated October 14, 2013.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Executive Bonus Plan. 10-K 10.25 3/28/2011
Letter Agreement between Fluidigm Corporation and 10-Q 10.2 5/12/2014
William M. Smith, the registrant's Executive ViceeBident
of Legal Affairs and General Counsel, dated March014.
License Agreement between MDS Analytical Technaegi 10-Q/A 10.3 9/15/2014
a business unit of MDS INC., and DVS Sciences ldated
July 17, 2008.
Sublicense Agreement between DVS Sciences Inc. and 10-Q/A 104 9/15/2014

Fluidigm Corporation, dated January 28, 2014.

Computation of ratio of earnings to combined fixddrges
and preference dividends.

Subsidiaries of the registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagihis
Form 10-K).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesyOXtt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesyOitt
of 2002 of Chief Financial Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOixtt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, a
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyOixtt
of 2002 of Chief Executive Officer.

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

# Management contracts or compensation plangangements in which directors or executive officaes eligible to participate.

t Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@man order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wammission for confidential treatment.
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~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management's Reports on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Gardition of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Rep, the certifications furnished in
Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accoynpés Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filed’t fourposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrt®be incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the Excha
Act, except to the extent that the registrant djpadly incorporates it by reference.
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Exhibit 12.1

Fluidigm Corporation
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Fiscal Years 2010 through 2014

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(In thousands)
Earnings:

Net loss attributed to commc
stockholders before incon
taxes
$ (16,819 $ (22,304 $ (18,888 $ (16,389 $ (57,705
Add: Combined fixed charges
and preference dividends

2,90¢ 3,57¢ 1,00¢ 1,16¢ 7,081
Less: Capitalized interest
Total earnings for computation of
ratio
(13,911 (18,726 (17,882 (15,220 (50,624
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense including
capitalized interest
2,15¢ 3,101 62¢ 14 5,34«
Estimated interest componel
f rent
orren 75C 477 37¢ 1,15¢ 1,73i
Total fixed charges
2,90¢ 3,57¢ 1,00¢ 1,16¢ 7,081
Combined fixed charges and
preference dividends:
Interest expense including
capitalized interest
2,15¢ 3,101 62¢ 14 5,34«
Estimated interest componel
of rent _ -
75C 477 37¢ 1,15¢ 1,73
Deemed dividend
— 9,90( — — —
Total combined fixed charges and
reference dividends
. $ 2,90¢ $ 13,47¢ $ 1,00¢ $ 1,16¢ $ 7,081

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

1)

Ratio of earnings to combined fixe
charges and preference divider

@)

(1) Earnings for 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, and 20&revinsufficient to cover fixed charges by $16.8iam, $22.3 million, $18.9 million, $16.4



million, and $57.7 million, respectively.



SUBSIDIARIES OF FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Corporation (Delaware):

Fluidigm K.K. (Japan)

Fluidigm Europe, B.V. (Netherlands)

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)

Fluidigm (Shanghai) Instrument Technology Compaimgited (China)

Fluidigm Sciences Inc. (Delaware)

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Europe, BV (Netherlands):

Fluidigm France SARL (France)

Fluidigm UK Limited (United Kingdom)

Fluidigm GmbH (Germany)

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Sciences Inc. (Delaware):

Fluidigm Canada Inc. (Ontario, Canada)

DVS Sciences (UK) Ltd. (United Kingdom)



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdlewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statements (Form S-3ASR No. B33624) of Fluidigm Corporatic

(2) Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 3332082333-180363 and 333-187204) pertaining to 889 1Stock
Option Plan, 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, and 204jliify Incentive Plan of Fluidigm Corporation, and

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8/S-3 No. 3386B4) pertaining to (a) the 2011 Equity Incentlan of
Fluidigm Corporation, (b) stock options granted emthe DVS Sciences, Inc. 2010 Equity IncentivenPées
amended, assumed by Fluidigm Corporation, anch&PlVS Sciences, Inc. Stock Restriction Agreemants
Restricted Stock Purchase Agreements assumed lmygauCorporation;

of our reports dated February 26, 2015, with ressfmethe consolidated financial statements of kgidCorporation
and the effectiveness of internal control overtiitial reporting of Fluidigm Corporation includedthis Annual Report
(Form 10-K) of Fluidigm Corporation for the yeardex December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, CA
February 26, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a)AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl6F Fluidigm Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatommny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods

presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries,
made known to us by others within those entiti@stigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepare!

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an atmaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial

reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectriagistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report
financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 26, 2015 By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington

Gajus V. Worthington
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF Fluidigm Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@mstate a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all

material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including ithsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared,;

Designed such internal control over finanaggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerssurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in thegstegit’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardiodctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that innadvmanagement or other employees who have a signiifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 26, 2015 By: /sl Vikram Jog

Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANTQO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, the chief executive offiad Fluidigm Corporation (the “Company”), certifgr the purposes of 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tddarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the bésty knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 (th@O6R#®, fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendeat]; an

(i) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operatic
of the Company.

By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthington
President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 26, 2015




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT® SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, the chief financial officer of Flugin Corporation (the “Company”), certify for thenposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@ydt of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 (th@6R®, fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendet; an

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
of the Company.

By: /sl Vikram Jog
Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 26, 2015



